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CORPORATE PROFILE
AE#A

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited ["CMRU" or the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 22 February 2013. The Company and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”) are a fastgrowing manufacturer of recycled
copper products, also known as copper semis, in Southwest China.
The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 21 February 2014 (the “Listing Date”).

The Group is a manufacturer of recycled copper products (also known
as copper semis), communication cables and power fransmission and
distribution cables. The Group processes recycled scrap copper and,
fo a lesser extent, electrolytic copper, to manufacture a range of copper
products, including copper wire rods, copper wires, copper plates,
copper granules, communication cables and power fransmission and
disfribution cables.

This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available
on the Company's website at http://www.cmru.com.cn/.

Shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) may af any time change
their choice of languagels) [either English only or Chinese only or both
languages) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to change their choice of
languagels) of Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company with
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Ltd. at 17M Floor
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Direcfors (the “Board”) of the Company, |
hereby present the audited consolidated annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries [collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31

December 2023.

REVIEW ON COPPER MARKET

In 2023, China’s copper market experienced fluctuations driven by
economic recovery efforts and external challenges. While the overall
economy grew by 5.2%, the copper market was influenced by a
rebound in demand as industrial activity began to recover, particularly
in sectors such as renewable energy and electric vehicles. Prices on the
Shanghai Futures Exchange rose from around RMB67,000 per ton at
the start of the year fo approximately RMB69,000 per fon by yearend,
peaking at approximately RMB72,000 per ton during the year. The
increase in prices reflected a tightening supply outlook amid ongoing
recovery efforts in infrastructure and manufacturing, despite the
backdrop of challenges such as a sluggish real estate sector and
geopolitical fensions affecting trade dynamics.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Throughout the year, the copper market in China experienced
significant challenges, resulting in a net loss of approximately
RMB805.8 million for the Group. This loss was primarily driven by a
staggering 64.97% drop in revenue in 2023 compared to 2022. The
ongoing effects of Coronavirus disease 2019 ("COVID-19") continued
fo weigh heavily on various industries, particularly the real estate and
engineering infrastructure sectors, which have yet to achieve a full
recovery. Furthermore, the severe financial difficulties faced by major
property developers adversely impacted the demand for our products.
As a result, demand from downstream customers remained weak,
confributing to a decline in sales. These challenges also led to higher
finance costs and increased provisions for doubtful debits, reflecting the
liquidity constraints experienced by our customers. loss per share was

RMBO.18 (2022: RMBT.10).

In order to weather this situation and safeguard our businesses and
assefs, we have taken the initiative to apply for bankruptcy
reorganization for some of our operating subsidiaries. These
applications have been approved by the relevant courts. The effect of
the bankruptey reorganizations would be that the debts of the operating
subsidiaries are restructured as well as reduced so that the infrinsic
value and business potential of the quality assets held by the
subsidiaries can be released, allowing the subsidiaries fo fully ufilize
such assefs fo increase their revenue generation ability.
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Moving forward, our primary focus is to successfully complete the
bankruptcy reorganizations of our subsidiaries in a timely manner.
While we anticipate that our shortterm operational and financial results
may suffer during this process, we remain optimistic about our long-term
business outlook.

The Group’s manufacturing facilities has been suspended certain
months and resumed operations on 1 June 2023. For the one-year
period ended 31 May 2024, the Group has produced 21,282 tons
of recycled copper products, sold 21,058 tons of recycled copper
products, achieved sales revenue of recycled copper products of
RMB1,450 million (the above-mentioned sales data is unaudited).
During the same period, both communication cables business and
power fransmission and distribution business of the Group have not yet
resumed their businesses due to lack of working capital and poor
market conditions in the real esfate secfor where most of the products
are being sold info. As the real estate market begins to stabilise, the
Company expects to resume these two downstream businesses once
the Group has obtained sufficient working capital.

PROSPECTS

In 2023, China’s economic recovery was not as robust as anticipated,
primarily due to a significant slowdown in the real estate sector, which
has traditionally been a key driver of growth. External factors such as
the ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict, interest rate hikes by major
economies, and escalafing tensions with the United Stafes contributed
fo the uncerfainties facing China’s economy and its enferprises. Amid
these challenges, the central government took decisive actions in the
second half of the year to mitigate risks associated with the real estate
market and local government debt. A set of targeted expansionary
fiscal and monetary policies was implemented, along with supportive
industrial measures. These initiatives began to show signs of
effectiveness, leading to a self-repairing economy that gradually
recovered, achieving a yearonyear GDP growth rafe of 5.2%.

Despite overall economic uncerfainties, the outlook for China’s copper
secfor remains positive, particularly as highlighted in the 14th Five-Year
Plan (2021-2025) and the 22 February 2021 circular fifled “Guiding
Opinion on Urging Efforts to Build an Economic System Featuring Green,
Low-carbon and Circular Development, and to Promote an Overall
Green Transformation of the Economy and Society” (€ B8R IR 7 fi2
PHREERBRERKHERZNIBEERR)). These plans emphasize
a fransition to a sustainable economy and the advancement of
information fechnology, particularly with the deployment of 5G networks.
Given copper’s essential role in electric vehicles (EVs), renewable energy
systems, and advanced manufacturing, demand is expected fo grow in
alignment with the government's goal of achieving carbon neutrality by
2060. Additionally, the increasing focus on electrification, the
development of smart grids, and the infrastructure needs for 5G
fechnology present substantial opportunities for the copper industry, likely
resulfing in boosts to both domestic production and imports.
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Nevertheless, the copper sector must navigate several challenges that
could hinder its growth within the framework of the 14th Five-Year Plan.
Factors such as siringent environmental regulations, resource scarcity,
and geopolitical tensions may disrupt supply chains and affect
production capacity. Additionally, although the govemment's inifiatives
aimed af technological innovation and infrastructure development,
including 5G deployment, are expected to stimulate demand,
competitive pressures and price volatility in global markets could
complicate the sector's landscape.

On 24 September 2024, a series of policies were announced by
China’s three top financial officials at a press conference to backstop
the stalling economy. These notably included a 20-basis-point cut fo the
sevenday reverse repo rate (RRR; the policy interest rate); a 50-basis-
point cut to the reserve requirement ratfio (RRR); a rafe cut on existing
mortgages; capital replenishment of large state-owned banks; and
other measures to support the housing and the stock markets.

We believe we are well positioned to benefit from the anticipated
increase in demand for copper.

Furthermore, our immediate priority is fo successfully complefe the
bankruptcy reorganizations of our subsidiaries as quickly as possible.
While we anticipate that our shortterm operational and financial results
may be negatively impacted during this process, we remain confident
in our longterm business prospects. We believe that demand for our
products, particularly copper, will continue fo be robust in the future.
This confidence underpins our commitment to navigating this
reorganization effectively and positioning ourselves for growth once we
emerge from this challenging period.
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By filing the Bankruptcy Reorganisation Application with the Court
voluntarily and, if approved, there would be a platform for (i) Mianyang
Tongxin Copper Co., lid.* (#8F% & £ i 3 B R 2 A1) ("Tongxin), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (i) Mianyang Jin Xunhuan
Metal Materials Co., ltd.* (4Rl BIREBM B BR R A (in
Xunhuan”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; |iii)
Mianyang Baohe Taiyue Communications Cable Co. ltd.* 485 (& Al
ZHBEREBR 2R ("Taiyve”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company; (iv)] Hunan Yinlian Xiangbei Copper Co.,
ltd.* (47 =g #R EsE AR AL # 2E B BR 2 A1) ("Yinlion Xiangbei”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; and (v] Hubei Rongsheng
Copper Co., lid* [#iLEt R & B2 mA R A7) ("Hubei Rongsheng”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (collectively, the
"Relevant Subsidiaries”) fo restructure their existing indebtedness with the
relevant creditors, with the sanction by the Court ("Debt Restructuring”).
The Debt Restructuring would reduce the debts of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, release the infrinsic value and business potential of the
quality assets currently held by the Relevant Subsidiaries, and allow the
Relevant Subsidiaries to fully ufilise such assets to increase the revenue
generation ability. Although the Relevant Subsidiaries presently face
difficulties in repaying their debts, the Board is of the view that (i the
assets held by the Relevant Subsidiaries are of strategic value; |ii] the
Relevant Subsidiaries possess strong technical capabilities pedigree; and
(iii) the production and recycling industries in which the Relevant
Subsidiaries operate have promising prospects in the China in light of the
14th Five-Year Plan published by the China government. After the Debt
Restructuring, the Board believes that the Relevant Subsidiaries will be
able fo confinue to operate as a going concern and improve the overall
financial position of the Relevant Subsidiaries and the Group. Further,
through the Debt Restructuring, the Company hopes fo preserve the
welfare of the staff of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as a matter of social
responsibilities, and contribute to the local community.

On 6 June 2022, Tongxin and Jin Xunhuan infended to restructure its
existing indebtedness through the applicable provisions of the Enferprise
Bankruptcy Llaw of the PRC. A voluntary application for the
aforementioned bankruptey reorganization of Taiyue has been filed
with the Court on 6 June 2022.

On 25 May 2023, Taiyue also infended fo resfructure ifs existing
indebtedness through the applicable provisions of the Enterprise
Bankruptcy Llaw of the PRC. A voluntary application for the
aforementioned bankruptey reorganization of Taiyue has been filed
with the Court on 18 May 2023. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 25 May 2023 for further defails.
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On 14 August 2023, Yinlian Xiangbe received a civil ruling (the “Civil
Ruling”) from the People’s Court of Miluo City, Hunan Province in
relation to a pefition for winding-up against Yinlian Xiangbei filed by
Hunan Miziyuan Asset Holdings Co., ltd.* iR HZ REXEEA
PR 2 &) ("Miziyuan”), a creditor of Yinlian Xiangbei, on the ground
that Yinlian Xiangbei was unable to repay the debts falling due. The
debts involved were in the amount of approximately RMB11.9 million.
Yinlian Xiangbei opposed the petition and applied to the Court for
bankruptey reorganisation instead. According to the Civil Ruling, after
faking into account the situation of Yinlian Xiangbei and the bankruptcy
reorganisation of the Company’s other certain subsidiaries in Mianyang
City, Sichuan Province, the Court rejected Miziyuan's petition for
winding-up and accepted Yinlian Xiangbei's bankruptcy reorganisation
application. The People’s Court of Miluo City, Hunan Province
appointed Hunan licheng Asset liquidation Management Company
ld.* HEAEHEESEEEABR DA as the administrator. The
administrator subsequently held the first creditors” meeting on 5 January
2024. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 14 August
2023 and 13 October 2023 for further details.

On 7 September 2023, Hubei Rongsheng received (i) a decision
dated 12 September 2023; and (i) nofice to Hubei Rongsheng dated
12 September 2023 from the People’s Court of Yunmeng County,
Hubei Province in relation to Hubei Rongsheng's application for pre-
restructuring (the “Pre-restructuring”) in accordance with the pre-
restructuring procedure under the applicable provisions of the Enferprise
Bankruptcy Llaw of the People’s Republic of China to prepare for ifs
intended bankruptcy reorganisation application. After considering the
opinions of Hubei Rongsheng, its main creditors and interested invesfors
and the relevant government authorities, the Court approved the Pre-
restructuring of Hubei Rongsheng and designated Hubei Gongshun
Accounting Firm* (4t A JIE & 51 B0 % 7 FT) as provisional
administrator of the Pre-restructuring per the discussion of Hubei
Rongsheng and its main creditors. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 15 September 2023 for further details.
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On 22 February 2024, the Company received from Sichuan Dingfian
Law Firm* (P9 118 K2 SETAT) and Sichuan Chunlei Law Firm* (0
NIEEREMETSFT), the joint administrators for the Debt Restructuring
of Tongxin and Jin Xunhuan (the “Joint Administrators”), (i) the Court's
civil ruling fo the Joint Administrators dated 26 December 2023; and i)
the Court nofice dated 21 February 2024 (collectively, the "Court
Documents”). Pursuant fo the Court Documents, the Court accepted the
application of Joint Administrators for substantive consolidated
bankrupfcy reorganization of the Relevant Subsidiaries with the Joint
Administrators fo perform the duties and responsibilities of administrators
for the Debt Restructurings. Please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 6 June 2022, 3 August 2022, 5 August 2022,
3 January 2023, 28 March 2023, 25 May 2023 and 23 February
2024 for further defails.

On 3 June 2024, the second creditors’ meeting for Tongxin, Jin
Xunhuan and Taiyue (the “"Second Creditors’ Meeting”) was held.
Agenda of the Second Creditors’ Meeting included: period
performance report of the Joint Administrators, verification of the
creditors’ rights, report of the Tongxin, Jin Xunhuan and Taiyue's
business operations by the Joint Administrators, proposed resolutions,
review of Tongxin, Jin Xunhuan and Taiyue' property sfatus report and
the Relevant Subsidiaries’ management plan and operation supervision
plan. Please refer to the Company's announcement dated 19 June
2024 for further defails.

CONCLUSION

| would like to thank our customers, suppliers, business partmers and
Shareholders for their continued support, my fellow directors for their
wise insight and active participation, and our management team for
their continued dedication and commitment fo the success of the Group.
The Group is confident in its ability to create shortterm and long-term
value for our Shareholders and would like to thank Shareholders for
their support and frust in the Group over the years.

Mr. YU Jiangiv
Chairman

Hong Kong, 2 October 2024

* For identification purpose only.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue represents the amounts accepted fo be enfifled for sales of
goods and services in the ordinary course of business. Revenue
recognised is net of VAT and other taxes, refurns and discounts after
eliminating sales within our Group.
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Sales of recycled copper products 4% B A i A an

Sales of power transmission and HEXKER
distribution cables

Sales of communication cables HEBREESR

Sales of scrap materials SHE REFE M

Others H Al

2023 2022
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RMB’000 RMB'O00
ARBT T N
811,094 2,383,263
3,498 5,081

yZ i} 700

17,797 1,675
5,075 Q%0
837,704 2,391,709

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted fo
approximately RMB837.7 million, representing a decrease of 64.97%
from approximately RMB2,391.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The decline in sales volume was primarily due to a
significant reduction in the sales of recycled copper products and the
Group's manufacturing facilities has been suspended certain months
and resumed operations on 1 June 2023, which was attributed to the
adverse effects of the processing bankruptcy of the Relevant
Subsidiaries during the year.

Revenue from recycled copper products amounted to approximately
RMB811.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of 66.0% from approximately RMB2,383.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. This was primarily due
to a decrease of 69.9% in the sales volume of recycled copper
products, which declined from 44,241 metric tons for the year ended
31 December 2022 to 13,330 metfric tons for the year ended 31
December 2023. Additionally, there was an increase of 13.0% in the
average selling price, rising from RMB53,870 per ton for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to RMB60,847 per ton for the year ended
31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEE RS

Cost of sales

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2023 totaled
approximately RMB250.0 million, representing a decrease of 64.6%
from approximately RMB2,679.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. This significant decline in cost of sales corresponds
with a notable decrease in sales, which saw a reduction of 66.0%.

Gross loss

For the year ended 31 December 2023, we reported a gross loss of
approximately RMB111.9 million, a decline from the gross loss of
about RMB288.1 million for the year ending 31 December 2022. Our
gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
negative 13.4%, compared to a margin of negative 12.0% for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Other income/ (expenses), gain/(loss), net

Our net of other income/(expenses) and gain/(loss) totaled
approximately RMB52.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, representing a significant decrease from approximately
RMB136.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. This
decline was primarily driven by reductions in (i) VAT refunds related fo
comprehensive resource ufilization, (i) government grants and subsidies
received and (iii) interest income.

Net provision for doubtful debts and impairment of advance
payment to suppliers

Our net provision for doubitful debts totaled approximately RMB142.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a
significant decrease from approximately RMB2,222.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Our impairment of advance payment to suppliers totaled approximately
RMB208.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a significant decrease from approximately RMB1,948.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group performs impairment assessment on trade and bills
receivables and advance payment to suppliers under the expected
credit loss ["ECL") model. The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, the loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of
probability of default and loss given default based on historical data
and forward looking information is performed by independent
professional valuers engaged by the Group at each reporting date for
the purpose of determining ECL.

HERAK

BZE2023F 1231 HIEFEMHERK
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately RMB7.2 million, representing a
9.0% decrease from approximately RMB7.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. This reduction was primarily due to a decline in
sales during the year.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023
were approximately RMB110.7 million, representing a decrease of
43.3% from RMB195.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. This reduction was primarily due fo a decrease in staff costs
and operating expenses, which aligned with the decline in sales during
the year.

Finance costs

Our finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately RMB277.7 million, representing an increase of 18.6%
from RMB234.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. This
increase was primarily due to higher interest rates and borrowing
during the year.

Loss for the year

Our loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB805.8
million as compared to the loss of RMB4,763.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in loss is mainly aftributable
fo the net decrease in net provision for doubtful debts and impairment
of advance payment to suppliers of RMB3,821.1 million.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2023, the capital structure of the Group mainly
consisted of shareholder's equity, note payables, interestbearing bank
and other borrowings, lease liabilities and liability component of
convertible bonds. There is no material seasonality of borrowing
requirements for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE RS

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group's total ~ T &RFFII AR KB G EERBER IR E LR

inferestbearing borrowings at the end of the reporting period: B R FFG
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
2023F12H31H 20224 12A31H
WACC Amount WACC Amount
RE¥ g INgE 15
EEMA G| BEMAR T8
Inferest bearing borrowings: FHEER
Note payables BN RIR 12-13 23,922 12-13 23,511
Interest-bearing bank and A ERIT R EMAER
other borrowings RIELECAVIR WyLI0N  3.85-0.92 1,338,370
Lease liabilities HEBRE 3.25-4.76 RSN 3.25-4.76 2,230
liability component of AR ERNEERTH
convertible bonds 12.00 231,720
Tofal interest bearing borrowings TR EReE 1,652,301 1,595,831

The following table sets forth the maturity profile of the Group's interest- T~ & & 5| A & B &t S8 KRR B H g 5
bearing borrowings at the dates indicated: B

As at 31 December 2023
M2023%E 128318

Interest- Liability

bearing component

bank and of

Note other lease  convertible
payables  borrowings liabilities bonds Total

SRR TRRES
EARE REMREY HEEE HAEHS st
RMB'0O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRL AR®TR ARMTR AR®TR ARETR

Within one year or repayable —FAFRERER
on demand 23,922 1,628,000 - 1,652,301
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R ECY AR

As at 31 December 2022
RH2022%12A31H

Interest- Liability
bearing component
bank and of
Note other lease  converfible
payables  borrowings liabiliies bonds Total
AERITR AR B
ERRE AR HEARE ©H8EHS @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARKTT ARBTE ARETR
Within one year or repayable —ERFRBRERE
on demand 23,511 1,338,370 1,858 231,720 1,595,459
After one year but less than —F FERFUR
fwo years - - 372 - 372
23511 1,338,370 2,230 231,720 1,595,831
Liquidity and financial resources RBESRHMBER

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
(excluding pledged deposits of RMB32.3 million] amounted fo
approximately RMB18.3 million (2022: approximately RMB2.4
million).

The Group's inventories decreased by RMB36.4 million to
approximately RMB64.5 million, compared to approximately
RMB100.9 million in 2022. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the overall inventory turnover days increased fo 32 days, compared fo
20 days for the year ended 31 December 2022. This increase in
inventory tumnover days is mainly attributable to a decrease in demand
for copper products and the Group's manufacturing facilities has been
suspended certain months and resumed operations on 1 June 2023.

Trade and bills receivables decreased by approximately RMBQO.2
million to approximately RMB146.3 million as of 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately RMB236.5 million). The trade and bills
receivables turnover days in 2023 of 221 days decreased compared
fo 234 days in 2022. No significant changes in the trade and bills
receivables turnover days. The high frade and bills receivables turmnover
days is primarily due fo the fight liquidity situation of customers.

R2023F12A31 R AEENR & KR
©EERA (TEEDERERARK323
BET)AOR/RARE183BEIT (20224 :
HWAREE248ETT) °

AEBNFERIARBICABETELN
ARBEOASBET  M2022FMHBAR
1009BE L - #ZE2023F12H31H
IEE SGEFEABXEEMEI2KX
& £2022F 123431 BIEFE 8 &20
ReZFERERBIENTI2HNFEHM
FBRBDARKEBHEERBE 2 LE
EBAWR2023F 6 A1 BIR1ELE -

FR2023F 12A31 0 B 5 B KIE K JE
WEBRPOAREV2ABTLENAR
¥146.3B &L (2022F : HARKE2306.5
BETT) 20235 M E 5 B IA K B
SR EEXEF221 K H2022F 1)
234 KL BB © B 5 MR K B W
EENEAEREBELREANEY -BH
FBURFBELEREENEERAREREEE
HREFPRBESEM -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

R E SR

Trade and bills payables decreased by approximately RMBQO1.9
million to approximately RMB789.7 million as of 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately RMB1,613.6 million). The payable turnover
days were 462 days, compared to 201 days in 2022. Payable
turnover days for the year increased compared to the previous year.
The increase in payable turnover days was mainly due to fight liquidity
resulting from decreased sales and slower collections. The Group is
also currently undergoing Debt Restructuring.

The Group’s total interest-bearing borrowings increased by
approximately RMB56.5 million to RMB1,652.3 million as af 31
December 2023 (2022: approximately RMB1,595.8 million). The
overall increase was primarily due to accrued interest and new
borrowings during the year.

Bank loans and other borrowings included three entrusted loans
totalling approximately RMB300.0 million from Mianyang Science
Technology City Development Investment (Group) Co., ld.* (4% 5 %t
BMERIRE (KB )ER AR ("Kefa"), a stateowned enterprise in
the PRC. Pursuant to the entfrusted loan agreement signed among
Tongxin, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Kefa and the
entrusted bank, the entrusted loans expired on 27 August 2016, 23
September 2016 and 18 November 2016 respectively. Kefa, the
entrusted bank and Tongxin further agreed that the entrusted loan would
not be repayable until further agreed otherwise. On 16 July 2020, the
Company entered info a nonegally binding framework agreement with
Kefa. Under the framework agreement, it is intended, among others,
that Kefa will subscribe for Shares for a consideration of more than
RMB30O0 million. The intended uses of the proceeds from Kefa will
include, but not be limited to, the repayment of entrusted loans
amounting to approximately RMB299 million as at 31 December
2020 owed by the Group fo Kefa. As of the date of this annual report,
the discussion with Kefa on the potential subscription for Shares is sfill
ongoing.

2023124318 - & 5 B RIE K&
NEBRIDOAREOIOBAELTENAR
K780 7EBIL (20228 : HARK
1,613,688 7T) - BNREREXHRD
462K - 2022 % BI /201 K - F R ENR
RIBRERBEEFRLBRIEN - BN
PRIEFERBENETZANHERBD K
WHEEREEHRDESBHM - NEE
BRINEETEBEE -

202312 A 31 H » REBEME BERK
BEEMOARESCSERLE AR
1,652.3B&TT (20224 : AR 1,595.8
EHTT) o MEMINEE MR E R S
RAHEH -

RITER R EAMERBIE KB 35 R
HRKE(RE)BRAR(TR3]) (hEE
BEE)N=Z2AN/ARKEI000BET
MEFZER - REARANZENB QA
E MBELXARTEENZEERD
& RS EAEERDHR20165F8 A27
H- 2016F9HA23AK2016F 11 A18H
FH % XRABOTLAECE-—FEE
ZAEFRBBERAEEEZE - RITHE °
202057 A16 8 - AR R EB EE] &
ERARANOER W - RIBER D -
LR (P ER) KAAREI00H & T
EFORERBRD - RIEMBERENEE
Az E/RETRNMEERKER 20204F
12A31 BHAERMENARE20BETH
ZREER - RAFHMAH - ERIEFRNDE
REBOR RIDEETT -
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The following table sets forth certain financial ratios of the Group as at

the dates indicated:

EEET R R

TR A E R AR B BB T BTG 2 -

Current ratio MENLL =
Quick ratio B R
Debt to equity ratfio *

Net debt to equity rafio *

Total inferestbearing debts/ Total equity.

# Total inferestbearing debts less cash and cash equivalents/Total equity.

The negative debt to equity rafio and net debt fo equity ratio were a
result of net liabilities of approximately RMB3,507.2 million (2022:
approximately RMB2,702.0 million) mainly attributable to the losses for

the year amounted to approximately RMB805.8 million.

Charge on assets

The following table sets forth the net carrying amounts of assefs under
pledge for certain banking facilities, bills payable facilities, proceeds

from factorer and lease liabilities as at the dates included:

EIRMEm LR
FERES LR

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
72023 & 2022 F
12H31H 12H31H
0.2 0.3

0.2 0.3

-47 1% -59.1%
-46.6% -50.1%

HEEIEMARE AR o

¢ FREREEAERRERRESEIRE kR -

BEEERLE N FERAESLXSRET
TEARFABROARKS0S8HETLE
HFREBHOARKESIS07.2B & T (2022
F:ROARKE270208&7T) °

EEEHA

TRHEINRAREHERE TRITRE
RBNEERE  REFREANAERIEAR
HEAEFLREANEERTFE

Property, plant and equipment

Rightofuse assets EREEE
Inventories BE

Trade receivables B 5K
Bank deposits RITFR

YERN AN

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 & R 2022 4F
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREEF T
223,345 246,180
84,164 86,913
26,583 27,078

- 2,720

32,262 703,928

366,354 1,066,819
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

R E SR

Commodity risk

The major raw materials used in the production of our recycled copper
products are scrap copper. We are exposed tfo fluctuations in the
prices of raw materials as well as finished goods which are influenced
by global as well as regional supply and demand conditions.
Fluctuations in the copper prices could adversely affect our financial
performance. The Group will consider fo use copper futures contracts to
mitigate part of its exposure against price fluctuations of copper. The
Croup did not have any outstanding copper futures confracts as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil). No loss or gain was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within our Group is
RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However, we are
exposed fo currency risk primarily related to the cash and cash
equivalents, the convertible bonds and contingent consideration
liabilities, all of which are mainly denominated in HKD.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities were denominated in RMB but the
certain borrowings were denominated in HKD, with an aggregate
principal amount of approximately HKD376.2 million. The Group did
not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the year ended 31 December 2023. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Company incurred an exchange
difference on translation of financial statements of entities outside of the
PRC equivalent to approximately RMB 1.8 million.

Significant investments held

Except for investments in subsidiaries and associates, the Group did not
hold any significant investment in equity interest in any other companies
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or affiliated companies. during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Capital expenditures

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's capital
expenditures payments represent additions to property, plant and
equipment (including construction in progress) and land use rights of
approximately RMBO.5 million {2022 approximately RMBO. 1 million).
The capital expenditures were mainly financed from internal resources.

7 fm 2L B
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Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the capital commitments in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and lease prepayments
on lands confracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements amounted to approximately RMB25.8 million (2022:
approximately RMB25.8 million).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group was in progress of various legal
litigations relating to bank and other borrowings and trade and other
payables. As a result of these litigations, various bank accounts were
frozen and various properties, rightofuse assets and inventories were
seized.

Events after the reporting period

On 27 September 2024, the Company entered info a subscription
agreement with the investor, pursuant fo which the investor agreed fo
subscribe for and pay for the convertible nofes to be issued by the
Company in a principal amount of RMB400,000,000, subject to the
satisfaction of cerfain conditions. The convertible notes are convertible
in the circumstances set ouf in the ferms and conditions info ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each share of the Company at a conversion price
of HK$0.465 per ordinary share of the Company.

Except for those disclosed above and in this annual report, the Group
did not have any other material events after the reporting period.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a fofal of 287 employees
(2022: 507). The Group's sfaff costs for the year ended 31 December
2023 were approximately RMB28.6 million (2022: RMB44.0 million).
The Group offers its staff competitive remuneration packages. In
addition, discrefionary bonuses and share options may also be granted
fo eligible staff based on individual and Group’s performance. The
Group is committed fo nurturing a leaming and sharing culture in the
organization. Heavy emphasis is placed on the fraining and
development of individual staff and team building, as the Group's
success is dependent on the contribution of all functional divisions
comprising skilled and motivated professionals. The Group is also
committed to social responsibility as demonstrated by employing
disabled staff and providing appropriate working conditions and
protection to them.

R EREY SR

EARERE
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yu Jianqiu (BT ), age 59, is the founder of the Group and the
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Yu is primarily responsible for the overall business and
strategy of the Group. He also serves as a director of our certain
subsidiaries. Through his personal interests and holdings in Epoch
Keen, Mr. Yu is a major shareholder of the Company. Mr. Yu has over
20 years of experience in corporate operations and management in
the petrochemical, automobile and renewable energy sectors. He was
the chairman and principal executive officer of Gushan Environmental
Energy limited ("Gushan”), a company whose American depositary
shares were listed on the New York Stock Exchange from December
2007 to October 2012. Mr. Yu also founded a number of subsidiaries
of the Gushan group between 1996 and 2008. Mr. Yu received his
degree of Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA] from
Hautes Etudes Commerciales de Paris on 13 December, 2010. In
2002, he was elected as a member of the Fuzhou Committee of the
10th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Committee and a member
of the Santai County Committee of the 11th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Committee. He was appointed as a Direcfor on 22
February 2013 and redesignated as an executive Director on 16

August 2013.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (B 15), age 59, is an executive
director of the Company. He is in charge of the corporate and strategic
development of the Company. Mr. Kwong is also a director of certain
subsidiaries, and a director of our associates companies: Deda
Holdings Limited and Hongkong Fujian Investments Limited. Mr. Kwong
was the President of Gushan Environmental Energy Limited (“Gushan”).
He is also an independent non-executive director of C.banner
International Holdings Limited, the principal business of which is the
manufacture and sale of branded fashion footwear, since 26 August
2011, China Ouffitters Holdings Limited, the principal business of
which is the design, manufacture, marketing and sale of apparel
products and accessories in China with a focus on menswear, since 8
June 2011, Shunfeng International Clean Energy Limited, the principal
business of which is the manufacture and sale of solar wafers, solar
cells, solar modules and related products as well as developing and
operating solar power plants, since 16 July 2014, China New Higher
Education Group Limited, the principal business of which is the
rendering of education services, since 20 March 2017, and East Buy
Holding Limited (formerly known as Koolearn Technology Holding
Limited), the principal business of which is the provision of online after-
school tuforing and test preparation service in China since 15 March
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Conrinved)

2019, which are listed on the Stock Exchange since 23 September
2011, @ December 2011, 13 July 2011, 19 April 2017 and 28
March 2019, respectively. Mr. Kwong has over 10 years of
experience in corporate finance and equity capital markets in Asia,
having previously worked at a number of investment banks in Hong
Kong. Prior to joining Gushan in 2006, he was the managing director
of investment banking and he held the position as the head of Hong
Kong and China equity capital markefs at CLSA Equity Capital Markets
Limited since March 2004. From 2002 to 2003, Mr. Kwong was a
director and the head of equity capital markets for Cazenove Asia
Limited, an investment bank. After graduating from University of
Cambridge, England with a bachelor of Arts degree in 1987, he
qualified as a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom in 1990.
Mr. Kwong is currently an associate member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountant in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kwong was appointed as
an executive director of the Company on 16 August 2013.

Ms. Zhu Yufen (% E %), age 61, is an executive director of the
Company. Ms. Zhu has over 20 years of experience in accounting
and financial management. She is primarily responsible for the financial
reporting and accounting affairs of the Company. Ms. Zhu is also the
vice president in charge of the finance of Mianyang Jinxin Copper
Co., Id. (SBI52&EMEBRAA) (inxin"), since July 2009. Prior
fo joining Jinxin, she was a vice general manager and the head of
finance department of Mianyang Santai Vise Co., ld. (#3f5 =& & &
A PR 2 A]), the principal business of which is the manufacture and
sale of vises, from 1978 to 2009. Ms. Zhu was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 16 August 2013.

Mr. GAO Qiang (&%), aged 55, graduated from Shanghai Theatre
Academy in 1994 with a bachelor degree in acfing. Mr. Gao has
been serving as an executive director of Yawei Culture Media
(Shanghai) Co., lid.* HE#k XL B & ( L&) B R A Fland Xing Jiv
Culture Media (Shanghai) Co., lid.* EAXILEE (| EE)BR QA
since January 2019 and March 2019, respectively. He also currently
serves as the secrefary general of China Literature and Art Foundation
Folk Art Special Fund* (FEIX 2E&MMEcEREABMEEES)
and an honorary curator of Jin Shangjing History Museum* (& £ R &
S Y EE). Mr. Gao's background and experience in corporate
management and project management would allow him fo contribute
to the Group by providing leadership and views from a different
perspective and assist the Group in navigating through challenges and
seizing business opportunities. Mr. Gao was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 2 September 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Wei (Z1&), oged 48, graduated from Sichuan University in
2000 with a bachelor degree in economics. He has been the general
manager of A EMAERE X HFR A A (Henan Wangxiang
Ecological Industry Co., lid.)* since June 2019. He was the vice
general manager and project general manager of # 15 % M EE A A
(Xiexin Duoli Chongging Company)* from April 2018 to April 2019,
the general manager of PJII R A XL k¥ A R 2~ A (Sichuan
Xianggu Cultural Tourism Co., ltd.)* from June 2016 to March 2018,
the general manager of each of I9)I /G I & % & R 2 & (Sichuan
Haike Industrial Co., lid.)*, 4358 EE X B R A &) (Mianyang Bojie
Industrial Co., lid.|*, B EEFHERZEBR 2 A (Deyang
Yongxin Real Estate Development Co., ltd.)* from July 2014 to June
2016, May 2012 to June 2014, and May 2010 to May 2012,
respectively. Mr. Li is experienced in corporate management, real
estate development, markefing and project management. Mr. Li was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company

on 28 June 2022.

Mr. Fang Guanghua (77 £ Z %4 ), aged 58, obtained a cerfificate
of building construction and management from The Open University of
China in January 2011. Mr. Fang has been serving as a director of
Sichuan Gangfu Decoration Design Co., ltd.* FOJI1& & fFiER T2
BBR AR, Ganghua Tongda Industrial (Chengdu) Co., lid.* &R
EEE(KE)BEMR 2 A, and Sichuan Xinduguicheng Villoge Bank
Co., Ud.* W RIEFEATERITBEREER A since May 1994,
November 2017, and March 2011 respectively. Mr. Fang is
experienced in corporate management, building and construction, civil
engineering, sales of communication electronic products, and general
banking business. Mr. Fang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 13 October 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continved)

Mr. Yu Rengzhong (%1 #3 & % %), aged 46, graduated from Xian
Jiaotong University with a bachelor degree in investment economic in
July 2001. Mr. Yu has been serving as the financial controller of Fujian
Minhai Energy Co., ltd.* t@EE/EREIRABR A Al since June 2020.
From January 2019 to March 2020, Mr. Yu served as the general
manager of Xiamen Bangfu Investment Management Co., lid.* EFTH
EREEEABMRAA, mainly engaging in initial public offering
planning. From September 2001 to June 2007, Mr. Yu worked in
Fujian Mindu Certified Public Accountants Co., lid. * &2 & # & 51 &l
FEB AR QA (currently known as Fujian Lixin Mindu Certified
Public Accountants Co., lid.* {Bi 7 ZEE 2SS AR A A)
with his last role as the audit manager. Mr. Yu has approximately 21
years of experiences in auditing, accounting and financial
management. Mr. Yu is a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Fang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 13 October 2022.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Directors and Senior
Management”, there was no change to any of the information required
fo be disclosed in relation to any director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to
(e} and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rule since the Company’s last
published annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

The Board is pleased to present the audited consolidated results of the
Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 42 fo the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

During the year and up tfo the date of this annual report, the Directors
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Jiangiu [Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Huang Weiping (refired 30 June 2023)

Ms. Zhu Yufen

Mr. Gao Qiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Wei
Mr. Fang Guanghua
Mr. Yu Rengzhong

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are sef out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 12, 23, 39 respectively to the financial
statements and in this annual report, no direcfor or any entity connected
with a direcfor had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in
any fransaction, arrangement or confract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the listing Rules, the changes in
information of the directors of the Company since the latest published
annual report of the Company are set out below:

() Mr. Huang Weiping refired as an executive director on 30 June
2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were (i)
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong] (the “SFO"), or (i) otherwise nofified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 fo the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”) were as follows:

(1) Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
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Number of
underlying shares
(unlisted and Approximately
Capacity/Nature of Number of physically percentage of
Name of director interest Shares held settled derivatives) inferests !
HEARDEE
%ﬁ/ﬁm s (GELEmRUER BREN
EEpg ROBE SENTEIR) Baotkw
Mr. Yu Jiangiu Beneficial owner 6,204,000 (L) - 0.14%
ATEM LA ERBEBA
Interest in a controlled 332,794,400 (L) - 7.43%
corporation
XEHEE R 200,000,000 (S) - 4.46%
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson Beneficial owner 3,272,600 (1) 4,000,000 (L) 0.16%
BREELE EnBAA
Ms. Zhu Yufen Beneficial owner - 3,000,000 (L) 0.07%
REFLL ExBEAA
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continuved)

(1) Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

1. The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference to the
number of ordinary shares in issue as at 31 December 2023, that is
4,481,557,261 ordinary shares of the Company.

2. The letters “L" and “S" denote a person’s/an entity's long position and short

posifion in the shares of the Company, respectively.

3. Mr. Yu Jiangjiu is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of Epoch
Keen Limited and is deemed to be interested in the 532,794,400 Shares held
by Epoch Keen Limited under the SFO.

The short position of 200,000,000 shares represents the shares which are
pledged by Epoch Keen Limited in favour of with China Huarong International

Holdings Limited (“Huarong Infernational”).

Epoch Keen Limited entered into a share charge (the “2017 Share Charge”) and
a confirmatory share charge with Huarong International on 8 August 2017 and
22 April 2020, respectively, pursuant to which Epoch Keen Limited charged
278,000,000 Shares in favour of Huarong International as security for the
payment and discharge of obligations owing from the Company fo Huarong
International pursuant to, amongst others, the convertible bonds subscription
agreement with Huarong International. On 31 March 2022, 78,000,000
Shares out of the 278,000,000 Shares charged by Epoch Keen Llimited has

been released pursuant to the deed of partial release.

4. These equity derivatives were share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme of the Company on 14 December 202 1. Please see the section headed

"Share Option Scheme” for further defails.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company were granted fo any Director or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, nor were any such rights exercised by
them, nor was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party o any
arrangement fo enable the Directors, or their respective spouse or
children under 18 vears of age, to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

FERRRAQARMDREERK
DR R KR

#2023 12831 B AR TREES
R R OIE 306 AT 1 BO B RM
285 U TAL ERAADEEREERS
BN B) AR AR S AR A5 o 5 5%
S L YRR

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (not being a director
or chief executive of the Company| had 5% or more interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
fo section 336 of the SFO:

RAEQTRGHHES

Interest in shares of the Company:

Number of
underlying shares
(unlisted and ~ Approximately
Capacity/Nature Number of  physically settled percentage
of inferest Shares held derivatives) of interests !
HERGHE
(kLR
it NEREEN BEEN
5/ BEME RO#E fTETR) BN
Kwek Steven Poh Song Interest in a controlled 280,312,902 () - 6.25%
corporation
Kwek Steven Poh Song R LB R
Stateowned Assefs Supervision and Inferest in a controlled 717,994,566 () - 16.02%
Administration Office of corporation
Youxian District, Mianyang City*
("Mianyang SASA Office”)
BETBIREAEEREER RS EEER
WMAE([REEEHR])
China CITIC Financial Asset Management Inferests in a confrolled 90,485,295 (1) - 2.02%
Co., Limited (formerly known as corporation
"China Huarong Assef Management
Co., limited"]
PEPEEREEERARAR (AIHA RS EEER
[HEZEREETERNERAF])
Person having a security - 700,000,000 (1) 15.62%
inferest in the shares
HRhAEREGZ AL
leung lisa Interests in a controlled 557,627 268 ||) - 12.44%
corporation
ZEM REn AR ER
Huang Weiping Inerests in a confrolled 310,317,000 (9) - 6.92%
corporation
BEW REGAEER
Mianyang Yuan Cheng Infegration Beneficial interess 500,000,000 (S) - 11.16%
Development Group Co., Limited*
["Mianyang Yuan Cheng’)
BHLEARSEREEERREMERA Eanks
(TREE )
Mianyang Science Technology City Person having a security - 310,317,000 (l) 6.92%

Development Investment (Group) Co., Lid.

BEHBHEREE (RE)ARAA

interest in the shares
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (Continved)

Interest in shares of the Company: (Continved)

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(3)

(6)

The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference to the number of
ordinary shares in issue as at 31 December 2023, that is 4,481,557,261 ordinary

shares of the Company.

The letters “L" and “S" denofe a person’s/an entity’s long position and short position in

the shares of the Company respectively.

The 280,312,902 Shares are directly held by Quaestus Capital Pte Limited, which is
80% equily interest owned by Kwek Steven Poh Song. According to the SFO, Kwek
Steven Poh Song is deemed to have interests in the 280,312,902 Shares held by
Quaestus Capital Pre Limited.

The 717,994,566 shares of the Company comprise:

(i) The 694,470,566 Shares are directly held by Mianyang Fule Investment Co.,
Limited*, which is wholly owned by Mianyang SASA Office; and

(ii) The 23,524,000 Shares are directly held by Mianyang Zantai Industrial Co.,
Limited*, which is wholly owned by Mianyang Fule Investment Co., limited*

which is in tum wholly owned by Mianyang SASA Office.

According to the SFO, Mianyang SASA Office is therefore deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Mianyang Fule Investment Co., Limited* and Mianyang Zantai

Industrial Co., Limited*.

The 90,485,295 Shares are directly held by Huarong International and the
700,000,000 Shares represents the security inferests in the shares held by Huarong
Intfernational. Huarong Real Estate Co., Llimited and Huarong Zhiyuan Investment &
Management Co., Limited hold 88.1% and 11.9% equity interests in Huarong
International, respectively. Huarong Real Estate Co., limited and Huarong Zhiyuan
Investment & Management Co., limited are directly wholly owned by China CITIC
Financial Asset Management Co., Limited. According to the SFO, China CITIC Financial
Asset Management Co., Limited is therefore deemed 1o be interested in the shares held

by Huarong Infernational.

The 557,627,268 Shares are directly held by Prosper Rich Investments Limited, which is
wholly owned by leung Lisa. According to the SFO, leung lisa is deemed to have
interests in the 280,312,902 Shares held by Prosper Rich Investments Limited.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (Continved)

Interest in shares of the Company: (Continved)

Notes: (Continued)

(7) The 310,317,000 shares of the Company comprise:

(i) The 102,963,000 Shares are directly held by Gold Wide Enterprises Limited,

which is wholly owned by Huang Weiping;

(ii) The 167,952,400 Shares are directly held by First Harvest Global Limited,

which is wholly owned by Huang Weiping;

(iii) The 39,401,600 Shares are directly held by Ocean Through Limited, which is

wholly owned by Huang Weiping;

According fo the SFO, Huang Weiping is therefore deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Gold Wide Enterprises Limited, First Harvest Global limited and Ocean

Through Limited.

(8) The short position of 500,000,000 Shares represents the shares which are pledged by
Mianyang Yuan Cheng in favour of with Huarong International. Mianyang Yuan Cheng

entered info a share charge with Huarong Infernational on 31 May 2022.

9) The short position of 310,317,000 Shares represents the shares which are pledged by:

(i) 39,401,600 Shares held by Ocean Through Limited;

(ii) 167,952,400 Shares held by First Harvest Global Limited; and

(i) 102,963,000 Shares held by Gold Wide Enterprises Limited;

in favour of with Mianyang Science Technology City Development Investment (Group)
Co., ltd.*. Ocean Through Limited, First Harvest Global Limited and Gold Wide
Enterprises limited has each entered into a share charge with Mianyang Science

Technology City Development Invesiment (Group) Co., lid.* on 15 August 2014.

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
directors had not been notified by any person (not being the directors
or chief executive of the Company|] who had 5% or more inferests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required fo be kept pursuant to Section 336 of

the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any business or inferests in businesses which compete
or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend or declare the payment of any

dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the arficles of
association of the Company (the “Arficles of Association”), or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a prorata basis fo existing Shareholders.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
sef out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 69 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the property, plant and equipment of the Group are sef out in
note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 34
fo the financial statements.

BANK LOANS

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out in nofe 28 fo the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Directors” emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
fo their duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 12 to the financial statements
respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up to develop the Group's
emolument policy and structure for remuneration of the Directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the Direcfors and senior
management and comparable markef practices.

PENSION SCHEMES

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC participate in defined contribution
refirement benefit schemes (the "PRC Schemes”) organized by the local
authorities whereby the subsidiaries are required to make confributions
fo the PRC Schemes based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
salaries. Contributions to the PRC Schemes vest immediately. Under the
PRC Schemes, retirement benefits of existing and retired employees are
payable by the relevant scheme administrators and the Group has no
further obligations beyond the annual confributions.

The Group enrolled all employees in Hong Kong in the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme ("MPF") (together with the PRC Schemes, the
"Retirement Benefit Schemes”), which is a defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
consolidated income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF. The Group contributes 5% of the relevant
payroll costs to the MPF subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000, and which contribution is matched by the employees.
The assefs of the MPF are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. Contributions from the employer are
100% vested in the employees as soon as they are paid to the MPF
and subject fo certain conditions being met, and all benefits derived
from the mandatory contributions must be preserved until the employee
either reaches the normal refirement age of 65 or meefs certain
specified conditions whichever is earlier.

The Group's contributions to the Retirement Benefit Schemes charged to
the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December

2023 were RMB2,668,000 (2022: RMB4,620,000).
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered info
or existed during the year.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 36 to
the financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company does not has any
distributable reserves available for distribution calculated in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a fotal of 287 employees
(2022: 507). The Group's staff costs for the year ended 31 December
2023 were approximately RMB28.6 million {2022: RMB44.0 million).
The Group offers its staff competitive remuneration packages. In
addition, discrefionary bonuses and share options may also be granted
fo eligible staff based on individual and Group’s performance. The
Group is committed to nurturing a leaming and sharing culture in the
organization. Heavy emphasis is placed on the fraining and
development of individual staff and team building, as the Group's
success is dependent on the contribution of all functional divisions
comprising skilled and motivated professionals. The Group is also
committed to social responsibility as demonstrated by employing
disabled staff and providing appropriate working conditions and
protection to them.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year aftributable to the
Group's maijor suppliers and cusfomers are as follows:

Purchases

—  The largest suppliers: 5% of cost of sales
—  Five largest suppliers combined: 21% of cost of sales

Sales

—  The largest customer: 30% of revenue

—  Five largest customers combined: 53% of revenue

EEEH

RAFEE  NRRLEL AR R 2B
M EZHMDXHR LR FEMEENTT
BAEH) o

EERATHD KR

RARRAEEBHE2023F12A3181E
FENFEEZESFBE DRI R 5 HREH
ERIY TRy T FIF B

R2023F12A31H REFESHES QA
ENBRESE - NRBDEB T A H DK
f# 88

ANEIR

M2023F12A31HB  A&EERERE& H#
2874 (20224 : 507 %) - & £ 2023 F
1I2A3VHLEFE  AEENETRANR
AR286B8T (2022F : AR¥44.0
BETT) - AREREBTREASRF NN
MErFE - o AERE TR REMEA
RARGEENRBEEEIBIEL L ERE -
AEBEBNINEBRRZLEE D ZEXL -
AEENRYERARDAAELIRS S
MEXABMAKKSBERFIELNER
MU AEESERETHEAFIRERE -
AEEKER AEBTRHIRAELE
B ATRREEBARRAL  ARKEFRE
HEE 0 TERBNRE -

TEFFRHKES

AEBTEHERLEPBEARFEZR
BRENMHEEA LW

REBE
—  =AHER  HHEKAN 5%

— BRHEEER EHEKRA21%

HER
— BRREF HEXEN30%

— BREFA (HEFXBH5S3%



MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (Continved)

The scrap copper that we process comes from a variety of sources,
including used household appliances, electrical equipment and
transportation equipment, used cables and wires and scrap materials
from certain industrial manufacturing processes. We purchase our scrap
copper mainly from domestic suppliers located near our production
facilities and elsewhere in other provinces of the PRC. We conduct
rigorous quality control tests at different stages of our production
processes, including rigorous quality fests of our raw materials. Before
entering into a business relationship with a new supplier, we conducted
due diligence on the supplier’s background and reputation in the
market fo assess ifs suitability. In addition, we physically inspect each
delivery of raw materials to ensure its compliance with contract
specifications, including purity and copper confent.

Maintaining strong relationships with our customers is important fo us
and we believe that our customer’s willingness to work with us reflects,
among others, our record of producing high quality products that meet
industry standards and customer requirements.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in the Group's five
largest customers and five largest suppliers.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme’) to provide incentive and/or reward to eligible persons for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of,
our Company. The Share Option Scheme was conditionally approved
by a written resolution of the then shareholders of the Company on 28
January 2014 and came into effect upon the Company's listing on 21
February 2014.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive and/
or reward to eligible persons for their contribution o, and continuing
efforts to promote the interests of, our Company.

Who may join

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer options (“Options”) to
subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the terms set
out in the Share Option Scheme fo any director or employee of the
Group and any other person (including a consultant or advisor] who in
the sole discretion of the Board has contributed or will confribute to the
Group ["Eligible Persons”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Further details of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 28
January 2014. Apart from the Share Option Scheme, the Company
has no other share option scheme currently in force. As at 31
December 2023, 4,481,557,261 Shares were in issue and a total of
164,808,334 share options to subscribe for up to 141,883,334
Shares, representing 3.17% of the issued Shares as at 31 December
2023 have been granted and remained outstanding since the adoption
of the Share Option Scheme.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and in compliance with Rule
17.03 of the Listing Rules, the maximum number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s| of the Company,
shall not exceed 10% of the tofal number of Shares in issue as at the
date of the approval of the Share Option Scheme or of the approval of
the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit").

The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders at general meeting provided that (1] the
scheme mandate limit so refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the fofal
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval
of the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit; (2) Options previously
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, or
lapsed in accordance with the relevant scheme rules or exercised share
options) shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit as refreshed; and (3) the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemels) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to fime.

The Company refreshed the Scheme Mandate Limit at the annual
general meeting held on @ June 2015. Under the Scheme Mandate
Limit as refreshed on 9 June 2015, the Company may issue up fo 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, which is 210,514,560
Shares.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Continved)

The Company had refreshed the Scheme Mandate Limit at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 22 February
2022, since over 99.61% of the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed
on 9 June 2015 has been utilized. Under the current Scheme Mandate
Limit as refreshed on 22 February 2022, the Company may issue up to
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of the
approval of the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, which is
345,602,006 Shares. The number of Shares that may be issued under
the Share Option Scheme will be an aggregate of 487,485,340
Shares [comprising 345,602,006 Shares allotted and issued upon
exercise of the Options to be granted under the refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit and 141,883,334 Shares to be allotted and issued
upon full exercise of the outstanding Options), representing
approximately 10.88% of the Shares in issue as at 31 December
2023.

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the fotal
number of Shares issued and fo be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and to be granted fo that person in any 12-month period up fo
the date of the lafest grant exceeds 1% of our Company's issued share
capital from time fo time.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be
entitled at any time within 10 years after the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme fo offer the grant of an Option to any Eligible
Person as the Board may in its absolute discretion select to subscribe at
the subscription price for such number of shares as the Board may
(subject fo the terms of the Share Option Scheme| defermine (provided
the same shall be a board lot for dealing in the Shares on the Stock
Exchange or an integral multiple thereof).

There is no minimum period for which an Option granfed must be held
before it can be exercised unless otherwise imposed by the Directors.

Subject to the ferms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board may in its
absolute discretion when offering the grant of an Option specify such
conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation thereto in addition to those
sef forth in the Share Option Scheme as the Board may think fit when
making an offer fo an Eligible Person (including, without limitation, as to
any performance criteria which must be safisfied by the Eligible Person
and/or the Company and/or its subsidiaries, and any minimum period
for which an Option must be held, before an Option may be exercised,
if any), provided that such conditions shall not be inconsistent with any
other terms or conditions of the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be such
price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine af the time
of grant of the relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter
confaining the offer of the grant of the Option) but the subscription price
shall be at least the highest of:

(a) the closing price of a share as sfated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the offer dafe, which must be a business
day;

(b) the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c]  the nominal value of a share.

An Option shall be exercised in whole or in part within the option
period which is the period to be defermined and notified by the Board
to the grantee during which period the Option may be exercised and
in any event shall not exceed fen years commencing from the date on
which the offer in relation to such Option is accepted.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme [i.e.
28 January 2014, after which no further options will be granted or
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any subsisting Options granted prior to the expiry of the 10-year
period or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) BIRESTE 2
Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Conrinued) BRETE 2ELSHEE)
Movembentzgggwe Shore}( ﬁ)phon Scheme during the year ended 31 BZT00234 12831 AILEE  BIRES
Decem er are ds 1olOwS: guzﬁiﬂﬁur .
Changes during the year
FREE
Number of Number of Price of
Options held Options held Exercise  Share at the
at 1 January at 31 December pricecof  grant date
Date of grant 2023 Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed 2023  Exercise period of Options Options  of Options
12023 % R202F
1A1H 12A31H RERE
BEZ BEZ BRE REAH
BREYR it BREYE BRETED TEE  ROER
Directors
Bz
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun 14 December 2021 4,000,000 0 0 0 0 4,000,000 14 December 2021 to 13 December 2031 0.465 0.168
Wilson
BEREE 2021612A8 148 20216 12A14BE2031512/138
Ms. Zhu Yufen 14 December 2021 3,000,000 0 0 0 0 3,000,000 14 December 2021 fo 13 December 2031 0.465 0.168
RESZL 2021612A8 148 20216 12A14BE2031512/138
Eligible Persons oher than 7 May 2015 14,000,000 0 0 0 0 14,000,000 7 May 2015 o 6 May 2025 1.680 1.680
Direcfors Employees
EFEE M 201565878 015658782 2025%5R6H
RERAT
Consultants 7 May 2015 13,000,000 0 0 0 0 13,000,000 7 May 2015 to 6 May 2025 1.680 1.680
il 201565878 015658782 2025%5R60
Otherssuppliers 12 December 2017 744,224 0 0 0 0 744,224 12 December 2017 o 30 March 2024 3.700 3.700
Hi — iR 2017€128128 0171281282 202453F308
Otherscustomers 12 December 2017 64,110 0 0 0 0 64,110 12 December 2017 to 30 March 2024 3.700 3.700
iy - XF 2017€128128 0171281282 202453F308
Employees 14 December 2021 114,675,000 0 0 0 7,600,000 107,075,000 14 December 2021 to 13 December 2031 0.465 0.168
EE 2021612A8 148 20216 12A14BE2031512/138
Total 149,483,334 0 0 0 (7,600,000 141,883,334
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) BIRESTE 2

Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Continved) BRESEESHEE)

The fair value of the relevant Options granted were estimated as atthe B RHZ BHEEREZ A FERF L B H
dates of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms A —HEHAEAGHHE EHREZER LA

and condifions upon which the relevant Options were granted. 2 B A hE 2 IR TR B IR o
The following table sets out the inputs to the model used: TREFIZEEE Rz ABUE

23 July 12 December
2015 2017 14 December 2021
2 July 2014 7 May 2015 Options Options Options
Grant dafe Options granted fo Options granted fo granted to 31 May 2016 Options granted fo granted to granted fo
2014% 2015% 2015% 20175
TR2RB 5A78H 7TAA 128128 202156128148

RiAH BRERT BRERT BRERT 201655831 RERER T BRERT BRERT
Cerfain Cerfain Cerfain
Other Other eligible Other eligible eligible Other
Directors  employees Directors  employees participants Directors  employees participants  parficipants Directors  employees
ETRER ETRER ETRAEK
s HftER E: HitkR ga% s Hitks 2a% S8% s Hiks

Fair value of measurement  REFEAEIZ

date [HK$) DFEGET) 0.44 0.39 071 0.58 0.22 1.22 1.17 145 145 0.1003  0.08111
Share price (HKS) REET) 1.07 1.07 1.68 1.68 1.67 3.05 3.05 3.05 370 0.168 0.168
Exercise price [HK$) 1B (AT) 113 113 1.68 1.68 2.16 3.66 3.66 3.66 3.70 0.465 0.465
Expected volafiity BHRE 45.54% 45.54% 46.20% 46.20% 49.43% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 41.61% 84.7% 84.7%
Historical volaiilty E£RE 45.54% 45.54% 46.20% 46.20% 49.43% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 41.61% 84.7% 84.7%
Expected life BHFH 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years 1.5 years 10 years 10 years 10years 6.3 years 10 years 10 years
10% 10% 104 10% 15%F 105 104 10% 6.3% 105 104
Expected dividends BHRS 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 1.47% 1.47% 1.47% 0.92% 0% 0%
Riskdree inferest rafe EERNE

[based on Hong Kong ~ (BAZHSMNE
Exchange Fund Notes) B FiEH|%
REE) 2.059% 2.059% 1.745% 1.745% 0.239% 1.286% 1.286% 1.286% 1.647% 1.271% 1.271%
Exercise muliple T EH 28 22 28 22 - 28 2.2 - - 28 22
Postvesfing exit rate GEERAE 0% 5.44% 0% 16.12% - 9.22% 9.22% - - 0% 8.05%



SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Further details of the Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No other feature of the relevant Options was incorporated info the
measurement of fair value.

The value of the relevant Options is subject to the limitations of the
binomial model and a number of assumptions which are subjective and
difficult to ascertain. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Further details relating to the Share Option Scheme and Options
granted thereunder are set out in note 4 and nofe 35 fo the financial
statements and the announcements of the Company dated 2 July
2014, 7 May 2015, 23 July 2015, 31 May 2016, 12 December
2017 and 14 December 2021. Apart from the above, the Company
had not granted any Options under the Share Option Scheme fo any
other persons as required to be disclosed under the Rule 17.07 of the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PLEDGE OF SHARES BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

On 8 August 2017 and 22 April 2020, Epoch Keen entered into
2017 Share Charge and a confirmatory share charge respectively,
with Huarong International. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 8 August 2017 and 22 April 2020 for further defails.

On 31 May 2022, Mianyang Yuan Cheng entfered info share charge
with Huarong Infernational.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Scheme

Defails of the Share Option Scheme are sef out in the section above

headed "SHARE OPTION SCHEME".
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period are set
out in note 43 to the financial stafements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or any of
its subsidiaries, of the listed securities of the Company during the year

ended 31 December 2023.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Yu Jiangiu and Epoch Keen, the then controlling shareholders of the
Company, entfered into a deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-
Competition”) dated 6 February 2014, details of which have been set
out in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition Undertaking” in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
prospectus of the Company dated 11 February 2014.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, the Directors confirmed that based
on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained sufficient
amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules and agreed
by the Stock Exchange.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited who will retire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution
will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint ZHONGHUI
ANDA ("ZHONGHUI ANDA") as the Company’s auditor for the year
ending 31 December 2024.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If any Shareholder is unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to the Shares, it is advised to consult an expert.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director is entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which any of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act,
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts (except such is
incurred or sustained through his own fraud or dishonesty). The
Company has not maintained Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Company will consider taking up the insurance arrangement when a
quote within budget of the Company is available.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed fo mainfaining
the highest environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of ifs business. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Croup has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group in relation fo its business
including health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group understands that a better future depends on
everyone's participation and contribution. It has encouraged all
employees to participate in environmental and social activities which
benefit the community as a whole.

The Group is operating in the environmental protection industry by
virtue of recycling scrap metal materials in the society. Contributing fo
resolving a significant part of pollution problem in the vicinity of our
plants, the Group is highly praised and encouraged by the local
governments. The Group also advocated conservation of resources in
the office and encouraged employees to develop good habits,
conserve resources and energy to build a green and comfortable office
environment.

For a more comprehensive review, please refer to the 2023
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company that will
be dispatched to the Shareholders and available on the website of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in due course.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code”") as set forth in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
save as disclosed below.

Code Provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and Chief Executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing. Currently, Mr. Yu Jiangiu is both the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. As Mr. Yu is the founder of the
Group and has extensive experience in operations and management,
the Board believes that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr.
Yu taking up both roles for continuous effective management and
business development of the Group.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Directors would like fo take this opportunity to express our sincere
thanks to all the Shareholders and business associates for their
continuous support and the entire staff for their dedication and
confribution to the Group during the year.

CONTINUED SUSPENSION OF TRADING

Trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange has been
suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on Monday, 3 April 2023 and
will remain suspended pending fulfilment of the Resumption Guidance
and any supplement or modification thereof.
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RESUMPTION OF TRADING CONDITIONS

On 19 May 2023, the Company received a letter issued by the Stock
Exchange, which sets out the guidance in relafion fo the resumption of
trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange (the
"Resumption Guidance”). The Stock Exchange requires the Company to
meet all Resumption Guidance, remedy the issues causing the
Company's frading suspension and fully comply with the Listing Rules to
the Stock Exchange's satisfaction before trading in the Company's
securifies is allowed to resume. Under Rule 6.01A(1) of the listing
Rules, the Stock Exchange may cancel the listing of any securities that
have been suspended from trading for a continuous period of 18
months. In the case of the Company, the 18-month period expires on 2
October 2024. If the Company fails to remedy the subsfantive issues
causing the Company's trading suspension, fulfill the Resumption
Guidance and fully comply with the Llisting Rules to the Stock
Exchange's satisfaction and resume trading in its shares by 2 October
2024, the listing Division of the Stock Exchange will recommend the
Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange to proceed with the
cancellation of the Company’s listing.

Pursuant to the Resumption Guidance, the Company shall:

(a)  publish all outstanding financial results required under the Listing
Rules and address any audit modifications;

(b)  demonstrate the Company's compliance with Rule 13.24 of the
Listing Rules; and

(c) inform the market of all material information for the Company’s
shareholders and invesfors fo appraise the Company's position.

For further details of the conditions of resumption of trading, please
refer fo the announcement of the Company dated 24 May 2023.

Shareholders and potential investors of the Company should
exercise caution when dealing in the shares of the Company.

By Order of the Board
China Metal Resources Utilization Limited
YU Jianqiu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 2 October 2024

For identification purpose only.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group recognizes the vital importance of good corporate
governance fo the Group's success and sustainability. We are
committed fo achieving a high standard of corporate govemnance as an
essential component of quality and have introduced corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of our
business.

The Company has applied the principles of and is in compliance with
all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG
Code") except for deviations disclosed and explained below.

Key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company as
well as details relating to the deviations are summarized below.

MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Direcfors’
securities fransactions on terms not less exacting than the required
standards set out in the Model Code in Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules. After specific enquiry made by the Company, all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set out in
the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securifies fransactions for the year ended 31 December 2023.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for overall management and control of the
Company. The Board's main roles are to provide leadership and fo
approve strategic policies and plans with a view to enhancing
shareholder value. All Directors carry out their duties in good faith and
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions
objectively, and acting in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary and senior
management, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable laws and regulations are followed.
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THE BOARD (Continved)

Responsibilities (Continved)

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, infernal confrol and risk management systems,
material fransactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

Directors have full and timely access to consult with the Company’s
senior management independently. Any Director and Board Committee
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making reasonable
request fo the Board.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-fo-day
management and operation of the Croup fo the senior management of
the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company's affairs, the
Board has established three Board committees, namely the audit and
corporate governance committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination
committee (the "Nomination Committee”) (together, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibiliies as sef out in their respective ferms of reference.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year under review and as af the date of this report, the
members of the board of Directors are set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Jiangiu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Huang Weiping [refired 30,/06,/2023)

Mr. Gao Qiang

Ms. Zhu Yufen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wei
Mr. Fang Guanghua
Mr. Yu Rengzhong

EREGRE

EEg %)

BE#®)
EXSARMRARAMAERFEREELR
ToBR - HERERMAERRKSE  EE
RigMEE - AEEEREREERS X
EX 5 (FRI—RAESENEERE) 8
BER ZEEEREMEAPBE N EE
FHo

ERA2HELFKMENZARRBN SR
EEE-EMNEFLEFZESARNEE
BARAT REFSELAEZRAZTKE
VEEER BRBARAXM -

EXSCBASEREERERKEENEN
REAEETAGENGREEE - RE
BARAIRERENER EFECKY
—HEEZBEg HNEKZLREEXERZE
g ((&En%Bel) FMEEe ((HFME
BghrkreZB8a((R2%EBgl) (KR
[EXZEg]) ESCCEREEZANR
BEENEFTZEEEREMT-

ESENER

ROBFEARBEAREAY 58
REFHIIMT

BITES

VRIS (EEHRITHAEE)
BERELE

EIEESE A (20234 6 A 30 HIRME)
BF: btes

KREHFLL

BUFAITESE
FRELE
IERE
AR EE



44

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited « Bl & B & R F A AR A 7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERWE

BOARD COMPOSITION (Continved)

There are three Board committees. The composition of the Board
committees are sef out below.

Audit and
Corporate

Board Committee

Nomination
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Governance
Committee

Mr. Li Wei M M C
Mr. Fang Guanghua M C M
Mr. Yu Rengzhong C M M

Notes:

C Chairman of the relevant Board commitiees

M Member of the relevant Board committees

Biographical defails of the Directors are set out in the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has confirmed his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

All Directors have brought a wide range of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism fo the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Moreover, through active participation in
Boord meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all independent
non-executive directors make various contributions fo the effective
direction of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has a board diversity policy whereby it recognizes and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining the
Company’s competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the talents, skills, regional and
indusfry experience, background, gender, age and other qualities of
the members of the Board. These differences will be considered in
determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible
should be balanced appropriately. All appointments of the members of
the Board are made on merit, in the content of the talents, skills and
experience the Board as a whole requires fo be effective.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy, as
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Under Code Provision C.1.4, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Directors are encouraged fo partficipate in continuous professional
development so as to refresh their knowledge and skills for discharging
their duties and responsibilities. For the year ended 31 December
2023, relevant reading materials including regulatory update and
seminar handouts, etc. have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.

Each newly appointed Director would attend training and receive an
induction package covering the statutory and regulatory obligation of a
director of a listed company. Directors may participate in confinuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. All Directors
are provided with materials on latest changes in applicable legal and
regulafory requirements and corporate governance practices fo assist
them to discharge their duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, all the Directors had participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by ways of attending frainings
organized by professional firm and/or reading materials relevant fo the
Company'’s businesses or fo the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 sfipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Yu Jiangiu is Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. As Mr. Yu is the founder of the Group and has extensive
experience in corporafte operations and management, the Board
believes that it is in the best inferest of the Group to have Mr. Yu taking
up both roles for continuous effective management and business
development of the Group.

The Board considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person will not
impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The appointment of independent non-executive directors, subject fo re-
nomination and re<election by the Company in general meefing, shall
be for a term of two years unless previously terminated in accordance
with the terms and conditions specified in their appointment.

The director’s fee specified in the letter of appointment of each of
independent non-executive Directors are HK$ 180,000 per annum.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and/or industry expertise and management experience
and have provided their professional advice to the Board.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The rules and procedures governing the appointment, retirement,
re-election and removal of directors are set out in the Arficles of
Association. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
the Board structure, size and composition and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Direcfors.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Direcfors appointed
for a specific term, are subject to retirement by rotation. In accordance
with the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting of the
Company ("AGM”), at least one third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall refire from office by
rotation, provided that each Direcfor shall be subject fo retirement af an
AGM at least once every three years.

Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board shall be subject to re-election at the
next AGM after his or her appointment.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board intends to hold board meetings regularly at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than
fourteen days will be given for all regular board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity fo attend and include matters in the
agenda for regular board meetings.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched fo the Directors or Board commitiee members af least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to
review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings.
When Directors or Board commitiee members are unable to attend a
meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given
an opportunity to make their views known to the chairman prior to the
meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board commitiee meefings are/will
be recorded in sufficient defail to include the matters considered by the
Boord and the Board committee and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board
meefing and Board commitiee meeting will be sent o the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting

is held.

According fo the Arficles of Association, a Direcfor shall not vote nor be
counted in the quorum on any resolution of the Board approving any
contract or arrangement in which he or his associates is materially
inferested.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The number of Board meetings, Board commitiee meefings and general
meefings held in 2022 are sef out in the table below.

Name of Director

Executive Directors
Mr. Yu Jiangiu

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Huang Weiping
lrefired 30,/06,/2023)
Mr. Gao Qiang

Ms. Zhu Yufen

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Li Wei

Mr. Fang Guanghua

Mr. Yu Rengzhong
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BRI (120235
6 A 30 AR
CE:¥is
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FREEE
ARERE
EIRRYsY

4/4
4/4
1/1
4/4

4/4

4/4
4/4
4/4

EXgEERE

0202FEFEEH
RREBRRBIMTRHAR °

Number of meeting attended/ Eligible fo atiend
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Audit and

Corporate

Governance
Committee
EuRLE

BLEAR

N/A
Tam
N/A
TER
N/A
Tam
N/A
Tam
N/A
TER

2/2
2/2
2/2

Remuneration
Committee

FHzEE

N/A
Tam
N/A
TEH
N/A
Fam
N/A
Tam
N/A
TEH

1/1
1/1
1/

Nomination
Committee
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N/A
TER
N/A
TEM
N/A
@R
N/A
TER
N/A
TEM

1/1
1/1
1/

General
meeting
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. All Board committees have
been established with defined written terms of reference, which are
posted on the Company's website “http: //www.cmru.com.cn” and are
available to Shareholders upon request. All Board committees report to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriafe circumstances, at the
Company's expense.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr.
Fang Guanghua, Mr. Yu Rengzhong and Mr. Li Wei (Chairperson)
who are all independent non-executive Directors. The functions of the
Nomination Committee primarily are fo:

(i)  review the siructure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience| of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
fo complement the Company's corporate sfrategy;

(i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the

selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(i) assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(iv) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-

appointment of Directors and succession planning for directors, in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief executive; and

(v to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors, the
nomination procedures and the process and criferia adopted to
select and recommend candidates for directorship.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continved)

For considering the appointment of Directors, the Nomination
Committee assesses the candidate on a variety of criteria such as
reputation of infegrity, qualification, knowledge and experience in the
industry, ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities and diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
Having taken info accounts of the above factors and obtained all the
information as the Nomination Committee considers necessary, the
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the
Board for decision, and if the candidate will stand for election at a
general meeting, a circular will be sent to the Shareholders.

On 16 April 2014 the Nomination Committee adopted a board
diversity policy. The board diversity policy applies to the Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
mainfaining the Company’s competitive advantage. The Nomination
Committee will review annually the structure, size and composition of
the Board and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, and
will make recommendation to the Board on the measurable objectives
for achieving board diversity. The Company aims to maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are
relevant to the Company business growth.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2023 to, inter dlia, (i) review the size and composition
of the Board; (i) assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors as well as review that re-appointment of Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
Mr. Li Wei, Mr. Fang Guanghua (Chairperson) and Mr. Yu Rengzhong
who are all independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

()  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
fransparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continved)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

fo review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference fo the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management,

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

fo consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and ifs subsidiaries;

fo review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or fermination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

fo review and approve compensation arrangements relating fo
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct fo ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

fo ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

fo determine the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors,
assess performance of executive Directors and approve the ferms
of executive Directors’ service contracts.

Details of the remuneration of each Director and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in nofe
12 to the financial statements contained in this annual report.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee were held during the year
to review the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
managements of the Company.
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AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at the dafe of this report, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yu
Rengzhong (Chairperson), Mr. Fang Guanghua and Mr. Li Wei who
are all independent non-executive Directors.

In relation to reviewing the Company’s financial information, the Audit
Committee’s duties mainly are fo:

(i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers of the
Group or external auditors before submission fo the Board;

review and monitor the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process;

make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors; and

review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system.

In relation fo its corporate governance functions, the Audit Committee’s
responsibiliies are o

(i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

develop, review and update the Company's corporate
P p pany P
governance policies and pracfices and to make recommendations
to the Board,

fo review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Direcfors and senior management,

fo review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors, and

to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Covernance Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.
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AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year. The
work performed by the Audit Committiee during the year included the
review of the annual audit plan, the nature and scope of the audit and
respective relevant issues, reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and other financial reporting matters;
considered the re-appointment of external auditors and recommended
fo the Board for approval of the audit fee proposal for the year; and
reviewed and considered of significant accounting and audit issues
arisen from the annual audit.

Review of 2023 annual results

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023, including the accounting policy adopted by the Group and has
discussed the internal controls and financial reporting matters of the
Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

ZHONGHUI was appointed as our external auditor by Shareholders in
the 2023 AGM. It is primarily responsible for providing audit services
in connection with the annual consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to ZHONGHUI is sef
out below:

IR #%
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and
of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company's financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of
the Board with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
positions and prospects.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.3 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the Board would like to provide more details regarding the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

As described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB805,780,000 and
RMB4,763,152,000 respectively for two consecutive years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022. As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately RMB4,090,155,000 and
net liabilities of approximately RMB3,507,212,000. By the end of the
reporting period, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB 18,327,000, while debts repayable within one
year or on demand (including interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and note payables] were approximately
RMBT1,651,922,000. In addition, as at 31 December 2023, the
Group had defaulted the repayment of interestbearing bank and other
borrowings and note payables of approximately RMB1,548,000,000
and RMB23,922,000 respectively (collectively referred to as the
"Overdue Debts"). In addition, as described in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, as at 31 December 2023, the
Group was also involved in various litigations resulting in the freezing
of several bank accounts and the seizure of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and inventories. The above events or
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and, therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Please
refer to the section headed "MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO
GOING CONCERN" in the independent auditor’s report for further

details.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The Management's Position, View and Assessment on the
Disclaimer of Opinion and the Other Matters

The Directors have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance to
confinues as a going concern. The Company has been undertaking
various plans and measures to improve the Group's liquidity and
financial position. Further defails of such actions are set out in note 2 to
the consolidated financial stafements. The Directors are therefore of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable o
continue as a going concem, adjustments would have to be made fo
the consolidated financial statements to adjust fo value of the Group's
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities, respectively.

Also, regarding fo the outstanding receivables (the "Outstanding
Receivables’] as described under the section headed "Other Matters”
in the independent auditor’s report, the Board is considering and taking
all possible measures including but not limited to (i) Actively
communicating with customers/suppliers on understanding their
situation and negotiating with and issuing demand letters to customers,/
suppliers in relations to the repayment/setflement of the Outstanding
Receivables; [ii) taking legal action on the repayment of the
Outstanding Receivables on certain customers/suppliers, with
consideration of comparing the potential legal costs expected to be
incurred and potential returns from legal actions results before taking
formal legal action; and (i) communicating with potential buyers of the
Outstanding Receivables on the potential considerations and contract
ferms for recovery of the Outstanding Receivables for the inferests of the
Company as well as addressing of the audit qualification.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The Management's Position, View and Assessment on the
Disclaimer of Opinion and the Other Matters (Continued)

The Board is of the view that if the plans and measures on (i) improving
the Group's liquidity and financial position as described in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements and recovering the Outstanding
Receivables can be successfully implemented, audit modification can
be removed in future financial audit. The Company’s auditors,
ZHONGHUI, concurs with the Board's view as disclosed in this annual
report.

Audit Committee’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion and the
Other Matters

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the views and
concems of the independent auditor with respect to the Disclaimer of
Opinion and the Other Matters issued in relafion fo the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements. The Audit Committee nofed that the Board has undertaken
or is in the progress of implementing measures to improve the Group's
liquidity and financial position and recovering the Outstanding
Receivables. The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the
Board's position and has discussed with the independent auditor
regarding the financial position of the Group, measures taken by the
Group, and considered the independent auditor’s rationale and
understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board to
mainfain an adequate infernal control system to safeguard shareholder
investments and Company assefs and review the effectiveness of such
systfem on an annual basis.

The Board has reviewed of the effectiveness of the infernal control
system of the Company and considers the internal control system to be
effective and adequate.

The Board has established an internal audit function, which reports
directly to the Audit Committee to determine whether the infernal confrol
procedures are properly carried out throughout the year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal confrol systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an
ongoing basis. Such risk management and internal confrol systems are
designed for managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure o
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and infernal confrol to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees management in the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems. During the year, the Board had conducted
review of the risk management and internal control system of the
Company before the date of this report through effort of the Audit
Committee.

During 2023, the Group has engaged an external consuliant to provide
assistance in the development of a structured approach fo risk management
and perform internal control review. Based on the review of the external
consultant, no material internal control defects had been identified.

Main features of the risk management and internal conirol systems

The Group's risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of
each level of the structure are summarised below:

Board

®  Defermines the business strategies and obijectives of the Group,
and evaluates and determines the nature and extent of risks it is
willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives;
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Contined)

Board (Continued)

Ensures that the Group establishes and mainfains appropriate and
effective risk management and infernal control systems; and

Oversees management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

Assists the Board to perform its responsibilities of risk management
and infernal control systems;

reviews the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices (including risk management policy) and to make
recommendations fo the Board:

Ensures the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, fraining programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functfions; and

Considers key matters on risk management and internal confrol,
and reports and makes recommendations to the Board.

Management

Designs, implements and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems;

Identifies, evaluates and manages the risks that may potentially
impact the major processes of the operations;

Monitors risks and takes measures to mitigate risks in day-to-day
operations;

Gives prompt responses fo, and follow up on risk management
and infernal control matters; and

Provides confirmation fo the Board and Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems.

Internal control consultant

Reports to the Audit Committee the findings of the internal control
review and makes recommendations to the Board and
management fo improve the material systems deficiencies or
control weaknesses identified.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

For the purpose of handling and disseminating inside information in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the SFO, the Group has taken
various procedures and measures, including arousing the awareness o
preserve confidentiality of inside information within the Group, sending
blackout period and securities dealing restrictions notification fo the
relevant Directors and employees regularly, disseminating information
fo specified persons on a needto-know basis and regarding closely to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, saved as announced and
disclosed, the Group was unaware of any non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the

Group.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables Shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at "http://www.cmru.com.cn”, where extensive information and
updates on the Group's business developments and operations,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests fo the
Company as follows:

Address:  Unit 2513B, COSCO Tower,

183 Queen's Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
(For the atfention of Corporate Communications Department)
Fax: +852 2587 7199

Email:  ir@cmru.com.cn

Enquiries are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (Continved)

The Board welcomes views of Shareholders and encourages them to
aftend general meetings to raise any concerns they might have with the
Board or the management directly. Board members and appropriate
senior staff of the Group are available at the meetings to answer any
questions raised by shareholders.

The Company confinues to enhance communication and relationship
with its investors.

Designated senior management maintains regular dialogue with
institutional invesfors and analysts to keep them informed of the Group's
developments.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The current version of the Aricles is available on the website of the
Stock Exchange af www.hkexnews.hk and the website of the Company
at www.cmru.com.cn. There is no change in the Company's
constitutional documents during the period under review.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group adopted a dividend policy on 18 January 2019. A
summary of the policy is disclosed as below.

The Company considers stable and sustainable refurns to Shareholders
fo be its goal and endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
stable and sustainable dividend policy.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Continved)

In accordance with the Articles of Association and subject to the
relevant laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company in general meeting
may from time fo time declare dividends in any currency to be paid to
the Shareholders but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the
amount recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the
Company, realised or unrealised, or from any reserve set aside from
profits which the Directors defermine is no longer needed. With the
sanction of an ordinary resolution dividends may also be declared and
paid out of share premium account or any other fund or account which
can be authorised for this purpose in accordance with the relevant laws
of the Cayman Islands.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board may take into account, amongst other
things, the actual and expected financial performance, the eamings,
distributable reserves, debts to equity ratio, return on equity, working
capital requirement, future expansion plans, and any other facfors that
the Board deems appropriafe.

The Board shall review this policy from time to time, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of this policy and shall discuss any revisions
that may be required.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secrefary of the Company is Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan.
Mr. Cheung complied with the Listing Rules, and he had affained no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

To safeguard Shareholders’ inferests and rights, separate resolutions are
proposed at Shareholders” meefings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and
voting.

Under article 58 of the Articles of Association, the Shareholders may
convene an extraordinary general meeting or put forward proposals af
Shareholders” meetings pursuant to the Articles of Association. Any one
or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-enth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary, require an
extraordinary general meeting fo be called by the Board for the
fransaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration af a general
meeting in accordance with the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
and the Arficles of Association.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, nofice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the Company and provide their full name,
confact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

An upto-date version of the Articles of Association is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange's website. Shareholders
may refer to the Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders” meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll vofing results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company (http: //www.cmru.com.cn) immediately after the relevant
general meetings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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ZHONGHUI
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Mefal Resources Utilization limited (the “Company”] and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred fo as the “Group”] set out on pages
69 to 161, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes fo the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not
possible for us to form an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to going concern

We draw attention to nofe 2 fo the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group recorded a net loss of approximately
RMB805,780,000 and RMB4,763,152,000 respectively for two
consecufive years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. As af 31
December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
RMB4,090,155,000 and net liabilities of approximately
RMB3,507,212,000. By the end of the reporting period, the Group
had cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB 18,327,000,
while debts repayable within one year or on demand (including
interesi-bearing bank and other borrowings and nofe payables) were
approximately RMB1,651,922,000. In addition, as at 31 December
2023, the Group had defaulted the repayment of inferestbearing bank
and other borrowings and note payables of approximately
RMB1,548,000,000 and RMB23,922,000 respectively (collectively
referred to as the “Overdue Debts”). In addition, as described in note
37 1o the consolidated financial statements, as at 31 December 2023,
the Group was also involved in various litigations resulting in the
freezing of several bank accounts and the seizure of property, plant
and equipment, rightof-use assets and inventories. The above events or
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to confinue as a going
concern and, therefore, that the Group may not be able to redlise its
assefs and discharge ifs liabilities in the normal course of business.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concemn basis. The directors of the Company have been undertaking a
number of plans and measures as described in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements fo mitigate the liquidity pressure and
improve ifs financial position. Should the going concemn assumption be
inappropriate, adjustments may have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assefs fo their recoverable amounts, o
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and fo reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continved)

Material uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)

Up to the dafe of this report, the Relevant Subsidiaries as defined in
nofe 2|i) to the consolidated financial statements are in progress of debt
restructuring (the “Debt Restructuring”) for purpose of reducing the level
of debts of the Relevant Subsidiaries. As of the date of this report, we
have not been provided with the debt restructuring agreements and
were unable fo obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to
confirm the fiming and extent of the Debt Restructuring.

Furthermore, up to the date of this report, the Group had nofified and
liaised with the creditors, banks, financial institutions and holders of
note payables for extension/alternative refinancing of the Overdue
Debts. As of the date of this report, we have not been provided with
the exfension agreements or refinancing agreements in respect of the

Overdue Debt.

Up to the date of this report, the Group had been liaising with banks
and financial institufions for obtaining new financing. As of the datfe of
this report, we have not been provided with the financing agreements
in respect of the new financing.

In addition, up to the date of this report, the Group has been
endeavouring to improve the Group's operating performance and cash
flows through cost control measures and working capital management
to maintain sufficient liquidity. We have not been provided with
sufficient audit evidence on effect on overcoming the net current
liabilities and net liabilities positions of the Group from such cost control
measures and working capital management.

Also, up fo the date of this report, the Group has been in the process of
resolving the Group's litigation fo release the freezing orders on bank
accounts and seizure orders on property, plant and equipment, rightof-
use assefs and inventories. As of the date of this report, we have not
been provided with the setlement agreements with creditors in respect
of the amount due to the creditors.

In absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence of the above, we
were unable to ascertain whether the use of the going concern
assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statfements
is appropriate.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER MATTERS

Had we not disclaimed our opinion regarding the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section above, we would otherwise
have qualified our opinion regarding the scope limitations on our audit
relating fo the matters detailed below.

(a)

Trade and bills receivables

As disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's trade and
bills receivables amounted fo approximately RMB 146,292,000
and RMB236,494,000 respectively, of which approximately
RMB115,007,000 and RMB204,329,000 respectively (the
"Trade and Bills Receivables”) were past due and/or have not
been settled up to the date of this report. The management is sfill
negotiating with and considering faking any acfion to the debtors
on the sefflement. Due to (1) the past due situation of the Trade
and Bills Receivables, (2) financial difficulties of debtors and (3)
unfavourable negotiation results with debtors, the management
considered that the chance of recovering the Trade and Bills
Receivables to be remote. The Group recognised provision for
doubtful debts of approximately RMB89,322,000 and
RMB249,701,000 respectively in respect of the Trade and Bills
Receivables in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Due fo the above uncertainties, the management is not able to
provide further evidences in justifying the sufficiency, adequacy
and extent of the provision for doubtful debts being recognised.
Accordingly, we are not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidences to ascertain the recoverability of the balance of
Trade and Bills Receivables of approximately RMB115,007,000
and RMB204,329,000 as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
respectively. More importantly, there is no other safisfactory audit
procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves whether the
balance of Trade and Bills Receivables of approximately
RMB115,007,000 and RMB204,329,000 were fairly stated as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively. Consequently,
we are not able fo obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidences
on the provision for doubtful debts of approximately
RMB89,322,000 and RMB249,701,000 recognised in profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 and
the recoverability of Trade and Bills Receivables of approximately
RMB115,007,000 and RMB204,329,000 at 31 December
2023 and 2022.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER MATTERS (Continued)

(b)

Prepayments, other deposits and other assets

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's advance
paoyments fo suppliers amounted to approximately
RMB75,320,000 and RMB291,869,000 respectively, of which
approximately RMB72,421,000 and RMB280,814,000
respectively (the “"Advance Payments”), were long outstanding
and/or have not been seftled up to the date of this report. The
management is sfill negotiating with and considering taking any
action to the debtors on the settlement. Due to (1) the long
outstanding position of Advance Payments, (2) financial difficulties
of debtors and (3] unfavourable negotfiation results with debiors,
the management considered that the chance of utilising/
recovering the Advance Payments to be remote. The Group
recognised provision for impairment loss of approximately
RMB207,988,000 and RMB727,756,000 respectively in
respect of the Advance Payments in profit or loss for the year

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Due fo the above uncertainties, the management is not able to
provide further evidences in justifying the sufficiency, adequacy
and extent of the impairment loss being recognised. Accordingly,
we are not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidences
to ascertain the recoverability of the balance of the Advance
Payments of approximately RMB72,421,000 and
RMB280,814,000 as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. More
importantly, there is no other satisfactory audit procedures that we
could perform to satisfy ourselves whether the balance of the
Advance Payments of approximately RMB72,421,000 and
RMB280,814,000 were fairly sfated as af 31 December 2023
and 2022. Consequently, we are not able fo obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidences on the provision for impairment loss
of approximately RMB207,988,000 and RMB727,756,000
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
and the recoverability of the Advance Payments of approximately
RMB/2,421,000 and RMB280,814,000 at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group's consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 and the consolidated financial position of the Group as af
31 December 2023 and 2022, and the related disclosures thereof in
the consolidated financial stafements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B %S ETER &

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA METAL RESOURCES UTILIZATION LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a frue and fair view in accordance with
Infernational Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relafed to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the direcfors
either infend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but fo do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”") and fo issue an auditor’s report. However,
because of the significance of the material uncertainties relating fo the
going concern basis described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05498
Hong Kong, 2 October 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEEGREMEZEWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'O00
B 5T AR TR ARETT
REVENUE EHEE 8 837,704 2,391,709
Cost of sales S5 PR A (949,599) (2,679,759)
GROSS LOSS E¥ ) (111,895) (288,050)
Other income/ (expenses), HabFU A (FAX) -
gain/[loss), net Uzt (E518) 9 52,029 136,137
Selling and disfribution expenses 856 K $H B < (7,197) (7,910
Administrative expenses TR X (110,661) (195,244)
Provision for doubtful debts, net RERBHEFE 21 (141,978) (2,222,673)
Impairment of advance payments BE R IR RE
fo suppliers 19 (208,106) (1,948,484)
Finance costs B 7% A A 10 (277,660) (234,210)
Share of losses of associates FE(REE & N E 1R (299) (791)
Loss before tax BiATE 18 CORWATAN  (4,761,225)
Income tax expense PRS0 F 2 13 (13) (1,927
Loss for the year attributable to KRARBEEABEFAEE
owners of the company 11 (805,780) 4,763,152)
Other comprehensive loss after tax: & Hth 2 EEIS :
llems that may be reclassified to AlREER PR Rm AR -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on franslating BMEBINEIFEE N 258
foreign operations (1,835) (39,714
Other comprehensive loss RBRFAEMZEER
for the year, net of tax (1,835) (39,714)
Total comprehensive loss ARFEBABEER
for the year atiributable to PHEBBRAHE
owners of the company (807,615) (4,802,8606)
Loss per share BREE 14
Basic (RMB per share) HAE(FRARE) (0.18) (1.10)
Diluted (RMB per share) #BE(BRARE) (0.18) (1.10)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEMBRAR

As at 31 December 2023 R 2023 12 H 31 A

Notes
B 5

Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RRE 16
Rightofuse assets EREEE 17
Inferests in associates B 2N R R 2 18
Prepayments, other receivables FART AR - Hfh EYORIR &

and other assets HiEE 19
Total non-current assets RIERBEE
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 20
Trade and bills receivables B 5 RUWGRIE & I E iE 21
Prepayments, other receivables AR - g RIE &

and other assets Hih&EE 19
Amounts due from associates JE U B 2 X B 5K 08 22
Amounts due from related parties JRE L2 R Bt 75 5K IR 23
Pledged deposits [mEELYES 24
Cash and cash equivalents RekBFEeFHEEE 24
Total current assets RmENEE
Total assets BmEE
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables g5 RNFIBNENEE 25
Other payables and accruals HiEMNFIBERETER 26
Note payables FERT R & 27
Interest-bearing bank and FTRERIT KA MERK

other borrowings 28
Convertible bonds MR ES 29
Lease liabilities HERE 30
Amounts due to a director JERNEERIE 31
Amounts due to associates JETESE 2 N B FRIB 22
Amount due fo a related party JE A~ — 4 BB 75 318 23

Tax payable

JE BT TR

Total current liabilities BRENEE
Net current liabilities BRBAE
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERTBERS

2023

2023 F
RMB’000
ARBT T

418,342
99,830
46,807

19,760

584,739

64,536
146,292

508,209
27,775
179
32,262
18,327

797,580

1,382,319

789,709
2,291,725
23,922

1,628,000

379
207
208
61,756
91,829

4,887,735

(4,090,155)

(3,505,416)

2022
2022
RMB'O00
ARBETTT

448,216
104,495
47,106

19,756

619,573

100,946
236,494

709,450
25,110
179
703,928
2,391

1,778,498

2,398,071

1,613,636
1,734,252
23,511

1,338,370
231,720
1,858
207

213
61,872
@1,586

5,097,225

(3,318,727)

(2,699,154)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEMBIRAR

As at 31 December 2023 R 2023 12531 A

2023 2022
2023 &£ 2022 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR¥T T AREEF T
Non-current liabilities IRBERE
Lease liabilities HEEE 30 - 372
Deferred government grants A A IR T 4 B 32 644 1,322
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIBEE 33 1,152 1,152
Total non-current liabilities BIEREAE 1,796 2,846
NET LIABILITIES FEE (3,507,212) (2,702,000
EQUITY =
Share capifal fi% 7x 34 363,611 363,611
Reserves & (3,870,823) (3,065,611)
TOTAL EQUITY RS (3,507,212) (2,702,000

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 161 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

2 October 2024 and are signed on ifs behalf by:

Yu Jiangiu
BIEM
Director

EFE

HFNFOOE 161 AZIRE M HIwEMN 2024

FIOA2EEEFTSHERKENE

TATIHIEERKREE

Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
BEE
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

Shore-based
Share Share  Exchonge Capitl ~ Stofutory ~ payment  Accumulated
capital ~ premium reserve  reseve  feseve reserve losses Total
HRRER
kx  RHEE EXRE  EARE  AERE OGREE  EHER Qe
Noles ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMBOO0  RMB'OO0  RMBOOO  RMB'OOO  RMBOOO  RMB'OOO  RMB000
i ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At T January 2022 ROVETAIA 280461 1901321 (11,386) 132055 144,659 14938 752,651 1700397
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (4763152) (4763152
Other comprehensive income EREMEENE
forthe year:
Exchonge differences on fianslaing A E BN EHKE)
foreign operafions EREE - - (39714 - - - - 39714
Totol comprefensive loss for the yeor ~ A2 EFBEE - - 39714 - - - (4763152 (4,802,864
Appropriaiion fo siolvory resenes  BEFETEHE - - - - 3 - 8] -
Share opions lapsed)/forfeied BN/ RIERE - - - - - (33 3 -
Equitysetled sharebased payments D& B DR BER
bATE - - - - - 4939 - 4939
lssuance of ordinary shares BTLER 34 83,150 30349 - - - - - 386,646
Issuance cost BONA - (116) - - - - - [11)
At 31 December 2022 ond R202%F12A318R
1 January 2023 02351818 363,611 2,204701 (51,1000 132055 144,662 19.844 (5,515,773 12,702,000
Loss for the year EnEiE - - - - - - (805,780 (805,780)
Other comprehensive loss for the yeor: AEM2HERE -
Exchange diferences on onslafing & 1§51 7549
foreign operafions ERZE - - (1.839) - - - - (1.83)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  ERZEBRLE - - (1835 - - - (805,780 (807,615
Share oplions lapsed/foreited BRI/ RUERE - - - - - (372) 372 -
Equitysetled shorebased poyments & E DR BER
PALES - - - - - 2,403 - 2,403
A3 Decenter 2003 R0 125318 B30I 24701 D0 13085 MASDT 21875 6321181 (3507212
Note: Bt :

(i

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated negative reserves of

RMB3,870,823,000 (2022: consolidated negative reserve of RMB3,065,611,000) in

the consolidated statement of financial position.

(i)

FZERBREERESRAVBMRARANGAEH
fE# AR 3,870,823,0007T (20224 : &2 A B &
i AR 3,005,611,0007T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
wERERE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

2023 2022
2023 & 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETF T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHMBRERE
Loss before tax A E B (805,767) 4,761,225)
Adjustments for: KLATIEE #HE -
Depreciation of property, Mm% - BERREBITE
plant and equipment 37,688 44,982
Depreciation of rightof-use assets CREEENE 4,678 6,129
Equity-setiled share-based payments AR 25 48 B AR A7 A L0
2R 2,403 4,939
Finance costs B 7% B AR 277,660 234,210
Gain on early termination of lease AR IEAE 2 W= = (110)
Impairment of property, ME - BB NRERE
plant and equipment 2,212
Impairment of prepayments, N Epire &
other deposits and other assefs BB ERE 208,106 1,948,484
Interest income B WA (7,085) (27,449)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items HEMSE  BERZHEEE
of property, plant and equipment 2 (Wzs) /B8 (119) 6,499
Provision for doubtful debts, net REEEEFE 141,978 2,222,673
Provision for inventories FE#EE 2,501 69,829
Waiver of other payables #h o H Ath FE N 5RIR = (822)
Written-off of property, ME - BB KRR ﬁfﬁhﬁﬁ
plant and equipment 69 1,001
Written-off of other receivables A 8 YR IR M 8 = 1,550
Share of losses of associates FE(L B & N R E 1B 791
Operating loss before working capital EEECEBAMNESEEE
changes (137,589) (246,307)
Change in trade and bills payables B RNFIERENZEEREES) (158,490) 259,608
Change in inventories FEE 33,909 18,680
Change in trade and bills receivables B 5 R UWGRIA & e Uk R ik (51,776) (147,702)
Change in other payables and accruals EMENKIENETERE 268,966 65,6506)
Change in prepayments, other receivables — TEATFK + H b FE U FRIE &
and other assets HEiEEZS (24,563) (29,290)
Cash used in operations EEFARE (69,543) (210,673)
Income tax paid ETATEH 230 (1,617)
Net cash used in operating activities KRETHTAFEFRS (69,313) (212,290)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

REZBFERETRE

Cash flows from investing activities

Withdrawal of pledged deposits RIS EMFR

Inferest received EEVEUNSY

Proceeds from disposal of items of property, &Y%  BFERZEEEB
plant and equipment FiS3RIA

Repayment from associates it = R B (EE R

ERGR T RARE T KB e R A

MYE - BELREEE M
1% A EN K

Advance to related parties and associates
Payments for items of property, plant and
equipment and right-ofuse assets

Net cash generated from investing activities X & EE TS FRE

Cash flows from financing activities METHFERERE

New bank and other borrowings FERIT R EHAERK

Advance from related parties and associates 2R B BB 77 [ B & 2 Bl 6 A 3R
Advance from a director KE—REENBRK
Repayment of bank and other borrowings B2 $R17 & H {8 3K

Interest paid B FE
Guarantee fees and other charges ERERKEMMAX
Principal portion of lease liabilities HERENASED

Repayment to related parties and associates  fE 3% B 5t 77 K Bt & 2 BI5KIA
Share issuance cost P An B 1T AR

Net cash generated from financing activities BEZE TS FRE

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBEESESHEEENW
cash equivalents FiEgmMm, Ol )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUREMRLFEIERR

of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ & &) 5 2 &

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREERRESZEEHIER
Andlysis of cash and cash equivalents ReERkASEEEBINT
Bank and cash balances R& MIRITHEER

2023

2023 F
RMB’000
AR®TR

17,183
339
(2,66;)
(498)

14,359

80,600
(116)

(268)
(3,797)
(3,643)
(1,864)
(5)

70,907

15,953

2,391
(17)

18,327

18,327

2022
2022
RMB'000
ARETT

46,023
50976
200
[25,824)
(11,208)
(6,785)
(3,356)
(3971)
(116)

4,519

(@,480)

11,953
(82)

2,391

2,391
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited (the “Company”] was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 February 2013.

The Company and its subsidiaries (fogether referred to as the
"Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacturing and
frading of copper and related products. The shares of the
Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong limited [“the Stock Exchange”) since 21
February 2014. In the opinion of the directors, the holding
company and ultimate holding company of the Company is
Epoch Keen Limited (“Epoch Keen”), which is incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands ("BVI").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB”), while the Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong
Dollars ("HK$").

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately
RMB805,780,000 and RMB4,763,152,000 respectively for
two consecutive years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB4,090,155,000 and net liabilities of
approximately RMB3,507,212,000. By the end of the reporting
period, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB18,327,000, while debts repayable within
one year or on demand (including inferestbearing bank and other
borrowings and note payables) were approximately
RMB1,651,922,000. In addition, as at 31 December 2023,
the Group had defaulted the repayment of interestbearing bank
and other borrowings and note payables of approximately
RMB1,548,000,000 and RMB23,922,000 respectively. In
addition, as described in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2023, the Group was also
involved in various litigations resulting in the freezing of several
bank accounts and the seizure of property, plant and equipment,
rightofuse assets and inventories. All these conditions indicated
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt as to the Group's ability to continue as a going concem.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

In light of the above, the Directors of the Company have
implemented, or in the process of implementing various financial

plans and measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve its financial position. These measures included but not
limited to the followings:

(i)

The Group is in the process of restructuring the debt.
Mianyang Tongxin Copper Co., ltd. 485 2 i 3 A [
2 A]) ("Tongxin”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company; and Mianyang Jin Xunhuan Metal Materials
Co., Ud. (SB52BIRESBMEAR 2R ("in Xunhuan”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, were
both undergoing a resfructuring with the existing debt
holders in accordance with the applicable provisions of the
Enterprise Bankruptcy Law in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC"). The restructuring involved the filing of a
voluntary application for bankruptey reorganisation with the
People’s Court of Youxian District (the “Youxian Court”) in
the Mianyang City, Sichuan Province, the PRC. On 3
January 2023, the Company received from the Youxian
Court concerning the Youxian Court’s civil rulings, court
decisions and notice to the Relevant Subsidiaries
(collectively known as “"Youxian Court Documents”)
regarding the reorganisation. Pursuant to which, the
Youxian Court Documents indicated that the Youxian Court
accepted the application from the Tongxin and Jin Xunhuan
for bankruptcy reorganisation in accordance with the
Enterprise Bankruptcy Law in the PRC. The first creditors’
meeting was held on 28 March 2023.

In addition to the bankruptcy reorganisations of Tongxin
and Jin Xunhuan, Mianyang Baohe Taiyue Communications
Cable Co. lid. (RN FHBEREFTR 2 )
(“Taiyue”], an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, is undergoing restructuring ifs existing
indebtedness with existing debt holders through the
applicable provisions of the Enterprise Bankruptcy Law of
the PRC. A voluntary application for the aforementioned
bankruptcy reorganization of Taiyue (the “Taiyue Bankruptey
Reorganisation Application”] has been filed with the
Youxian Court on 18 May 2023. On 24 May
2023, Taiyue received the Youxian Court's civil ruling dated
23 May 2023. According fo the civil ruling dafed 23 May
2023, the Youxian Court has accepted the Taiyue
Bankruptcy Reorganisation Application.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

(i)

(Continued)

Hunan Yinlian Xiangbei Copper Co., ld. (#F8 #RE 8 Ik
2 A PR 2 ) ("Yinlian Xiangbei”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, received a civil ruling
(the “Civil Ruling”) from the People’s Court of Miluo City,
Hunan Province (the “Court of Miluo City”) in relafion to a
petition for winding-up against Yinlian Xiangbei filed by
Hunan Miziyuan Asset Holdings Co., lid. (J#iFEZIRE
X&EBE AR AA) ("Miziyuan”), a creditor of Yinlian
Xiangbei, on the ground that Yinlian Xiangbei was unable
fo repay the debts falling due. The debts involved were in
the amount of approximately RMB11.9 million. Yinlian
Xiangbei opposed the pefition and applied to the Court of
Miluo City for bankruptcy reorganisation instead. According
fo the Civil Ruling, after taking info account the situafion of
Yinlian Xiangbei and the bankruptcy reorganisation of the
Company's other three subsidiaries in Mianyang City,
Sichuan Province, the Court of Miluo City rejected
Miziyuan's petition for winding-up and accepted Yinlian
Xiangbei's bankruptcy reorganisation application on 21 July
2023. The first creditor's meeting was held on 5 January
2024.

Hubei Rongsheng Copper Co., lid* [1LEl 2 & B & m
BBRAR]) ("Hubei Rongsheng”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, received a decision dated 12
September 2023 and notice to Hubei Rongsheng dated
12 September 2023 from the People’'s Court of Yunmeng
County, Hubei Province in relation to Hubei Rongsheng's
application for pre-restructuring in accordance with the
pre-resfructuring procedure under the applicable provisions
of the Enterprise Bankruptcy Law of the People’s Republic of
China fo prepare for ifs infended bankruptcy reorganisation
application an 12 September 2023.

Tongxin, Jin Xunhuan, Taiyue, Yinlion Xiangbei and Hubei
Rongsheng are collectively known as the "Relevant

Subsidiaries”;

The Company has been negotiating with Huarong (as
defined in nofe 29| for further extension of the Huarong CBs
(as defined in note 29) (Huarong CBs has been reclassified
as ofher borrowings during the year ended 31 December
2023), which were matured and fall due on 31 December
2022 and with creditors, banks, financial institutions and
nofe holders for alternative refinancing and/or extension of
the due dates;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

(ifi)

v)

The Group has been liaising with banks and financial
institutions from which cross default clauses as stipulated in
the relevant loan agreements were breached by the Group;

The Group has been actively seeking other financing
arrangements with a view fo obtain new funding, including
but not limited to convertible bonds with amount ranged of
RMB400 million from investors, subject to certain
conditions;

The Group has been endeavouring to improve the Group's
operating performance and cash flows through cost control
measures and working capital management to maintain

sufficient liquidity; and

The Group has been in the process of resolving the Group's
litigation to release the freezing orders on bank accounts
and seizure orders on property, plant and equipment, right-
ofuse assefs and inventories.

The Directors of the Company are of the opinion that future cash
flow generated from operation together with the financial plans
and measures will be sufficient to repay all these liabilities. The
directors of the Company are therefore of the opinion that it is

appropriate fo prepare the consolidated financial statements on @
going concem basis.

Although the Directors of the Company have formulated a number
of plans and taken a number of measures, there are sill significant
uncertainties as to whether the Group will be able to implement

its plans and measures. The Group's ability fo confinue as a
going concem is dependent on the following matters:

(i)

(i)

(ifi)

Successful completion of the restructuring by Relevant

Subsidiaries;

Successful negotiation with an offshore lender on debt
extension;

The Group's ability to seek cooperation with banks and
financial institutions for which cross default clauses were

breached:

The Group's ability to scale down its operation while
mainfaining positive ongoing business relationship with the
Group's suppliers;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continved)

(v]  The Group's ability to successfully obtain new source of
funding; and

(vl The Group's ability to successfully resolve the pending
litigations of the Group and releasing freeze of bank
accounts and seizure of property, plant and equipment,
rightof-use assets and inventories.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concem,
adjustments would have to be made fo the consolidated financial
statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and fo reclassify non-current assefs and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)
that are relevant to its operations and effective for ifs accounting
year beginning on 1 January 2023. IFRSs comprise Infernational
Financial Reporting Standards; Infernational Accounting Standards
("IAS") and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and
revised IFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group's
accounting policies, presentation of the Group's consolidated
financial statements and amounts reported for the current year
and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and
revised IFRSs but is not yef in a position fo state whether these
new and revised IFRSs would have a material impact on its results
of operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Goveming the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires the directors of the Company fo
exercise their judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and
areas where assumptions and esfimates are significant fo these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and ifs subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group confrols an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability fo affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. acfivities that significantly affect the entfity’s refurns.

When assessing control, the Group considers ifs pofential voting
rights as well as pofential voting rights held by other parties, to
determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
fransferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
the control ceases.
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HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Consolidation (Continved)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment refained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
fransaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
fransferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are affributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
fransactions [i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling inferests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and atfributed to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used fo account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date
fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company'’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assefs and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is aftributed to the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity inferest in
the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive income
(for example, equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income), the amount that was recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised on the same basis as would
be required if the previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses of
goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated fo cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entfities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
fo significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability
fo exercise or convert that right is nof considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable
assefs and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is tesfted for
impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Associates [Continved)

The Group's share of an associate’s postacquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and ifs share of
the postacquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative postacquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. VWhen
the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group
resumes recognising its share of those profits only affer its share of
the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in o
loss of significant influence represents the difference between |i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment refained in that associate and (i} the Group's
share of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining
goodwill relafing fo that associate and any related accumulated
foreign currency franslation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
refained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated 1o the extent of the Group's interests in
the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
fransaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
fransferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary fo ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
group entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB. The Company's functional
currency is Hong Kong Dollars. The direcfors consider that
choosing RMB as the presentation currency best suits the
needs of the shareholders and investors.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rafes af the end of each reporting period. Gains
and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
af the dates when the fair values are defermined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the group entfities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are franslated af the closing rate af
the date of that statement of financial position;

[i) Income and expenses are franslated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is nof a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rafes prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the fransaction dates); and

(i) Al resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the foreign currency translation reserve.
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Annual Report 2023 « ZE = =FF#H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

() Translation on consolidation (Continuved)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
franslation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and franslated at the closing
rafe.

Property, plant and equipment

land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the assef's carrying amount or
recognised as a separafe assef, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the ifem can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rafes sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straightline basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

The shorter of the unexpired
ferm of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no
more than 20 years affer the
date of completion

5to 10 years

3to 10 years

3 to 10 years

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fittings and equipment
Motor vehicles

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
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China Metal Resources Utilization Limited « Bl & B & R F A AR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Property, plant and equipment (Confinued)

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated af
cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the
relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

The Group as lessee

leases are recognised as rightofuse assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assefs are available for use by
the Group. Rightof-use assefs are sfated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of rightof-use
assefs is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straightline basis.
The principal annual rate is as follows:

4.
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Furniture, fittings and equipment 3 1o 10 years B BEEE RE® 3E104F
Motor vehicles 3 1o 10 years B 3EI10F

Rightof-use assets are measured af cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct cosfs and the restoration costs. lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the inferest rate implicit in the lease if that rate
can be determined, or otherwise the Group's incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as o produce a constant periodic rafe
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with shorterm leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straightline basis over the lease terms. Shortterm leases are
leases with an inifial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000 (approximately
equivalent fo RMB35,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Inventories

Inventories are stated atf the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is defermined using the weighted average basis. The
cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of all
production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
cosfs of completion and the estimated cosfs necessary to make
the sale.

Construction contracts in progress

Construction contracts in progress are sfated at the lower of cost
and nef realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct cosfs attributable to
such confracts. Net realisable value is defermined by reference fo
the contract prices.

Recognition and derecogpnition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party
fo the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the confractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the assefs but has not retained
confrol on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Financial assets

Financial assefs are recognised and derecognised on a frade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under o
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concemed, and are initially
recognised at fair value, plus directly atiributable fransaction costs
except in the case of investments at fair value through profit or
loss. Transaction costs directly affributable to the acquisition of
investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assefs of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

—  Financial assefs at amortised cost

(i)  Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade, loan and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they safisfy
both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assefs in order to collect
contractual cash flows: and

— the contractual terms of the assefs give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of
a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal fo the
expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for frade receivables or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal fo the
portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the
expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporfing period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial insfitutions, and shortterm
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible info known
amounfs of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
fo the substance of the confractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any confract that evidences a
residual inferest in the assefs of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Convertible loans

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert the loans into
a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion price
are regarded as compound instruments consist of a liability and
an equity component. At the dafe of issue, the fair value of the
liability component is estimated using the prevailing market
inferest rafe for similar non-convertible debt. The fair value of any
derivative features embedded in the compound instruments is
included in the liability component. The difference between the
proceeds of issue of the convertible loans and the fair values
assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded
option for the holder to convert the loans info equity of the Group,
is included in equity as capital reserve. The liability component is
carried as a liability at amortised cost using the effective interest
method until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
derivative components are measured at fair value with gains and
losses recognised in profit or loss.

If the identifiable consideration received by the Group appears to
be less than the fair value of the convertible loans issued, the
Group measures the unidentifiable services received (to be
received) as the difference between the fair value of the
convertible loans issued and that of the identifiable consideration
received, and the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible loans based on their relative
carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating fo the
equity component is charged directly fo equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised inifially af fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer sefflement of the liability for at
least twelve months affer the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, nef of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
confract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service fo a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply fo that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over fime if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance;

—  the Group's performonce creafes or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced:
or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continved)

—  the Group's performance does not creafe an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to

date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference fo the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised af a point in fime when the customer obtains confrol

of the product or service.

Other income

Inferest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the

effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(@) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by

employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entiflements to sick leave and matemity leave are

not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group confributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees
are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic
salaries. The refirement benefit scheme cost charged to
profit or loss represents confributions payable by the Group

to the funds.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
refirement scheme organised by the government in the PRC.
The Group s required fo contribute a specific percentage of
the payroll of its employees tfo the refirement scheme. The
confributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement
scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers fo reduce the existing level of contribufions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised af the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-setiled share-based payments to certain
directors and employees. Equity-sefiled share-based payments are
measured at the fair value [excluding the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments af the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
seffled share-based payments is expensed on a straightline basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-
based vesting condifions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly affributable fo the acquisition, construction
or production of qualitying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
infended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
infended use or sale. Investment income eamed on the femporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obfaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
aftaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to mafch them with the
cosfs they are infended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
deducted from the carrying amount of the assets. The grant is
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset by
way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current fax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes ifems of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assefs and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding fax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised fo the exfent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assefs
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Taxation (Continved)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed af the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is seftled or the assef is
realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
fax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates fo items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
fax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, fo recover or
sefile the carrying amount of its assefs and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current fax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same faxation authority and the Group infends fo seftle ifs
current fax assefs and liabilities on a net basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(Al

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(i)
(i)

has confrol or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of the same
group [which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity {or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third enfity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a postemployment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person idenfified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services o
the Company or to a parent of the Company.

4, ERETHE®)

BT
BRR TR AR R B AR A LB

—AATHEHERBBHTAAT
fER1FBIAR AN SR B RO RE S 0T

(Al

(B)

(i)
(i)
(ifi)

| SR IES A RE
HAKBEREARE ' &

YNNI RN/NIES YN
FEEBAB o

AR MEMMRIFH B ERR SR

SEOR T
)] ZEREASBEETERR
Fl—S&EaKE 7 (A%

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)

(v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

SN Y= NI Y )
NI AR SRR DR

—MERAS_EROHE
AREAEAT (AT

[=S)
Eﬁfﬁﬁ%%ZﬁX PNy
/N

'3

I \ﬂ]]U ><" i

—H=FZ

—EEBAE=ZAZAER
Al MBS —BRBAEE=F2

B nml e

%%%K%limﬁlﬁ
ERUNEERTH ANE
BAETEl - AR ERE RS
FTEl TET/\,\Ej]E’MEI
$'§@F‘§ 9F°

BRAEMITAAL
ek L RFE I -

S P EEY

B Ry E“n\ i} i}

v

He X§
i**‘ﬂﬂﬁ}

'—\+ b=1

Zz
>

N

) TR AT 98 A £ 213
BEEANEAALE
AHEEEAF)NEE
A -

Jﬁf

il EE?% mi}

/\

ZERIZERESEE
TEMRER Tﬁ$‘$l&
AABBARREEIEERE
ABRT -



Annual Report 2023 « ZE = =FF#H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group's various
lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its fangible and other intangible assefs except
goodwill, deferred tax assefs, inventories and receivables fo
defermine whether there is any indicafion that those assefs have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible fo
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of cash-generating units
["CGU") to which the assef belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted fo their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU s estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or
CGU is reduced fo its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried af a revalued amount, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved)

Impairment of assets (Continved)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been defermined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or CGU in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
freated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected fo settle the obligafion.

Where it is not probable that an oufflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not
appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the nofes
when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATION

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors

have made the following judgements that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated

financial statements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is
explained in nofe 2 to consolidated financial statements.

Income tax

Defermining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future fax freatment of certain transactions. Management
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax
provisions are sef up accordingly. The fax freatment of these
transactions is reconsidered periodically by taking into
account all changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for deductible temporary differences. As
deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available,
management’s judgement is required fo assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management’s
assessment is constantly reviewed and additional deferred
fax assets, if any, are recognised if it becomes probable
that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Withholding taxes arising from the distribution of
dividends

In estimating the withholding taxes on dividends expected
to be distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008, the directors have made an assessment
based on factors including future profitability, the dividend
policy and the level of capital and working capital required
for the Group's operations in the foreseeable future. No
deferred tax liabilities in respect of undistributed profits have
been recognised as at 31 December 2023 (2022: nil) as
the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is not
probable that these profits will be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATION

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are discussed below.

(@) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-

of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and rightofuse assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds ifs recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the present value of estimated
future cash flows. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected or there are unfavourable events and change in
facts and circumstance which result in revision of future
estimate cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.

(b) Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

and other receivables

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of the
trade and other receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
actual result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the frade and
other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in

which such estimate has been changed.

() Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-sirafegic assets that have been

abandoned or sold.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATION
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Measurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
The Group estimated the right-of-use assets and lease
licbilities based on the terms of the rental agreements and
the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Estimates are
required in determining the Group's incremental borrowing
rafe.

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on
the ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of inventories and allowance
charge/writeback in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, inferest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure fo foreign currency risk as
most of its business fransactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in the functional currencies of the
Group entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group's cerfain bank deposits and borrowings bear
interests af fixed interest rates and therefore are subject o
fair value interest rate risks.
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6.

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, all of the Group's

interest-bearing borrowings are fixed rate borrowings, no
sensifivity analysis on interest rafe risk is presented.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables,
deposits, amounts due from associates, amounts due from
related parties and bank balances included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents the
Group's maximum exposure o credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counferparties are banks with high creditratings assigned
by infemational creditrating agencies.

Amounts due from associates and related parties are closely
monitored by the directors.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assefs on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period by comparing the
risk of a default occurring as at the reporting date with the
risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. Especially the following information is
used:

— infernal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

—  significant changes in the value of the collateral or in
the quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

—  significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrower.

6. SRMNREARARERE &)

(b)

(c)

R REE (&)
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EERE -

AEETESEETHNEERR
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REEERRNEPHEES -

BN S5 HFHHHEREEN
A TE T E R @ S B AR AR
17 BBEBRTESRNEERR
BAHR -

AL 2 E BB B
Lz saIEE .

AEELBSMEEN RS A B
ZE K, B K WA TR A B

ERER  AFHeREEZE
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6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continved)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is
more than 30 days past due in making a contfractual
payment. A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contfractual payments within 180
days of when they fall due.

Financial assefs are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a receivable for write off when a debtor fails to
make confractual payments greater than 360 days past
due. Where receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to affempt to recover the receivable
due.

The Group uses two categories for nonrade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is
defermined for each of the categories. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical
loss rafes for each category and adjusts for forward looking
data.

6. ERREARARKRERE &)

(c)

EERRE)

BB A B A K RIABB
308 - AR EFEER R A RS
e BHF I RERA K FKIAL
HIER 180 A RIAR - &
WMEEBHIREL -

ERERHEINCeREE (1
{875 A R BE B 7 52 8] 22 P38 3R AT
R EREERNTME - M
BT AT H7E 38 360 R ) R AL

NELRE  AIAEE RS H
5 8 U SR IR o fie 8 LA 3R IR A
o AAKREEERATRGS
RBEM BT - A RER
177 2 L B 4 (2] 2 HA e Y 5108 o

A& B {5 A R EE E B R URIA
Bh RRZEERZEERR
BB EEBRBEEZT
AR ERPEEBEREXRE
AEBEREZRZELER
& WA M BIREL A -

Category Definition Loss provision

Eba]l BE BERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity fo pay 12 month expected losses
E%E K32 Q= e & X2 Be higid 1218 A fEHAES 18

Significant increase in credit risk
B ON R

Non-performing
TR
Liquidity risk
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it mainfains

sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

(d)

Lifetime expected losses
2 HIFEHIE R

REBESER

AEEOBRBTERESR B AT R
BHORBESTE  ARERE
MR RNRSHEERMNEH R
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6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. TRREXRAKREE @)

(Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Confinued) d) #"EBELRSE)
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of AEENSRABRERTERR
the Group's financial liabilities is as follows: SRAROBN BRI
On demand Total
or less than undiscounted
lyear  1-2years  2-5years  cash flows
BERSH AR
—FLT —EWMFE WMELF RER
As at 31 December 2023 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
R2023512A31H ARBTRE AR¥TR AR®BTR AR¥TR
Trade and bills payables BHREMNTIER
JER R 789,709 789,709
Other payables and accruals — Efth &~ 508 Jo
FEEtER 915,232 915,232
Note payables NS 23,922 23,922
Interestbearing bank and AERITREM
other borrowings e 1,631,675 1,631,675
lease liabilities HE&afE 386 386
Amounts due to a director ENEETR 207 207
Amounts due to associates  FEfTE & A Bl FUR 208 208
Amount due to a related party  FEF — % BB HSE 75 5RIE 61,756 61,756
3,423,095 3,423,095
On demand Tofal
or less than undiscounted
1 year 1-2 vears 2-5years  cash flows
RENY BARITR
—FUT —EWF MERF Bem
As at 31 December 2022 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M2022%12A31H ARETT ARBTT ARBETRT ARETR
Trade and bills payables EHRENFIAR
e E& 1,613,636 - - 1,613,636
Other payables and accruals — E 4t FE 1< 518 )2
[EstE A 565,872 - - 565,872
Note payables AN 23,511 - - 23,511
Inferest-bearing bank and i RERTT R EAM
other borrowings B3 1,338,370 - - 1,338,370
Convertible bonds BRES 231,720 - - 231,720
lease liabilities HEARE 2,188 379 - 2,567
Amounts due to a director ENEERIEA 207 - - 207
Amounts due fo associates AT & A Bl FRIE 213 - - 213
Amount due to a related party 1 — 4 BB 75 50 B 61,872 - - 61,872

3,837,589

wW

<

O
I

3,837,968
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December

6. SRMNREARARERE &)

(e)

RI12A3TEMER T AESR

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARET T
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets ot amortised cost REHENANAENSREE
(including cash and cash (BRERE kRS
equivalents) £EIER) 278,506 987,222
Financial liabilities TRAE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IRESERX NGt 2SR E & 3,419,034 3,835,401
()  Fair values H 2FE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and maMBRRARMIANEE TR
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement BEFSREENERESEER
of financial position approximate their respective fair values. FEEE -
(g) Capital risk management g EBEXmEmER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able
fo continue as a going concern while maximising the refum
fo stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains

unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes borrowings and amounts due fo related parties,
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, which

includes share capital and reserves.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
issuance of new shares as well as raising of borrowings, if

necessary.

AREBEEEEERARREE AR
BRE RAREBECERER
SEFEENEAREEESR
AEH - AEENREBHBEKE £

AEBNERNGEREGR (B
B R AR KD Ko 5 BA B U7 FROR
ARARABHEE ANEEER (B
hEEEALFER) o

AEBEEEBEHEREANS
B AKHEZFERESBENERR
BB RPN ME B - A% R T
IR - BITHRARESER
()T A FEHERRBER
B
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised info business
units based on their products and services and has three
reportable operating segments as follows:

() Recycled copper products segment: use of scrap copper
and electrolytic copper for the manufocturing and trading of
recycled copper products, and trading of electrolytic copper
and nickel products;

[i)  Power fransmission and distribution cables segment:
manufacturing and sales of power transmission and
distribution cables; and

(i) Communication cables segment: manufacturing and sales
of communication cables.

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products. They are managed separately because
each business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. Segment results do not include certain inferest income,
non-lease-related finance costs, corporate and other unallocated
expenses as well as share of losses of associate.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group's profit
before tax except that cerfain interest income, corporate and
other unallocated expenses, certain finance costs as well as share
of loss of associates are excluded from such measurement.

A measurement of segment assets and liabilities is not provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management and
accordingly, no information about segment assefs or liabilities is
presented.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the
sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market
prices.

7.

EEBERDTHER

EEMS  NEERBEHEMMR
BRI EBEL XD/ THA 2R

Z=(AgE DL
i) BEFERDE f&*&ﬁﬁ!?frﬂ&

ﬁ¢fﬂ$?&,\,\@$fﬂFuD
T EE SRR N E M

i) ZEEEEBES: EENHEEER

BE R
i) BEEEIH AEREEBE
BE -

AEEAHREDBRERTIAERLZ
REEXBEML ARNSEBFED
Rl 4 17 Jo i 455 1 JE SRS - AU 0 BE 8
MER o

KESANSHRREGAVERE
BIsE4FT 5 BAE AR - o BEE LT
BRETHBWA - FEHEMEEHB
BRA S EREMAD BRI IAKLE
(B2 N R EIE -

EEEERERASESKE D IE
%EWHHﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ/‘ﬁaﬁﬁiﬁpﬂﬁm
R o D ERIFIBIZE A 25D 560% A
(A AR FIFTE) %M.ﬂﬁ

KRARMAIRMNIREFTTEASETA
wmA—BzAFRAFE BT EWR
A ERHEMRSERS BT
TSR AN DA % B B 5 2 B 5 1B 39 T 5T
AFZFENR -

HRAIEEMAAEEZSRITRE
BABRBNIMEERBBEZFTE
At W |25 D AEEL B BEEF

REE o BRI $H & N R ARAE A A
FZNRERMEHEREE -



7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Conrinved)

(a)

Segment results

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference fo the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.

Recycled
copper
products
BEWEM
RMB’000
ARBT

Segment revenue PHEXRE
Sales to external customers RN R PEITIEE 833,966
Intersegment sales HEEHEE 6,747

840,713

Reconciliation: %
Elimination of intersegment sales 889 HRHE

Revenue EE
Segment results AHEE (490,395)
Reconciliation: HEE
Inferest income F B YA 7,085
Corporate and other PEREMANERX

unallocated expenses
Finance costs BRI (240,100)
Share of losses of associates [EfhEE e N A)EE
Loss before tax WAl EE

Other segment information Htt 2 HEH

Depreciation and amortisation EREH (31,867)
VAT refunds, govemment gronts ~ SE{EFURTE - B4 B

and subsidies R85 44,337
Impairment on advance SRR SURRE

payments fo suppliers (208,106)
Provision for doubtful debis, net AERETE (140,503)
[Provision|/reversal of provision BE(BE)/ BERD

for inventories (3,117)

Annual Report 2023 « —F — = FF 3}
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

7. BEBERTHER @)

(o) DIEE

DHEEHE KBRS ERER
BRITMEBRAE=FHEMBNE

BETRS -
2023
2023 %

Power
fransmission

and distribution Communication

cables cables
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥Txn

3,498

(25,359) (1,105)

(2,844)

(9,328)

(688)

616

Total

At
RMB’000
ARETR

837,704
6,747

844,451

(6,747)
837,704

(516,859)
7,085
(52,713)

(242,981)
(299)

(805,767)

(41,196)
44,337

(208,106)
(141,978)

(2,501)
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Conrinved)

7. EXBRIBER (®)

(@) Segment results (Continved) DEEE(B)
2022
2022 F
Power
Recycled  fransmission
copper and distribution - Communication
products cables cables Tolal
BEREM KR EE BEEE B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR®Tr ARETH
Segment revenue PHERE
Sales to external customers MM PHEATIHE 2,385,928 5,081 700 2,391,709
Infersegment sales DEEEE 4,278 - - 4,278
2,390,206 5,081 700 2,395,087
Reconciliation: Hik -
Elimination of intersegment sales %1357 P 8 & (4,278
Revenue EER 2,391,709
Segment results DWEE (4,459,753] [65,457) (25,494)  (4,550,704]
Reconciliation: HEE
Interest income FBUA 27 448 - | 27 449
Corporate and other PEREMARDERX
unallocated expenses (30,630
Finance costs BT (201,773] (4,026 (750) (206,549
Share of losses of associates (O N R BB (791)
Loss before tax Al B (4,761,225]
Other segment information Hitp BEH
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (38,812) (9,344) (2,955 (51,117
VAT refunds, govemment gronts ~ SEMEFLIRTE - T4 B
and subsidies L 105,791 - 44 105,835
Impairment on advance B ERFERME
payments fo suppliers (1,948,484) - - (1,948,484
Provision for doubtful debts, net REEEFE (2,170,908] [26,861) (24,904) (2,222,673
Provision for inventories FEREE (69,829 - - (69,829
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Coniinved) 7. & XEER D HBER (4

(b) Geographic information b) HEER
The Group carries out ifs business operations in the PRC, REERPELEES Bl
thus no separafe geographical segment analysis based on BRI EERERBENERM
the location of assefs and the revenue and profit or loss are FE Bl 3 B B LR 9 #R AT o
presented.

(c) Information about major customers ) BHEETEEFHNER
Revenue from each of the major customers, which KEHAEBEETRI0%HIA L
contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue, is set out MEEFERFPHRAE EEHT
below: N

2023 2022

2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T N

Recycled copper products segment B3 4 #f & a0 59 &6

Customer A* =P A 252,998 N/AE A

Customer B* BEB* N/AFEH 707,097

Customer C* BEC* N/ATE 372,918

Customer D* ZFED* N/ATE A 245,284

252,998 1,325,299
# Customer A had less than 10% of the Group's revenue for the year ended # HZE2022F 12831 BIEFE - BEF

31 December 2022. AMAEELEENE10% -

* Customer B, C and D had less than 10% of the Group's revenue for the * HZE2023F12A31HLEE - BF

year ended 31 December 2023. B CRDEAEHLEETR10%°

8. REVENUE 8.

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T N R

Revenue from contracts with customers EREAHEXERE 837,704 2,391,709
Revenue from contracts with customers are mainly derived from BEPAENEERFTEBPRAE K
manufacturing and sales of copper and related products in the ERNEBEREL  EPEXRD
PRC, of which the revenue was recognised at a point in time 1R E B ) fE B RE AR -

when goods were transferred.
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8. REVENUE (Continved) 8. EXXw»
The amount of each significant category of revenue is as follows: BEBERFRIEXBELBENT

2023 2022

2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T NN

Sales of recycled copper products tHE B A E m 811,094 2,383,263
Sales of power transmission and HEXREE

distribution cables 3,498 5,081
Sales of communication cables HEBEEE 240 700

Sales of scrap materials tHERBEEME 17,797 1,675
Others HAfty 5,075 990

837,704 2,391,709

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BEFEREEENDE

2023
2023 %

Power
Recycled  transmission
copper and distribution Communication
products cables cables Total
BEWERM rREH BFEE At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR®Tn AR¥T:R

Sales of recycled copper products  $H&E B4 HEM 811,094 811,094
Sales of power fransmission and HERREE

distribution cables 3,498
Sales of communication cables HEREEER 240
Sales of scrap materials HEBEEME 17,797

Others Hi 5,075

Total revenue from contracts with REANEELE
customers 833,966 837,704

Timing of revenue recognition EXERIRH
Goods fransferred at a point in fime 74 3 (R A B 88 3 & i 833,966 837,704
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8. REVENUE (Continved) 8. BEHw)
2022
2022
Power
Recycled  fransmission
copper  and distribufion - Communication

products cables cables Total
BARER 2REE BEEER st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETET ARETR

Sales of recycled copper products & B4 HE M 2,383,263 - - 2383263
Sales of power fransmission and HEXRESR
disfribution cables - 5,081 - 5,081
Sales of communication cables HEREEE - - 700 700
Sales of scrap materials HEREEN R 1,675 - - 1,675
Others Hit 990 - - 990
Total revenue from contracts EPANEXRE
with customers 2,385,928 5,081 700 2,391,709
Timing of revenue recognition EXERARE
Goods fransferred at a point in fime R E R EEE @ 2,385,928 5,081 700 2,391,709
Sale of goods HEEm
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the BRAOBEERRNEmEF R - MR
goods and payment is generally due within O to 3 months from BEBRXMROEIMANEIE - ML
delivery, except for new customers, where payment in advance is MEFPME  RBEERBEEMNK -

normally required.
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9. OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSES), GAIN/(LOSS), NET

9. HEKA (%) -
&/ (BE)

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
5 AR®ETR ARET T
VAT refunds BEFERK
— Comprehensive utilisation — RENAER
of resources (i) 27,605
— Others — HAtb 181
Other taxes refunds H A B TR AR 5K 1,574
Government grants BT %8 B (ii) 63,884
Government subsidies BT 4 B (i) 12,591
Interest income MBS A 27,449
Foreign exchange differences, net ~ F4NEZEFE 10,660
Waiver of other payables Eh oo H h FE A 5R0R 822
Written-off of property, WEEE - BB RRiE
plant and equipment (1,001)
Written-off of other receivables i 4 L At W kIR (1,550)
Gain on early termination of leases 2 F & 1FHHE Wz 110
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEWE  BE&EHEN
property, plant and equipment W, (E18) (6,499)
Impairment of property, M - BB LR ERE
plant and equipment (2,212)
Others Efth 2,523
136,137
Notes: BT

(i)

The Group is entiled to goverment grants for refunds of 30% for the year ended

31 December 2023 (2022: 30%) of the net VAT paid/payable.

The Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation jointly issued a

notice concerning the “Catalogue on Products and Labour Services relating to

Comprehensive Utilisation of Resources Eligible for Concessions of Value-added
Tax" (Cai Shui 2015 (No. 78)) (the “New VAT Policy”) on 12 June 2015, which
replaced, amongst others, Cai Shui 2011 No. 115 (the “Former VAT Policy”)).

Under the Former VAT Policy, certain subsidiaries of the Group are entitled to

govemnment grants for refunds of 50% of the net VAT paid/payable. The New
VAT Policy took effect on 1 July 2015. According to the New VAT Policy, the
applicable VAT refunds for such subsidiaries are reduced from 50% to 30%.

HE2023F12A31HIEFE - KAEEBR
JEBIEE R 30% (20224 : 30%) B FEf
BEVFENRBRERBATEE -

BBRBEEAREFELRNR2015F6A12H
BAEBEHER(ERGAMNBERMS G
EREER ) BN (B 2015 (78%))
(IFEERKER]  EBR (AR e iR
2011 (1155%) (TANEERER]D) < RIEFTIE
EREE  AEEETHERRESFSHESR
50% B A TEA B EBUE AR BERBUT
e MBERKENR2015F7A1RE
oo RBHMBERBE  ZEMERRNE
FRIEE BRI LL P 50% 8 2= 30% °
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9. OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSES), GAIN/(LOSS), NET
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

The amounts represent local government grants received by operating subsidiaries
of the Group in the PRC for the purpose of providing immediate financial support
to those subsidiaries for general operating purposes with no future related costs.

No specific condifions are required fo meet in connection with these grants.

In 2023, the Group was granted unconditional government subsidies of
RMB19,518,000 (2022: RMB12,591,000) from Youxian District Finance
Bureau, Mianyang City, Sichuan Province. The government subsidies were
received through Sichuan Baohe Fushan Resources Recycling Development Co.,
ltd. ("Baohe Fushan’), an associate of the Group. Baohe Fushan is principally
engaged in the operation and the development of an industrial park in Mianyang
City, Sichuan Province, where most of the Group's subsidiaries are located.
Baohe Fushan received the government subsidies and distributed to the Group.
Baohe Fushan has the discrefionary right fo distribute the government subsidies,
with reference to the amounts of tax payments made by the entities located in the
industrial park.

10. FINANCE COSTS

9. HaFWA (BIx) -k
&=,/ (E#8) @)

BiaE

(il

(i)

(%)

ZECHEEAREANTEZZEMNBARM
WOERE 75 BT # B - (E R % S HIE R F)
B RNES B BRIR B) - AR —REE - T
EELARBEBKA - BAREERZEHE)
ARG -

R2023%F - AEEES M)A R T I
EFBRBUROERTRTHEBARE
19,518,000 7T (20224 : AR¥
12,591,00070) - ZF BB B ALK
Bk AR ERME LBLEARME
ERATTRME W) R - RAMELEE
HEM) B ST — AT ERERAOLE RME -
AEBMRBOMBEAREZELE - RM
BLUESHRTHRYDETALKE -RNE
WEMEEZ2RIXEASEENDRSHE
D EIRAT AR -

10. B # R A

Inferest expenses in relation to:

— Bank and other borrowings

— Default fee

— lease liabilities

— Convertible bonds
— Note payables

— Bills payables

Guarantee fees and other charges

BRANLTEENANEMAX
— RIT R EAMBEK
— BHER
—HERE
— ARAE S
- BNEE
- BNRE
ERERIEMKE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTR ARBT T
140,947 109,451
123,531 86,684
331 1,042

- 17,072

2,979 2,833
6,229 10,343
3,643 6,785
277,660 234,210

113



114

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited « Bl & B & R F A AR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

This is sfated at after charging/|(crediting) the following:

1. FREE

Cost of sales (Note]
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of rightofuse assets
Research and development costs
Auditor’ s remuneration
Provision for doubtful debts, net
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment*
Waiver of other payables*
Written-off of property,
plant and equipment*
Written-off of other receivables*
Impairment of property,
plant and equipment*
Foreign exchange differences, net
Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration):
— Salaries, bonuses and allowances
— Retirement benefit scheme
confributions
— Equity-seftled share-based payments

2023

2023

RMB’000

ARET T

HEMA (T 5E) 949,599
ME - BEREETE

37,688

FHRREEENE 4,678

I 599

% S5 Bl 55 B 1,900

RERBEFE 141,978
HEWME  BELRED

(Uezs),/ BB (119)

M EMEN KA =

5 L At e M R IR ¢
ME - BERRERE?

FINEERE
BEIXRA(BRESME) :

— e fEALMOERE
— RRAEFIET &I 5K

— AR E Z AR
AR R

Note: Cost of sales includes RMB16,284,000 (2022: RMB12,481,000) relating o
staff costs, depreciation and amortisation, and provision for inventories, net of
approximately RMB2,501,000 (2022: provision for inventories of
RMB69,829,000), the amounts of which are also included in the respective fotal

amounts.

[loss), net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

These balances for the year are included in "Other income/(expenses), gain/ #

B TIRAIIRR (G A) AT EB 151K -

2022
20224
RMB'O00
ARETT

2,679,759

44,982
6,129
2,804
1,800

2,222,673

6,499
(822)

1,001
1,550

2,212
[10,660)

34,473
4,620

4,939

44,032

Mis: HERABBEESTRA FEREHEEH
B ARM16,284,0007T (20224 : AR
12,481,0007L) RIF EEBFEHDARS
2,501,0007C (2022F : FERBARE

69,829,0007T) - EEEBEMET AL B

B)] -

ZEFNEHRDFAGEREREGEZER
BRAMTEMFEA (X)) s /(8
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

mEMHHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

12. EERETETRAEHMRE

115

EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS F
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®T T
Fees we 895 821
Other emoluments: H A FREN
Salaries, allowances and benefits e RRREMHE
in kind 4,787 4,782
Equity-settled share-based payments ABR AN 8 B PAR ) 7 21
EOENE 172 355
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R KIEF 5T &It 3 48 64
5,902 6,022
The emoluments of each director were as follows: XEEZHeWT :
(@) The emoluments of each director are as follows: ) BESzMEUT:

2023
2023

Salaries,

Equity-settled Retirement

share-based  benefit scheme

allowances
and benefits

in kind payments  contributions

DR A&
e 2E  2ZURHBA RKEH
e REYRNE EBROAR TR @zt

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

LGl AR®TT ARMTRT AR¥TR AR¥Tz AR®Tx
Executive directors HOTES
Mr. Yu Jiangiu MENEE
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson — BBE{Z £
Mr. Huang Weiping BEREE (i)
Ms. Zhu Yufen REFRL
Mr. Gao Qiang BEEE ]
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors

Mr. Li Wei FEEE )
Mr. Fang Guanghua FRERE (vi)
Mr. Yu Rengzhong mnEEE vi)

Total

L
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

(a)

12. EERETETRAEHMRE

EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (Confinved) )
The emoluments of each director are as follows: () HESZME&WT : (&)
(Continued)
2022
2022 F
Salaries,
allowances Equitysefiled Refirement
and benefits share-based  benefit scheme
Fees in kind payments confributions Total
RAEE
Fe - 2 ZURIN A RINER
ik REMAE EWa TR REGEA M@t
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Bt 3E ARBEF ARBTFT ARBFT ARBTFT ARBFT
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Yu Jiangiu AEMTE - 2,861 - 49 2910
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson BREELE - 1,541 203 15 1,759
Mr. Huang Weiping BREYAE [i) 163 155 - - 318
Ms. Zhu Yufen KEFTL 163 225 152 - 540
Mr. Gao Qiang kP (i) 51 - - - 51
Independent non-executive BUFHiTES
directors
Mr. Lee Ting Bun Denny FERAE (i) 84 - - - 84
Ms. Ren Ruxian Talzt (i) 84 - - - 84
Mr. Pan liansheng BEBEE (iv) 129 - - - 129
Mr. L Wei e W 79 - - - 79
Mr. Fang Guanghua ARELE (vi) 34 - - - 34
Mr. Yu Rengzhong aTBEE (i) 34 - - - 34
Total st 821 4,782 355 64 6,022
Notes: BisE -

(i) Retired as an executive director on 30 June 2023.

(ii) Appoinfed as an executive director on 2 September 2022.

(iii) Refired as an independent non-executive director on 28 June 2022.

(iv) Resigned as an independent non-executive director on 13 October
2022.

(v) Appoinfed as an independent non-executive director on 28 June 2022.

(vl Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 13 October
2022.

(iv)

vi)

202356 A30 R RENITES -

N2022F9 A2 AEEERPITES -

R2022F 6 A28 BREB L IFMIT
E%-

M20224 10 A 13 B EF £ 32 3E
TE=E-

R2022F6 A28 BZRERB LIk
MITEE -

202210 13 EZRERBL
FRHITEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 12 EERFETHRAEFMRE

EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (Confinuved) )

(b) Five highest paid individuals b) EEBEHFMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the FARLEREFMALEE=4
year included three (2022: two) directors whose FH(2022F - W) - HH N
emoluments are set out in note (a) above. The emoluments FIBEN E X (a) c R TR
of the remaining two (2022 three) individuals are set out (2022F : =) &=mF AL
below: B EEE ST -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'O00
AR®T R ARETTT

Salaries, allowances and e R REDHNZ
benefits in kind 1,697
Pension scheme contributions RREETEIHR 45
Equitysetiled share-based payment  LARRZAR&EE 2 LARRAD &
AR RR 724
2,466
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FIATEE
2022
2022 F
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 =2 1,000,000% 7T 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 &=
1,500,000 7T 1
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e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

12. EERETETRAEHMRE

EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (Continved) A g)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no emoluments
were paid by the Group fo the directors of the Company or
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office (2022: nil]. There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments

during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

Certain directors were granfed share options, in respect of
their services fo the Group, under the share optfion scheme
of the Company, further details of which are sef out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements.

TEBRSHFMAL(E)

REBZE2023F12H31BIEF
B AEELEARRREFK
hamaTMALTIHNME  1F
RBBEENMAREE - HER
IRAA 5% BB 2 82 B SR (T (B
(20224 : &) - HE2023F 12
ASTHLEFE  BEEFMEX
[ = R ZE AT () B 2 /0 e BF (2022
FE) o

BEFE  REAXFNERE
iHE ETEFERERAKEIR
HE RSB BAE - E—
BHN A P RRMIFESS

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FREBiBX

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tox BVEARRIE — AR EIEFTEH

Charge for the year FAMER
Under-provision in prior years BEFERBTRE
Deferred tax (note 33) RAERTE (BI3E33)

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETTT

1,068

643

1,711
216

1,927
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mEMHHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continved)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax
at the statutory rates for the countries/regions in which the
Company and the maijority of ifs subsidiaries are domiciled to the

13. I8 (@

BARBREXNEBD M ERBME
BXR MRAEERRAE ZERAR
AT B B R B 75 B S R IR B RR A R 5

tax expense at the effective tax rates, are as follows: BRMBHEHEERMT
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Loss before tax LA 518 (805,767) INNAANAS]
Tax at the sfatutory tax rate REEMEFTENHIA WARELE (1,184,072
Lower tax rates for specific provinces or 45 1€ & 17 S A8 3t 75 1B B HEHY
enacted by local authority B & 5,165 28,887
Withholding tax for inferest charges AR B BT /8 2 A % AR I K e LA
between the PRC subsidiaries and SNERBEN S E BB
entities outside Mainland China - 1,060
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR = 643
Profits and losses attributable to associates B & 73 7] fE 4 i F1| I &5 18 49 131
Expenses not deductible for tax AT B 2 381 4,352
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B i1t B &) A # BB E 18 (577) (1,047)
Tax losses and temporary differences AR AR BN TR Z8
nof recognised 174,153 1,151,973
Income tax expense FiS T X 13 1,927

Pursuant fo the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income fax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the
Croup did not have assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

The subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC are subject to income
tax at the rate of 25% (2022: 25%). In 2023, 3 subsidiaries
(2022: 3) were given the New,/High Tech Enferprise Award and
enfitled fo a tax concession of a lower income tax rate of 15%
(2022: 15%), and 8 subsidiaries (2022: 8) were in the western
region that engages in the indusiries encouraged by the
government and enfifled to a fax concession of a lower income

tax rate of 15% (2022: 15%).

REAEHRERRBRELAE (B
BRES])WBRANRRE  NEEH
BEHREREREBRLAEHME
A PTG H ©

MR AEERBZE2023F12H31H
IFFEAREER B EEL ERBUREF -
B L BB FIS TR R B R (2022
FoE) -

AEBRPENKNE QR ELR25%
(20224 : 25%) MR R GRS -
20234 - 3 (20224 : 3fH) M@
NEERTH,/ BRRCERI=ES
15% B BAR PR 1S B B R (20224 -
15%) RIS EE - KR8/ (20224 :
8E) KB~ R AR A PO Bb i [ e e IR
EBEER XFH15ENEIEA
S E (20224 : 15%) ORIGEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based BRERLEEEBIR N8R E

15.

on the following:

2023 2022

2023 ¥ 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

Loss: &
Loss afiributable to owners of AR EERERERD
the Company for the purpose of RRBHEAANEIEER
caleulating basic loss per share (805,780) (4,763,152)
2022
20224
Number of shares: RDEE :
Weighted average number of AR EERERERD
ordinary shares for the purpose of B AR nHE 1 2
caleulating basic loss per share WY RTAVIAN 4,329,833,950
Basic loss per share (RMB) BREFEE (ARY) (0.18) (1.10)
Diluted loss per share BREFER
As there was no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the AN BV 1R R AT B AR N B A Y
Company's outstanding share options and the Group's #BELZBER WYEARAEERHZE
outstanding convertible bonds for the year ended 31 December 2022 12 A3 B IEFERHARITE
2022 would be antidilutive, the diluted loss per share for the AMRESTREE - #E2023F K&
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were the same as 2022 12 A3V RIEFE 2 GR#EE
basic loss per share. BREGREARNEEER -
DIVIDENDS 15. RE
The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of any EXWEREE2023F K 2022412
dividend in respect of the years ended 31 December 2023 and A3 BIEFEEFKE XTI EMAK

2022. & .
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

16. Y15 - BMERRE

Furniture,
Plantand fitiings and Motor  Construction
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BE #E
BT BERESH &S "E ERIE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTLT ARETT ARBTRT ARKTR AR%TT ARETR
Cost A
1 January 2022 2022F1R1H 400,021 340,281 7,770 11,455 147,642 907,169
Additions NE - o/ 24 - - 91
Transfer from rightofuse asset BEGRAREAE - - - 1,186 - 1,186
Witten-off s - (833) (10) (877) - (1,720)
Disposal RE (18] (33,432) [294) 6,320) (7,802) (47,866)
As at 31 December 2022 20226 12A318 )
and 1 January 2023 20231 A1H 400,003 306,083 7,490 5,444 139,840 858,860
Additions RE - 8,053 45 5 - 8,103
Written-off s - - (18] - (66) (84)
Disposal RE (1,438) [23,022) (25) [584) (2,227) [27,296]
As at 31 December 2023 2023F12A318 398,565 291,114 7,492 4,865 137,547 839,583
Accumulated depreciation R ERAE
and impairment
1 January 2022 2022F1R1H 156,069 221,291 6,256 9,054 1,797 394,467
Charge for the year FRMR 17,563 26,235 611 573 - 44,982
Tronsfer from rightofuse osset BB EREEAE - - - 427 - 427
Impairment for the year FARE - - - - 2,212 2212
Wiitten-off g - [241) 9) [469) - [719)
Disposal RE - [25,391) [278) (5,056) - (30,725
As at 31 December 2022 2022 12A31 8
and 1 January 2023 k20231418 173,632 221,894 6,580 4,529 4,009 410,644
Charge for the year FRMNG 17,545 19,628 383 132 - 37,688
Whiten-off o - - (1) - - (15]
Disposal RE (1,438) [22,836) (25) [569) (2,212) [27,076)
As at 31 December 2023 2023 12R318 189,739 218,686 6,923 4,096 1,797 421241
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2023 R2023E12R318 208,826 72,428 569 769 135,750 418,342
As at 31 December 2022 R2022612R318 226,371 84,189 910 915 135,831 448216

At 31 December 2023, property, plant and equipment with
carrying amount of RMB223,345,000 (2022:
RMB246,180,000) was pledged to secure general banking and

other facilities granted to the Group (see nofe 28).

MR2023F12A31B EEEAAR
#223,345,0007T (20224 : AR¥E
246,180,0007T) K2 « M= MR
EREERFAEEN —RBRTRE
i@ E (R 5E 28) F LA IH o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

16.

17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continved)

At 31 December 2023, the Group has yet o obtain property
ownership certificates for buildings with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB27,548,000 (2022: RMB29,680,000). The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group

owned the beneficial fille to these buildings as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

At 31 December 2023, as a result of various litigations, buildings
with net book value of approximately RMB67,304,000 were
seized pursuant fo various court orders (nofe 37).

LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16.

17.

M BERRKE®

f2023F 12431 8 » REE AR
FEAEAARK27,548,000T
(2022% : AR 29,680,0007T) &)
BREMDSYEMBEE ARAE
BERBMN2023F Kk2022F 12 A
S1H AKEEARSTEEYNER
E:

FR2023F12A31 8  AR#ETTZIE
AR BREDFEA AR 67,304,000
TR FIRRE AR T REE (M
FE37) °

At 31 December: R12A8318:
Rightofuse assets CREEE
— Properties /ES
— land-use-rights — T E A
— Plant and machinery — MR Mot 25

HEREREEE
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T N
827
102,978
690
104,495

At 31 December 2023, rightof-use assefs with an aggregate
carrying amount of RMB84,164,000 (2022: RMB86,913,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (see note 28).

M2023F 12318 - FRAEEER
H#E AR%84,164,0007T (2022
F: AR%¥86,913,0007m) 2 1EH#
MERAEEERN —RIRTHE (R
Btz 28) °
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mEMHHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continved)

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of the
Group's lease liabilities is as follows:

17.

HERFEAREE »

AEBHEREERAMRRERE
ZEHIERAMMT

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'O00
ARBTT NS

— less than 1 year — LRI E 386 2,188
— Befween 1 and 2 years — 1 FE2F — 379
2,567

Depreciation of rightof-use assefs EREEENEER
— Properties — W 1,677
— land-use-rights — TR AR 3,485
— Plant and machinery — MR Nt 2s 967
6,129
Lease inferests HENE 1,042
Total cash outflow for leases HELBEES R 4,398
Additions fo rightof-use assets NBEEREEE 953
Early termination of lease REZIEHER 2,657

At 31 December 2023, as a result of various litigations, the right-
of-use assets of RMB36,470,000 were seized pursuant fo
various court orders (note 37).

The Group leases various land-use-rights, land and buildings and
motor vehicles. lease agreements are typically made for fixed
periods of 2 to 20 years (2022: 2-20 years). lease ferms are
negotiated on an individual basis and confain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

M2023F 124318 BREITFIE
- AR 36,470,000 T Hy s A #
BERREBRE BT HEE (ME
37)

AEBHETR L MERE - L&
BFRAE -HEMZBETR2FE
20F &Y [E 7E HARR (20224 : 2F &£ 20
F)  HEKRFTEAER T RFEE X
HEZ AR GERRARMT - HE W
ATREEMAOE MEEEETS
PR SRIELR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REFE QAR

2023 2022

2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T NN

Unlisted investments: JELETRE
Share of net assets 1L FEE 47 106
The Group has the following associates as at 31 December M2023F12A31H  REBBAT
2023. X /NI
Principal place % of
Name of business ownership interests  Principal activities
=L TELE M EBiEREZEOLE FEEHR
Deda Holdings Limited BVI 30%  Investment holding
BEERAER LR HERUES 30% WEER
Hong Kong Fuijian Investments Limited Hong Kong 30%  Investment holding
HFEmEREARAR o 30% WEER
Sichuan Baohe Fushan Resources Recycling  The PRC 30%  Industrial park operation
Development Co., ltd. and development
mIERMNEILBEERFMEFRAR  HE 30% KERBERIXE
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group's share of TRINKAEBEEERME BRI TEKR
the amounts of all individually immaterial associates that are REDREZENBERNRINEDE -
accounted for using the equity method.
2023 2022
2023 2022 %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

At 31 December: M12B31R8:

Carrying amounts of inferests ERREE 47,106

Year ended 31 December: BZ12A31HILLEE :

Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZEBRELRE (791)
At 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of the MR2023F12A31 8 KEEKF
Group's associates in the PRC denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) BERARUARE (AR FED
amounted to RMBQ,000 (2022: RMB?,000). Conversion of RITEB2&EHAAREOO000T
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign (20224 : AR®9,0007T) © AR
Exchange Control Regulations. HBBINERR R E AR FELFESIMNE

EHERBIARR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 19.

AR - H A EWRE & E A

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'O00
ARBTT PN

19,760 19,756

1,011,182 1,019,625

(935,862) (/27,756)
75,320 291,869
216,695 217,797
162,298 178,393
53,671 2,022
225 2,271

= 10,098
508,209 709,450
527,969 729,206

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Prepayments for property, plant and ME - BERERERL
equipment and land-use-rights 2 FARETERT K
Current assets RBEE
Advance payments to suppliers [note i) #{< 4 FE 7 kI8 (I 5% 1)
Impairment of advance payment to B R KIRRE
suppliers (note i) (B =Eii)
Govermnment grants receivable T ST I 448 B
VAT input accrued B AR
Other deposits and receivables H iz & KW kIR
Prepayment ICEREA
Inferest receivables JIE WA 2,
Note: MEEE -

(i)

As at 31 December 2022, in light of (a the long outstanding position of certain
advance payments fo suppliers, (b) the financial difficulties of certain suppliers
and (¢} unfavourable negotiation results with certain suppliers, the management of
the Group considered that the chance of recovering/utilising the advance
payments to suppliers fo be remote. Thus, during the year ended 31 December
2023, advance payments to suppliers with a gross amount totalling
RMBT1,231,783,000 (the "Disposed Advance Payments fo Suppliers”) was
disposed to various independent third parties at considerations of
RMB11,055,000 in aggregate. As a result, an impairment loss of
RMB1,220,728,000 was recognised in respect of the Disposed Advance
Payments to Suppliers for the year ended 31 December 2022. Together with
other impairment loss of RMB727,756,000 on advance payments to suppliers,
an aggregate impairment loss on advance payments to suppliers of
RMB1,948,484,000 has been charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2022.

(i

2022 12A31 8 ER (o) B T2t
FERRERGAREER - (b)E THERM Y
BN (o) B8 THERORABRTA
FEBEEEERAWKE, BT R K
BB R Bt 8 E 2023412 A 31
HIEFE #@EERARMI,231,783000
TLZ B ER R ([ S BN HERRIEA))
BRBEAEZXARKEI,055000THEFZ
EWUE=T7 o Et - BE20224 12 A 31
HIEFE - Bat & 2 e SRR
EEBARK1,220,728,0007T « # % 2022
FI2ANAILFE  ERBMNHERHREA
M E MR ERIE AR 727,756,000 2
L FERE R IE A AR 1,948,484,000 7T 8
HEEBREEENERERMR o
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19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 19. FE{IR - Hitt B RTE R H b

ASSETS (Continued) BE W)

Note: (Continued) Wit (&)

(i) Except for the impairment loss on advance payments to suppliers stated in [i) (ii) B b 32 (i) FFr st 1+ 4 FE P ST AR (B S 18 91
above, the management of the Group makes impairment loss on advance AEEEEBREANEEERETRE T
payments fo suppliers based on assessments of the recoverability of the advance M (BREERNRTERFARAE
payments to suppliers, including the current creditworthiness and the past W [E],/Bh AR A2 85%) b #h AT £ E 7 SRIE 1R R
collection/utilisation history of suppliers. The movement in provision for EEE - RNHERRERERBEZHNT :

impairment of advance payments to suppliers is as follows:

2023 2022

2023 F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFTT

Balance af beginning of year FHEER 727,756 -
Provision of impairment B B 208,106 1,948,484
Written off of advance payments to suppliers Tl 55 B L FE P A - (1,220,728)

Balance at end of year FREH 935,862 727,756

20. INVENTORIES 20. 7€

2023 2022

2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T T JUNMR

Raw materials E 50,983 47 897
Work in progress E®H 1,677 2,539
Finished goods BURY oA 11,237 47 557
Goods in transit NEFRZER 639 2,953
64,536 100,946
At 31 December 2023, the Group’s inventories with a carrying M2023%F 1283180 AEEE®TE
amount of RMB26,583,000 (2022: RMB27,078,000) were B AR 26 583 0007 (20224 = A
pledged as security for the Group's bank borrowings, as further E#27,078,0007T) MFEEEARAK
detailed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. EEETEINER . XS0

A28 -

As at 31 December 2023, as a result of various litigations, the M2023EF 128318 BRNETLIE
inventories of RMB2,430,000 were seized pursuant to various FHh o ARBE2 430,000T K17 B I%

court orders (note 37). BEE ARG SHES (M3E37) -
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

mEMHHRRME

21. EZRRFEARERRE

2023 2022

2023 & 2022 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ Tt ARETF T

Trade receivables =Y A& 419,017 439 545
Provision for doubtful debts RERE (317,130) (275,019)
101,887 164,526

Bills receivables eI = 1% 78,509 78,509
Provision for doubtful debts RERFE (34,104) (6,541)
44,405 71,968

146,292 236,494

Notes:

(i

(ii)

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The credit period is
generally O to 3 months. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks fo maintain strict control over ifs outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its frade receivable balances. Trade receivables are

nonvinterestbearing.

As part of its normal business, the Group entered info a frade receivable factoring
arrangement (the “Factoring Arrangement”) and transferred certain trade
receivables to a financial institution. Under the Factoring Arrangement, the Group
is required 1o reimburse the bank for any loss, including the loss arising in default
of the trade debtors. Subsequent fo the fransfer, the Group has retained the
substantial risks and rewards of the trade receivables and accordingly, it
continued fo recognise the full carrying amounts of the trade receivables.
Factoring loan is recognised for any consideration received for the Factoring
Arrangement. The carrying amount of the assets that the Group continued to
recognise as at 31 December 2023 was RMBnil (2022: RMB2,720,000) and
that of the associated liabilities as at 31 December 2023 was

RMB507,000,000 (2022: RMB507,000,000).

(i)

AEEXFBAEETAERSITLESER
HEBERMEPAAENK - EEH KR
O=3EA AHREFHRARSEMRE
JZ o AR B ) SR ER AR 43 R EL R AR 1 AR LR
WRABEFEEZEHHP - URBREEERR -
EREREEHNREONGS AEETE
HEE S RKKBELESBEEAERREE
fE g - B S RUGRIETE S

ERABEBN &0 AERETL-IRE
SENRBERZZH (TREZH]) - LHE
TESRKKABETSREE - RIBRE
2 AEBARBITHEENER 28
BHEBANEBOEENER #HR K%
ECREEZEKRFENERR R KRR -
Fut - HEERRE S RUEGREN 2 HRE
1B ° BRI L PRI E R R E R AR
BEN - AEMMK 202361283 BEER
ROEEREEAARETIT (20224 : A
R¥2,720,0007T) - M8 & ER 2023 4
12A31 BEMiRE B/ AR 507,000,000
7T (2022 % « AR 507,000,0007T) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Coninved) 2. EZRWREREREE @)
The aging analysis of frade and bills receivables, based on the B SR KBRS R DT
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: (ERBEZHERMREE 0T -

2023 2022

2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'O00
ARBTT NS

Within 30 days 30X 26,275 8,487
31 to 60 days 31 260K — Q37
61 1o 180 days 612 180K 584 Q4,885
Over 180 days 838180 K 119,433 132,185
146,292 236,494

The movement in provision for impairment of trade and bills Z WA N W R R R ERE G

receivables is as follows: 2HMT

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'O00

AR®TR ARETTT

Balance at beginning of year FA&E R 281,560 234,789
Provision for bad debts, net AR B TR 141,978 2,222,673

Written off of trade receivables MHE 2 eI FRIR (72,304) (2,175,902)

Balance ot end of year FRERR 351,234 281,560
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continved)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, in light of [a) the
past due situation of certain trade and bills receivables, (b) the
financial difficulties of certain debtors and (c] unfavourable
negotiation results with cerfain debtors, the management of the
Group carefully considered that the chance of recovering the
frade receivables to be remote. Thus, during the year ended 31
December 2023, trade receivables with a gross amount tofalling
RMB2,181,432,000 (the “Disposed Trade Receivables”) was
disposed fo various independent third parties at considerations of
RMB17,290,000. As a result, an impairment loss of
RMB1,982,724,000 was recognised in respect of the Disposed
Trade Receivables for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Together with other impairment loss, net of RMB239,949,000
on frade and bills receivables, an aggregate impairment loss, net
on frade and bills receivables of RMB2,222,673,000 had been
charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Apart from the Disposed Trade Receivables, certain trade
receivables had been further disposed in 2023.

Except for the Disposal Trade Receivables of approximately
RMBnil as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB1/,290,000),
the Group applies the simplified approach under IFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss
provision for trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected
credit losses also incorporate forward looking information.

2. ESEWFEREREE &)

1 days to
Current 2 months
BE 1XZ26A

At 31 December 2023
Weighted average

expected loss rate
Receivable amount (RMB'000)
Loss allowance (RMB'000)

W2023512A31H
IEFHERBEEE

4.7%
25,847 1,
1,211

e R (ARETT)
BREEARETT)

At 31 December 2022
Weighted average

R20225128318
MET AR

17.8%

993
354

expected loss rafe 8.3% 30.1%
Receivable amount RMB'000)  FEUZIA (ARE T L) 94,886 25710
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BEEE(ARETT) 7,881 7,746

HZE2023F12A31BIEFE - ER
(o) & T8 5 B WA KR EWEENE
HIB R (b)E TEEAN KK
Kolc)HE T B AN DNER A

AEEEREEEIRWROE ZEK
FIAMEEEN - Ftt - BE2023F
1I2A3TBLFE  #E2BAHAR
#2,181,432,000 7T #) & 5 & W K IE
(BEHEBZRWFEDDHETS
EBUFE=Z71 HRERAR%
17,290,0007T A i - & = 2022 %
1I2A3VBLFE EHREHLHEES
R EEIBREBEEARYE
1,082,724,000 7T ° & R & 5 FE W 5K
/R e AR A AR (E B R AR A
R #239,949,0007T * & 5 & W IE
MEKREENEREBERFEAARE
2,222,673,0007L 2 M E = 2022 F
12331 B IEFEryi8 e P IR - B
EHEBZRUIEN  ETEZE
WHIBE R 2023 FE—HHE -

2023 12 A3 BHARKZE T
(20224 : AR¥17,290,0007T) #)
EHERSEEFRI KEEER
BB B 75 5 R B QSR M L 7 0%
RAERELETEMEHBEERERE
5 FEYRIA M FERE BB IRAT IR S -
RIEEHEEERE  BZRWFA
ERBERZEAARSHLE YA
ETOME  BHMEEBERITESAE
&R -

Past due
B
2to 6to Over
6months  12months 12 months Total
2Z6MB 6Z128F HB121@EA st

36.5% 62.6%
896 109,263
327 68,441

87.8%
281,018
246,797

75.7%
419,017
KIVAKY

37.0% 89.1% 85.9% 65.1%
5518 96,253 199,888 422,255
2,044 85,730 171,618 275,019
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22.

23.

24,

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATES 22. PR PEATHEE A B RIE
The amounts due from/to associates are unsecured, infterestfree JE U TE < Bt 42 R ) KB A E R
and are repayable on demand. P B RARENRER -
AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED PARTIES 23. FEUNFE{TBAEE 5 K IE
The amounts due from/to related parties are unsecured, inferest- FEUTEA BREE A AEEKE
free and are repayable on demand. TR NMAREREER -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 24. e kBEEEEBEBEUREER
DEPOSITS REX
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETR ARET T
Cash and bank balances B& MR8 18,327 2,391
Pledged deposits [RELELYES 32,262 703,928
50,589 706,319
Pledged deposits: [EELELYES
— Deposits with guarantee companies ~ — RERA FIRRE ® 1,825 1,075
— Deposits with banks — IRITER - 672,657
— Deposits with other companies — RNHEAM AR HRE S 30,437 30,196
32,262 703,928

As at 31 December 2022, pledged deposits with banks of
RMB672,657,000 were mainly placed as security for bills
payable of the Group.

Pledged deposits were placed with other companies and
guarantee companies for the purpose of obtaining bank loans of
RMB4 1,500,000 (2022: RMB41,500,000), which were
secured by the property, plant and equipment of such companies
(see note 28).

At 31 December 2023, the cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”)
amounted to RMB50,488,000 (2022: RMB706,142,000).
Conversion of RMB info foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

M2022F 12 431 B RIRITHEE
HIEHRARES72,657,000L X E R
RARENENRBEFREERR -

IS IRITERARK 41,500,000 7T
(2022% : AR®41,500,0007T) i
REMRRRERARFREERE
FoHAZFRANYE  BEMKE
R (R MEE28) -

M2023F12A31 8 REBUAR
BEITAREDAENREMREFE
BEURREEREFERSARE
50,488,0007T (2022F : AR®
706,142,0007T) » AR K1 KoMK
AR E ARAMBISNEE BIERHIRR -



24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

25.

DEPOSITS (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, as a result of various litigations, the bank
accounts with balances of RMB4,507,000 were frozen pursuant
to various court orders (note 37).

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Annual Report 2023 « —F — = FF 3}
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

HER@®E)

2023 12HA31H AR ZIEGR
A BRI AR 4,507,000 7T #) R
TTRPEREZ AR i SRR (M

FE37) °

2023

2023 F
RMB’000
AR®TR

Trade payables B 5 RN
Bills payable T =%

789,709

789,709

As at 31 December 2022, the bills payable is secured by the
pledged deposits of the Group amounting to RMB672,657,000.

The aging analysis of tfrade and bills payables, based on the
date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

2022F12A31 8 ERNEEIAAR
SECEFFRARE 672,657,000

TUHRHH

B RNFAMENERRZEE B

HRRE DTN T -

2023

2023 F
RMB’000
AR®T R

Within 30 days 30RIK

31 to 60 days 31 260K

61 1o 180 days 61 £ 180K
Over 180 days 838 180K

14,561

39
775,109

789,709

The trade payables are nonvinterested bearing and are normally
sefled on 30-days terms.

B RNKIBETE R
HIRAESE -

24, RERFEEFEBAUREE

25. ESRNREREARE

2022

2022 F
RMB'O00
ARETT

@30,544
683,092

1,613,636

2022
2022
RMB'O00
ARETT

/33,884
126,848
208,481
544,423

1,613,636

L BERI0OKRW
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Salaries, wages, bonus and

other accrued benefits

Payables for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment

VAT payable

Other faxes payable
Contract liabilities
Inferest payables
Others

Default fee payables

Note:

(a) Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities — advances

received from customers

26. RN RIBER EE A

Revenue recognised in the year that was REDHABHEE 2 FRERKE

included in contract liabilities at beginning

of year

2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
Note RMB’000 RMB'O00
B 5T AR® T ARETT
e IE - Ak
Hh EFH & 7 38,922 30,344
BEME  WE KEED
FET IR 22,487 22,498
FE IS E R 909,843 857,347
H b e RIIE 74,648 72,755
ARAG (a) 392,002 238,278
FET I 375,784 205,822
EA 233,104 185,804
JEfTE X B 244,935 121,404
2,291,725 1,734,252
B3 -
@ AHEE
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
#2023 F K 20224F K 2022F
12A31H 12A31H 1TA1H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T ARBFT
ABHEE — ME P WK 2R
392,002 238,278 304,981
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
238,278 304,981
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Coniinved) 26. HttENRERETER @)

Note: (Continved) sk - (48)

(a) Contract liabilities (Continved) (a) EHEEE)

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied at end of year RERDEERERBOEELEHNAT
FEERRBRZZHE

and expeced 1o be recognised as revenue in:

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
2023 20234 - 238,278
2024 2024 4 392,002 -
392,002 238,278

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: FRANBEERED
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Increase due to operations in the year FRELEMmEG N 542,327 473,407
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue ERANEREERE (388,603) (540,110)

A confract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer products to a

EHABRASERENERPKE (HKE
SHIE) MABRERLRE TEPZEME

customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

27. NOTE PAYABLES 27. ENREE

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETR ARETT

Note payables, at amortised cost REHEK AT ENENEE 23,922 23,511
The note payables with an aggregate principal amount of JENRBA S HE26,320,000% 7T

HK$26,320,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB23,922,000) (2022: HK$26,320,000 [equivalent to
approximately RMB23,511,000)) are unsecured, inferestbearing
at 12% to 13% (2022:12% to 13%) per annum and overdue
(2022 one year).

(BMERHARKE23,922,0007T)
(20224 : 26,320,000 7T (HBER
M ARY23,511,0007T)) AmiE i -
BI12%ZE 13% (20224 - 12% % 13%)
WERMRT BB B (20224F : —
F) o
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

28. FFERITREMMERK

BORROWINGS
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBFT
Current B HA
Bank loans — secured IRITER — B 244,328 244,586
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EIKF 5,000 5,000
Other borrowings — secured EfER — AR 108,160 108,160
Other borrowings — unsecured and Hi gk — |EM L EER
unguaranteed 457,405 167,508
Factoring loan — secured RIBE — A 507,000 507,000
Entrusted loans — secured ZHAER — B 306,107 306,116
1,628,000 1,338,370
The borrowings are repayable as follows: & FRZE1E LA T By I E R
On demand or within one year BERg—FNA 1,628,000 1,338,370
2022
2022 F
The average inferest rates at RI12A31 BFHFEMT
31 December were as follows:
Bank loans — secured RITER — BHEHA 7.44%
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — B|ER 3.85%
Other borrowings — secured HER — BRI 6.00%
Other borrowings — unsecured HAb AR — MR R EER
and unguaranteed 8.76%
Factoring loan — secured RIBER — FHEA 7.30%
Entrusted loans — secured ZHER — B 9Q.92%

All'bank and other borrowing of RMB1,628,000,000 (2022:
RMB1,338,370,000] are arranged at fixed interest rates and
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

MARTEEMBERARE
1,628,000,0007T (20224 : AR
1,338,370,0007T) JA I E F X5+ B K&
SAREBEBEAABENERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continved)

Notes:

[a) Certain of the Group's interestbearing bank and other borrowings are secured

by:

(i

(il

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

mortgages over the Group's property, plant and equipment, which had
an aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of

RMB223,345,000 (2022: RMB246,180,000);

mortgages over the Group's land-use-rights, which had an aggregate
carrying value at the end of the reporting period of approximately
RMB84, 164,000 (2022: RMB86,913,000;

the pledge of inventories amounting to RMB26,583,000 (2022:
RMB27,078,000);

the pledge of trade receivable amounting to RMBnil (2022:
RMB2,720,000);

the pledge of the Group's fime deposits with guarantee companies and
other companies amounting to approximately RMB32,262,000 (2022:
RMB31,271,000);

the pledge of 310,317,000 ordinary shares (2022: 310,317,000
ordinary shares) in the Company held by Mr. Huang Weiping,
shareholder of the Group, representing 6.92% (2022: 6.92%) of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2023;

At 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMB12,000,000 (2022:
RMB12,000,000) were secured by property, plant and equipment of
Sichuan Gushan Vegetable Fat Chemistry Co., Lid ("Gushan Vegetable”),
a private company controlled by Mr. Yu Jiangiu;

At 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMB41,000,000 (2022:
RMB41,000,000) were secured by property, plant and equipment of
Mianyang Baohe Jichao Waste Material Recycling Co., Lid. (“Bache
Jiahao"). An associate of the Group has 20% equity interests in Baohe
Jiahao; and

(b) At 31 December 2023, the Group had defaulted on the repayment of
convertible bonds and interestbearing bank and other borrowings amounted to
approximately RMBnil (2022: RMB231,720,000) and RMB1,548,000,000
[2022: RMB1,287,777,000) respectively. The above defaults may trigger cross
default of certain other borrowings amounting to RMBnil (2022:
RMB46,793,000) as at 31 December 2023. The respective balance of RMBnil
(2022: RMB46,793,000) was therefore classified as current liabilities.

GEX

[al

28. STESRTREMEBR &)

REEE T ERITREMERAATEIA
PRI -

(i) AEEWE  BFEREFBOER R
BEMRNEREERAODARE
223,345,0007C (20224 - ARW
246,180,000 7T) :

(i) REEE AR - RS
REEIREEAH AR 84,164,000
JL(20224F : AR¥86,913,0007T) :

(i) FEHER B AR 206,5830007T
(20224 : AR¥27,078,0007T) :

vy EBEZREREBNER/RAREZT
(20224 : AR¥2,720,0007T) :

v) AEBERERARREMIBA BB
AR ¥ 32,262,000t (20224 = A
R#31,271,0007T) 89 E B F A E
i

M) AEERREREFELEMFENAR
F310,317,000 0% & & A& (2022 % :
310,317,000 /% & i@ A%) & H48 - %
ERMHBENRARRRN2023F 124
BTHEBETRA6.92% (20224 :
6.92%) ;

(vii)  R2023F 128318 RITEKAR
#12,000,0007C (2022 : AR
12,000,0007%)) & P4 )1l & 42 Be{b
ERERAR ((H2mPE]) (—Hhda
BIKEEMEHINILARR) 2 W% -
B R Rk R R

[vii 2023 12A31H  FITERAR
#41,000,0007T (2022%F : AR
41,000,0007T) BB R MEEEE
MERMRERRE (RMEED 2D
X BERREER AEENBE
REVER RIS 200 0 - &

2023 12A31 H  AEEKREERER
DRBHIARKEEIT (2022F : ARH
231,720,0007t) kAR #1,548,000,000
T (2022% : AR 1,287,777,00070) &9
AR E S REBRITREMER - Eili2
AR TN 2023 12 A31 BE T EME
RARBEZIT(2022F - AR 46,793,000
TO) IR NELD - Filt - ARBZE T (2022
F: AR 46,793,0007T) )18 B 4 82 12 5
BEARBAE -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

29. AIRRES

The Huarong The Prosper Rich

CBs CBs Total
EH SE
TERRES MBRRES @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREFT AR®ETT
[note a) [note b)
(ff5Ea) (Ft3EDb)
As at T January 2022 R2022F1A1H 385,952 199,781 585,733
Seftled by issuing shares BREBETRNEE (188,509 (198,137) (386,646)
Inferest expenses FERA% 17,072 - 17,072
Exchange adjustment P AR 17,205 (1,644) 15,561
As at 31 December 2022 and K2022F12A31H
1 January 2023 K2023F1A18 231,720 - 231,720
Reclassification fo other borrowing BRABRZEMETIR
and other payables HAh R 3B (231,720) - (231,720)

As at 31 December 2023

m2023612A31H

Notes:

[a) On 11 August 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds (the “Huarong
CBs") with an principal amount of HK$400,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB340,944,000) at face value to China Huarong International

Holdings Limited ("Huarong”).

The Huarong CBs carry 8% coupon interest per annum payable in arrears
quarterly. Unless redeemed or repurchased early, the original maturity date of the
Huarong CBs is the second anniversary of the issue date (the “Maturity Date”). If
the Huarong CBs are not fully converted before the Maturity Date, the Company

will redeem all the outstanding convertible bonds at nominal value plus the

interest accrued but unpaid to Huarong.

Huarong has the right to convert the principal amount of the Huarong CBs into
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company on any business day from the
issue date up to and including the Maturity Date at an initial conversion price of

HK$3.0 per share but subject to adjustments at any time during the term of the

Huarong CBs, subject fo the minimum public float requirement.

If the average closing share price of the Company during any six consecutive
months within the period commencing from the issue date fo the Maturity Date
has never, at any point of time, reached or exceeded the conversion price of the
Huarong CBs, the Company shall, upon redemption of the Huarong CBs
amounting to HK$400,000,000, compensate Huarong in cash so that the

Huarong CBs is guaranteed an annualised return of 12% for the period

commencing from the issue date to the date of redemption.

R2017F8AVT A ARBKEEEAS A
400,000,000 T (HERH AR
340,944,0007T) A B 2 B B 5 2 A% A R
RE) (TR BITARBRES (TERATIER
&) o

ERABRBRESZERANESRFE  8F
EXAt - BRIFRFEEORED - S5 r AR
BEFRINHARBETARE BEFA (T2/H
B o fWEE R AR A S B8 B AT RS
BEin ARBMBREEBRRE EREE
R AR R 27 5 I RHE R TR FE -

ERAMRESFHNEANR  ERA%E
RETRHEEREEIPARN 2 ERNEE
BAMZ R ESRI.0B T (A FHEE)H
FERABREFNASEFR/ARRFEMR
HEO B THE B  ERARFRETT
BERREER -

HARBRMGNEETHREDH B HME
EAEE S E A R EEE AT HER
BREBSEERABRKESLBERIAL - A
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The Group had defaulted in its repayment of the Huarong CBs which had
matured on 11 August 2019. On 22 April 2020, the Company and Huarong
entered info the extension deed (the “Huarong Extension Deed”) to extend the
original maturity date on 11 August 2019 of the convertible bonds (the “Extended
Huarong CBs") with a remaining principal amount of HK$390,000,000 for one
year fo 11 August 2020. Pursuant fo the Huarong Extension Deed, the Company
and Huarong have agreed fo the following amendments:

— Huarong has the right to request for early redemption of outstanding
amount of the Extended Huarong CBs, provided that the aggregate
nominal value of the Extended Huarong CBs fo be redeemed shall not
exceed HK$190,000,000, and the Company shall redeem at nominal
value of the requested redemption amount (plus any accrued but unpaid
inferests and default interest (if applicable and if any)).

— The Extended Huarong CBs bear inferest at the rate of 12% per annum
from and including 12 August 2019 payable quarterly in arrear.

The effective date of the Huarong Extension Deed was 7 May 2020.

On 11 August 2020, the Group defaulted on the Extended Huarong CBs.

On 31 December 2021, the Company and Huarong entered info the Huarong
Subscription Agreement, pursuant fo which the Company has conditionally
agreed fo issue and Huarong has conditionally agreed to subscribe for
500,000,000 Shares at a subscription price of HK$0.465 per subscription
share. Upon completion, the subscription consideration shall be set off against
the equivalent amount of the outstanding principal amount and accrued interests
amounted fo HK$232,500,000 under the Huarong CBs on a dollarfor-dollar
basis and the maturity date of the remaining portion of the outstanding principal
amount and accrued inferests amounted fo approximately HK$239,530,000
under the Huarong CBs shall be extended to 31 December 2022, pursuant to
an amendment deed signed on 31 December 2021.

On 24 February 2022, 500,000,000 subscription shares in aggregate were
allotted and issued to Huarong at the subscription price of HK$0.465 per
subscription share pursuant to the terms of the Huarong Subscription Agreement.

The amendments were complefed on 31 March 2022 pursuant to the ferms and
condifions of the Huarong Subscription Agreement. Following the completion of
the amendments, the Huarong Maturity Date was extended to 31 December
2022 at the inferest rate of % per annum.

On 31 December 2022, the Group defaulted on the Extended Huarong CBs.

In 2023, the Huarong CBs has been reclassified to other borrowing with the
default inferest rate on the overdue amount from the due date up to the date of
actual payment at 0.03% per day in accordance with the agreement of the
Huarong Subscription Agreement.

Up to the date of this report, the Company and Huarong are sfill negotiating on
further arrangement.

29. IRARES &
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o]

On 11 August 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds (the “Prosper Rich
CBs") with an principal amount of HK$200,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB170,472,000) at face value to Prosper Rich Investments
Limited (“Prosper Rich”).

The Prosper Rich CBs carry 8% coupon interest per annum payable in arrears
quarterly. Unless redeemed or repurchased early, the original maturity date of the
Prosper Rich CBs is the second anniversary of the issue date (the “Maturity Date”).
If the Prosper Rich CBs are not fully converted before the Maturity Date, the
Company will redeem all the outstanding convertible bonds at nominal value plus

the inferest accrued but unpaid to Prosper Rich.

Prosper Rich has the right to convert the principal amount of the Prosper Rich CBs
info ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the Company on any business day from
the issue date up fo and including the Maturity Date at an initial conversion price
of HK$3.0 per share but subject fo adjustments at any time during the ferm of the

Prosper Rich CBs, subject to the minimum public float requirement.

The Group had defaulted in its repayment of the Prosper Rich CBs which had
11 August 2019. On 22 April 2020, the Company and Prosper
Rich entered info the extension deed (the “Prosper Rich Extension Deed’) to

matured on

extend the original maturity date on 11 August 2019 of the convertible bonds
[the "Extended Prosper Rich CBs”) with a remaining principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 for one year to 11 August 2020. Pursuant to the Prosper
Rich Extension Deed, the Company and Prosper Rich have agreed fo the

following amendments:

— The Company has the right to redeem all or part of the Extended Prosper
Rich CBs at any time prior to the maturity date.

— The Extended Prosper Rich CBs bear interest at the rafe of 12% per
annum from and including 12 August 2019 payable quarterly in arrears.

The effective date of the Prosper Rich Extension Deed was 7 May 2020.

On 11 August 2020, the Group defaulted on the Extended Prosper Rich CBs.

On 31 December 2021, the Company and Prosper Rich entered into the Prosper
Rich Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to issue and Prosper Rich has conditionally agreed to subscribe for
525,537,194 Shares at a subscription price of HK$0.465 per subscription
share. Upon completion, the outstanding liabiliies of the Company under the
Prosper Rich CBs amounted to approximately HK$244,375,000 will be set off

in full by the Prosper Rich subscription consideration on a dollarfordollar basis.

On 24 February 2022, 525,537,194 subscription shares in aggregate were
allotted and issued to Prosper Rich at the subscription price of HK$0.465 per
subscription share pursuant to the terms of the Prosper Rich Subscription

Agreement.
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LEASE LIABILITIES

30. HEAE
Present
Lease payments value of lease payments
HENK HENRERE

2023

2023 %
RMB’000
ARBTT

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth years, RE_ZEFRF(BIE)
inclusive

less: Future finance charges

HEEEMHE

Present value of lease obligations

B RI1218 A REETER

Less: Amount due for sefflement

within 12 months (shown FEMRRBERE
under current liabilities) HTETR)

Amount due for settlement B2 B RE B ZE

after 12 months

At 31 December 2023, the average effective borrowing rate
was 3.25% to 4.76% (2022: 3.25% to 4.76%). Interest rates
are fixed at the confract dates and thus expose the Group to fair
value interest rafe risk.

AMOUNTS DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amounts due fo a direcfor is unsecured, interest bearing at
12% per annum and is repayable on demand.

DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS

The amount represents government grants received from the
Provincial Finance Bureau, Hunan Province. These government
grants are assefs related and are amortised over the useful life of
the related assets, which is ten years since July 2014.

386

386
7)

379

31.

32.

2022 2023 2022
20225 2023 F 2022 F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT BNSGLETN ARETT

379

2,567
(337)

2,230

M2023F12A31H > FTHERER
MERI25%6F4.76% (2022 F -
3.25%FE4.76%) - M ERALH A HE
E - NEEFENERR A THENERE

BNESEIR

ENESHRASEET REMNE
12%5t 8 WARBKERER -

3 3IE RS 45 BY

R IR AR MR 2R B 8 R A B RO RO IR
FRfEB) - ;A S ERAT M B D E E AR &
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33. DEFERRED TAX

33. IR IE

Depreciation/
amortisation
allowances in
excess of related
depreciation/
amortisation Total
BHERFEE
BEBENITE
s RE MEt
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTFT
At 1 January 2022 R2022%€1A1H (936) (@306)
Charge fo profit or loss for the year MBEFERNER (2106) (216)
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 R2022F12A318 -
and 31 December 2023 2023 1RA1H
K 20234 12A31H (1,152) (1,152)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after
offset) for consolidated statement of financial position purposes:

AT B aRE MBSO R TR ERT
IR (HEEH1R) AT

Deferred tax liabilities LR TEEE

2023 2022

2023 ¥ 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
(1,152) (1,152

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax
losses of RMB884,652,000 (2022: RMB655,493,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such losses (2022: RMBnil)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Unrecognised
tax losses are losses of RMB884,652,000 (2022:
RMB655,493,000) that will expire in 2028 (2022: 2027).

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries and associates for which deferred fax liabilities have
not been recognised is RMB162,063,000 (2022:
RMB626,670,000). No liability has been recognised in respect
of these differences because the Group is in a position fo confrol
the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

RBERK NEEBAREAHIEE
B AR 884,652,0007T (2022 :
AR 655,493,0007T) 7] A LAHE 85 K
Ao A o /R SRR B R 8 R AT 3R
AINE - Rz B R (20224 « ARBZ
TO) ERBELERIAE E - RERBRIAR
BEIE AR 884,652,000 7T (2022
F: AR 655,493,0007T) EBE &
20284 (2022 % = 2027 %) BIH

RH|EHR BARERELEHRBABE
B B B 2 B R IR 3% 2 N AR B O T B
HMERBR/RARKI162,063,000T
(20224 - AR#626,670,0007T) °
MERELZSTEZRERR  HEN
7R SR 1B A BE 70 4 I () T R = B O B
MhZEZENARBRAETSE
B o



Annual Report 2023 « ZE = =FF#H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HFEMHHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z 20234F 12 A 31 HIFFJE

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34, R
Notes Number of shares RMB'000
ik RO #E ARETT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each Fz0.1 /%TEE'J Bl
At 1 January 2022, 31 December R2022%F1A18 20224
2022, 1 January 2023 and 12A31H 20234
1 December 2023 1A1BX2023%12H31H 100,000,000,000 8,071,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHRE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each B0 /%EE’J LHX
At 1 January 2022 R202241 A 3,456,020,067 280,461
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant @TJ%?%;:—W“HXL%
fo settlement of convertible bonds BITEER (a) (b] 1,025,537,194 83,150
At 31 December 2022, B2022%12A31 8
1 January 2023 and 202351 R1BK
31 December 2023 202312431 H 4,481,557,26] 363,611

Note:

(a)

(o)

On 24 February 2022, 525,537,194 ordinary shares were allotted and issued
at HK$0.465 each to Prosper Rich. The aggregate subscription price for all
525,537,194 subscription shares amounted to approximately
HK$244,375,000 was settled by Prosper Rich by way of setoff against the
Prosper Rich CBs of approximately RMB198,137,000 owed by the Group to
Prosper Rich. Accordingly, no proceeds have been received by the Group from
the subscription. RMB42,610,000 and RMB155,527,000 had been fransferred
from convertible bonds fo share capital and share premium respectively. Since
Prosper Rich held certain existing issued share capital of the Company before
completion of the subscription, there is no gain on sefflement of the Prosper Rich
CBs by way of issuing shares.

On 24 February 2022, 500,000,000 ordinary shares were allotted and issued
at HK$0.465 each to Huarong. The aggregate subscription price for all
500,000,000 subscription shares approximately amounted to
HK$232,500,000 was setfled by Huarong by way of set-off against the
Huarong CBs of approximately RMB188,509,000 owed by the Group to
Huarong. Accordingly, no proceeds have been received by the Group from the
subscription. RMB40,540,000 and RMB147,969,000 had been transferred
from convertible bonds to share capital and share premium respectively. Since
Huarong held certain existing issued share capital of the Company before
completion of the subscription, there is no gain on seflement of the Huarong CBs
of approximately RMB 188,509,000 by way of issuing shares.

B

20224 2R 248 525,537,194k i@
REZRER0.465B T ERAEERETT
?EEI £§1525537 QAH& g%ﬁﬁf/)}miuuu
BB /244,375,000 7T ERTFENRIE
WAKEBERTEZTEARRESFOAR
#198,137,000 L) 7 A& E - FHIL - A&
EWwESRBEERUIERNMASHIAR AR
#42,610,000 7T & A R#155,527,000 7T
BT ES D I E R ERA RO RE -
HRFENRBERTKAFEARTET
BECBTRAE  MABTROTAGEES
B AR A Y

202242 A 248 500,000,000 f% & 3@
B ER0.465 B T EREE RETT
Fgh - 22 500,000,000 i R HE A 15 ) 4273
8B4 /232,500,000 7T ' EHERIAE
HASEBERERZERAIBRRESFOAR
#188,509,000 L) A& H - Bt - A&
B e REEREEBEMMASHIE - AR
¥ 40,540,000 7T & A B #5 147,969,000 7T
Bl AR ES D BB =R R R (E
HRERNRBBFRZKAFEARTET
REBBETRA  MABTRH IR GEEE
B AT ARE 5 K AR ¥ 188,509,000 7T I £
Yoz e
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34.

35.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continuved)

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to sofeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maximise the refurn to the shareholders through the optimisation of
the debt and equity balance.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Eligible participants include director or employee of
the Group and any other person (including a consultant or
advisor] who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed
or will contribute to the Group. The Company has a share option
scheme which was adopted on 28 January 2014 and has come
into effect upon the Company’s listing on 21 February 2014
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force
for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permifted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue af any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
shares options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted fo a direcfor, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted fo a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or fo any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company's shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in o generdl
meefing.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30
days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a cerfain vesting period and ends
on a dafe which is not lafer than five years from the date of the
offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if
earlier.

34.

35.
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The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer of the share options; [ii] the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company's shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal

value of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder fo dividends or
fo vofe af shareholders’ meetings.

Defails of the specific categories of options are as follows:

35.

DN =23 1 0RCENE ),

BREZTEEHESEE LR
ER T &EE () A2 R R
BELOBHRB 2 BHE : (i) &
RABROREEZHNBEAMAERS A
R P 2 FHWTE R (i) N A 7]
RPN EX B HZ ®E -

BEREYTAETERSAANDZFRE N
RERAE LIREZHER -

BEREZABIBEFBOT

Exercise price
Tranche Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period HKS$
TE
#  RHEH FEH T BT
Options granted to executive directors and employees
RYUTESRERENERE
A 2y 2014 One third on the first anniversary, one third on 10 years 1.13
the second anniversary, and the remaining on
the third anniversary of the grant
R2014%7R 28 “AZ-RBRENE—BE - =H2z— 105
RE_BEREHNE=RE
B 7 May 2015 Same as above 10 years 1.68
R2015%5878 Els 105
C 31 May 2016 Same as above 10 years 3.66
R2016F5A31 A Els 105
Options granted to certain eligible participants
RY&ETREKSHENBRE
D On 12 December 2017 On 31 March 2019, subject fo the grantees achieving 6.3 years 37
the pre-determined performance target for the period
from 1 December 2017 to 31 December 2018
and the grantees remaining as eligible persons
at the date of vesfing
R2017€12A128  R201953A31 8 lEEEABTK 6.3%F
R2017612A1HZ20185 1231 BMERE
FEAREARARGEAMAER ARG ERAL
E On 14 December 2021 One third on the first anniversary, one third on 10 years 0.465
the second anniversary, and the remaining on
the third anniversary of the grant
R2021%512 7148 =HZREENE—BF =92 105
RE_BEREHNE=RE
Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group. BE—BERAEE  HEBERENRK

o

7

5
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35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Coniinved)

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as
follows:

35. AR ABEBRNSR @)

FRRRTTERBREFEBOAT

2023

2023 F

Number of
share options

EREHE

Qutstanding at the beginning RETARETR

lapsed/forfeited during the year — FREM/HHER

‘000
T8

of the year 149,483

O

utstanding af the end of the year IR EF R ARETTE

(7,600)

141,883

Exercisable ot the end of the year ~ RERA] T1T{E 103,858

The options oufstanding at the end of the year have a weighted
average remaining confractual life of 7 years (2022: 8 years)
and the exercise prices range from HK$0.465 to HK$3.7
(2022: HK$0.465 to HK$3.7).

36. RESERVE

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the Company and certain subsidiaries with
functional currency other than Renminbi. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
nofe 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

36.

2022
2022 F
Weighted Weighted
average average
DCETN  Number of exercise
(W share options price
¥ InHEF

TEE Wiy TE(E
HK$ ‘000 HK$
iy TR BT

0.68 164,808 0.68
(0.47) (15,325) [0.47)

0.70 149,483 0.68

0.81 68,367 0.98

PR R (R R 77 6 B UM 2 In e P 15 84
TEXNFRR7F (20224F : 8F) -
mATEBRINF0.465BTEI/ AT
(20224 : 0.465BTTEI/BTT) °
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#8527 -

BE 5 ik 18
EXFEERRELIFNARE
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36. RESERVE (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises mainly capital confributions
from shareholders in respect of the contingent considerations
for the acquisition of Jinxin and Xiangbei in November
2010 and August 2011 amounted to RMB33,226,000
and RMB11,555,000 respectively borne by the
shareholders and deemed capital contribution of
RMB77,700,000 being the amount due to the shareholders
waived by the shareholders on 31 December 2012.

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Llaw of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account of the Company are distributable to
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off ifs
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of the business.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise
law applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC, the
subsidiaries are required to make appropriations to the
Statutory Reserve Fund (the “SRF”). At least 10% of the affer
tax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable
PRC accounting standards and regulations must be
allocated to the SRF until the cumulative fotal of the SRF
reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capifal. Subject
to approval from the relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may
be used to offset any accumulated losses or increase the
registered capital of the subsidiaries. The SRF is not
available for dividend distribution fo shareholders.

Share-based payment reserve

Share-based payment reserve represents the portion of the
fair value of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Group at grant date that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-sefled share option expense in note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the option is exercised, or be released
directly to retained profits if the option is lapsed or forfeited.

36. #E#)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BERMHE
EAEBIZEBEBRRESR
2010 11 AKX 201148 ALY
SEMMIENIARE (DHIR
AR # 33,226,000t & A R
11,555,0007T - IR R A& HE) )
B URBRER2012F 12 A 31
FHEENBRRRBEARE
77,700,000 * 2RIEEE -

gyl
RinEERNEAXFAHER
AEZEE -REMNEHFS QA
e ARRBBRMEERNES A
DIRTARARR - HEEBEZZE
DIRBBZ B - NABIAREE
ARABEERBAREFIFEDHE
%5 e

EEE

ARAEE R B QR RS E
TRE ZEMBLRARRE
ZEMEE (DEATERHER]) - R
AR B & F R MOR A
BEEMBRRZRNNED10%L
BAOBRELERES BHEEERE
EREHRTAREEIZEW
J& R EE & AE 50% - KL HHRE
REBEER AERESA
A {E 3K 85 1 7] R 51 85 18 3008 D ax
EMBARNEMER JEER
wE A AR ABREREDRE D
I ©

AR A0 2 EL 1 B9 1 SR A 48

VAR ) 70 B B0 A5 R R 4 DA B £
RERONTREBEERTAE
1 8 AR 178 /Y B U R 3
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LR AV B RERM T4 S
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37.

As at the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group was in progress of various legal litigations
relating to bank and other borrowings and trade and other
payables. As a result of these litigations, various bank accounts
were frozen and various properties, right-of-use assets and
invenfories were seized. The amount of aforesaid relevant bank
balance, property, plant and equipment, rightof-use assets and
inventories as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are stated as
follows:

As at 31 December

HAREE

RizeMBEmEALERR  NEFEE
FETZEAGERITREMETIAR
B 5 MEMENKIBEERFL - A
MZEFD  ZERITRSWRE
AEkZEYE FREEERTER
M- PABBERITESR VWE R
P R&tm - EREEENRFERN 2023
FR2022F 12431 HH YR
T

2023 2022

2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'O00
ARBTT PN S

M®12A31H

Bank balance RITHEER
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRR
Rightof-use assefs ERBEE
Inventories 78

4,507 261
67,304 /8,856
36,470 43,317

2,430 2,384

110,711 124,818

Save for the above-mentioned litigations, the Group did not have
any significant contingent liabilities at 31 December 2023 and

B LAt SR AA SN ANEE R 2023 F K
2022F 12 A 31 B | AEME AR

2022. BfE-
38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EFREIE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETR ARETT
Contracted but provided for: EEJHEE#E
— Property, plant and equipment — W% WENREE 13,242
— land-use-rights — TR AR 12,545

25,787
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BB AERZ
(@) In addition to those related party transactions and balances (@) BRR&GZEMBREEMIBOHKE
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial RS X 5 RERIN - NEHE
statements, the Group had the following material NGl AVAV NS
fransactions with ifs related parties during the year:
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
s AR¥TT ARET T
Delivery cost charged by Mianyang 435 & &3 & sl 2 # B R
Jin Xunhuan Finance Storage AR (— BB e L
limited, @ private company A 2 AT S ALA
controlled by a daughter of A A]) PTUCER B A2 At
Mr. Yu Jianqgiu 2% (i) 2,934
loan secured by the property, ERAEZmAE (—H
plant and equipment of Gushan FH B K ST A 1 Il Y
Vegetable, a private company FAART) B E
controlled by Mr. Yu Jiangiu B B aR AR o (ii) 12,000
Loan secured by the property, BEXBERMNEE(—H
plant and equipment of Baohe ERNESE Nl /NG
Jiahao, a private company ZHFARR]) Z
controlled by an associate ME - BB LR IEBER
of the Group (iii) 41,000
Notes: B 5

(i) The delivery cost is charged at a rafe ranging from RMB28 to RMB680
per fon (2022: RMB28 to RMB680 per ton).

(ii) At 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMB12,000,000 (2022:
RMB12,000,000) were secured by property, plant and equipment of
Gushan Vegetable.

(i) At 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMB41,000,000 (2022:
RMB41,000,000) were secured by property, plant and equipment of

Baohe Jiahao.

(ii)

(iif)

RNKARBEARE28TEAR
#6807 (20224 : GMEARM 28T
EARMO80TT) ©

M20234 12831 8 BITERAR
#12,000,0007T (20224 : AR
12,000,0007T) &2 EME 2 W% -
BB KR EER

M2023F 12831 8 - SRATERAR
#41,000,0007T (2022%F : AR
41,000,0007C) R MEE Z W E
RS R RR S FEAR o

147



148

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited « Bl & B & R F A AR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continved)

(b)

(c)

Other related party transactions:

(i

(i)

(i)

Entrusted loans of RMB299,116,000 (2022:
RMB299,116,000) were secured by an aggregate
amount of 310,317,000 ordinary shares (2022:
310,317,000 ordinary shares) in the Company held
by Ocean Through Llimited, First Harvest Global
Limited and Gold Wide Enterprises Limited, which are
companies wholly owned by Mr. Huang Weiping,
key management personnel of the Group.

The Huarong CBs of RMBnil (the amount of
RMB231,720,000 has been reclassified to other
borrowings and other payables) (2022:
RMB231,720,000) were secured by 278,000,000
ordinary shares in the Company held by Epoch Keen,
a company wholly owned by Mr. Yu Jiangiu, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company.

During the year, the Group was granted unconditional
government subsidies of RMB19,518,000 (2022:
RMB12,591,000) from Youxian District Finance
Bureau, Mianyang City, Sichuan Province. The
subsidies were received through Boahe Fushan.
Baohe Fushan has the discrefionary right to allocate
and distribute the government subsidies, with
reference to the amounts of tax payments made by the
entifies.

Compensation of key management personnel

0. BERERSZ &)

(b)

(c)

H A BB 77 3

25
il 2 & B X AR &
299,116,0007T (2022 4 -
AR #209,116,0007T) T3
HFZEERAR - BQIRIK
BERABILREBEEBRA
AFANARQE AR
310,317,000 % & & &
(20224 : 310,317,000 f%
Bk IR EM - A%
ERPRAKETIEEIRE
ANEERBIREZEWRS -

i) FERABEEFARBTT
(ANE® 231,720,000t 2
B REEMER N EM
FERTFRIR) (20224 : AR
% 231,720,000 7T) J5 H# A
NEIEFERPTESOENK
AL ERARARFEEA
A2 ") 278,000,000 Bk &
i A (AR o

i) FR - NEBESY)IE L
B T B (1L [ B R R HE 35 9 4
i AT AR AR ¥
19,518,000 (20224 :
ARBE12,501,0007T) ° 3%
ZHEBBEBRME LK
B-RMEBILUEHELBEE
BOBREEI RSB
FIws gL

FTEEBASHM

Shortterm employee benefits % HE BRI
Postemployment benefifs BBz B A

Equity-settled share option expense  # a5 B B AR B 2

Remuneration for the Company’s directors and five highest
paid employees, is disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

AREEZFH N T A& H M
BENEAVBEMAMEI20
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction

(i

(i)

(i)

On 24 February 2022, 525,537,194 ordinary
shares were allotted and issued at HK$0.465 each
fo Prosper Rich. The aggregate subscription price for
all 525,537,194 subscription shares amounted to
approximately HK$244,375,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB198,137,000) was settled by
Prosper Rich by way of setoff against the Prosper Rich
CBs of approximately RMB198,137,000 owed by
the Group to Prosper Rich. Accordingly, there was no
proceeds from the subscription.

On 24 February 2022, 500,000,000 ordinary
shares were allotted and issued at HK$0.465 each
fo Huarong. The aggregate subscription price for all
500,000,000 subscription shares approximately
amounted to HK$232,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB188,509,000) was settled by
Huarong by way of setoff against the Huarong CBs
of approximately RMB188,509,000 owed by the
Group to Huarong. Accordingly, there was no
proceeds from the subscription. RMB40,540,000
and RMB 147,969,000 had been transferred from
convertible bonds to share capitol and share premium
respectively.

On 1 January 2022, the vendor of Value Link and the
Group signed a borrowing agreement fo fransfer the
consideration liabilities of approximately
HK$148,163,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB121,383,000) to other borrowing with inferest
rate of 6% per annum and repayable on 31
December 2022. Up to the date of this report, the
amount has not been paid.

40. REREREBRME

(o) EEFREXRZ

(i)

(i)

(ifi)

R2022F 28248 -
525,537,104 EmREI%
BRRO0.4658 A B AL
k#EITTFTE - 28
525,537 194 IRRBEER 0 &8
HRIBEX /244,375,000
BT (HERODARE
198,137,0007T) " EHF
ENEEAKREERTE
FTEABBREFOARE
198,137,000 1) 75 R\ 45
H-Hit BIERBFHEZ
FT{S3KA

20222 A248 -
500,000,000 & & @k B 1%
T 0.465 8 TR B TS AL %
KBEITTER- - 2H
500,000,000 A 32 B8 A {0 &)
HARBEX /232,500,000
BT (HERODARE
188,509,0007T) ' E B E
BMABE A REGERER 2
ERABRRESFHARE
188,509,000 7T &) 75 R #&
BoRHit BIERBFELZ
s sE - AR
40,540,000t &k A R ¥
147,969,000 7T 2 BRI #2 AR
B0 Bl 8 3 = B M Ao

(8 -

2022118 - WEE
T AR SEEF AT E R B
KN #H KB &8 B H
148,163,000/ 7T (18 & 7
HAE®121,383,0007T)
BREMBER  FHNEXRR
6% W/AMK2022F 12 A
STREE BEAREH
Hi ZFER AR
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

40. ZERERERKT @)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities b) MEITHEEZEELE
The following table shows the Group's changes in liabilities TR AEEFARELHE
arising from financing activities during the year: EZBEE
Interest- Amounts Total
bearing dueto  liabilities
bank and Amounts  associates from
Other Noe other  Convertible leose  duetoa andrelatled  financing
accruals  payables  borrowings bonds liabilities director porties  achivifies
EfBE
Hit st HERTR Eff RAREE REED
ER EARE  EtkR THRREZ HEEE EFFR FRE  WASE
RMB'O0O  RMBOOO ~ RMBO0O ~ RMBO0OO0 ~ RMB'OOO  RMB'OOO  RMB'OOO  RMB'00O
ARBTT ARET ARETT ARBTT AR®TR AR®TR ARETR ARETX
Asat T January 2022 R202261A1R 102,133 21,519 1,185,554 585733 7,158 - 55777 1957874
Changes in cash flows ReneEd [16,951) - 20,199 - (4,398] 200 5,585 4,635
Non-cash changes FReE
— finance costs — BB 119,062 - - 17,072 1,042 / - 137,183
— addifions of leose liobilites  — AEREEE - - - - 953 - - 953
— reclassification from - N5 A
consideration liabilifies BREAE - - 121,383 - - - - 121,383
— Termination of lease - BIHRE - - - - (2.767) - - (2767)
— Setlement of convertible - BREIRN
bonds by issuing shares EERR
B - - - [386,646) - - - (386,646
— exchange differences -EXZEE 1578 1,992 11,234 15,561 247 - 723 31,330
As at 31 December 2022 W2022F
and 1 January 2023 12R318 K
202351418 205,822 23511 1338370 231720 2,230 207 62,085 1,863,945
Changes in cash flows BehEgy [7.109) - 80,332 - (2,195) - (121 70,907
Non-cash changes FheE
— finance costs — B 147 569 - - - 331 - - 147,900
— reclossification fo other - EFAREAEM
borrowing and other ERREL
payables ERFIE 28,292 - 203428 (231,720) - - - -
— exchange differences -ERER 1,210 411 5,870 - 13 - - 7,504
As at 31 December 2023 "2023%
12R318 375,784 23,922 1,628,000 - 379 207 61964 2,090,256
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mEMHHRRME

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41. BIBRRERRARD B #E
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company QB BN T
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 %F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREBFIT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary B A AR E -
Interests in associates REEE QR RS 47,106
47 106
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE B B -
Amounts due from associates JrE U Bt ’/3\ IE 193
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁi&fﬁfﬁ—rfﬁlﬁ H 66
259
Total assets WEE 47,365
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables Hfth eI IR 109,665 44,053
Note payables JENRIE 23,922 23,511
Amounts due to subsidiaries VRl NGRS 219,185 212,014
Amount due to a related party J& < — & BB B 75 5RIR 8,625 8,477
Other borrowings H A & 5K 206,981 -
Convertible bonds AR E - 231,720
568,378 519,775
Net current liabilities FREBEE (568,269) (519,516)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERE (521,462) (472,410)
NET LIABILITIES FEE (521,462) 472,410)
Capital and reserves EXK
Share capifal RN 363,611 363,611
Reserves 1 (885,073) (836,021)
TOTAL EQUITY HEEER (521,462) (472,410
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

1. BBERRRRA DB ®EE @)

b) ARRTFEE

Share-based
Share  Exchange Capital payment Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
HURBH
ERNAR
R EE EifiE EXRE i 2 ER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT AREFT ARBTE AR%®TH ARETR
As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1R1RH 1,901,321 (44,058) 289,836 14,038 (1,002,550) 1,159,487
Loss for the year FRER - - - - [2,385,322) (2,385,322
Exchange differences BEEENELZSR
on franslation - 81,495 - - - 81,495
Total comprehensive loss ENEEBRER
for the year - 81,495 - - (2,385,322) (2,303,827)
Share options lapsed/forfeited B 2K, /R I BE 1 - - - (33) 33 -
Equitysetiled share-based DEGEEURD B
payments S ANE - - - 4,939 - 4,939
Issuance of ordinary shares BITELER 303,496 - - - - 303,496
Issuance cost BT (176) - - - - (116)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022F12A318 R
and 1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 2,204,701 37,437 289,836 19,844 (3,387,839)  (836,021)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (68,468) (68,468)
Exchange differences BEEENERZS
on franslation - 17,013 - - - 17,013
Total comprehensive loss ENREBRAHE
for the year - 17,013 - - (68,468) [51,455)
Share options lapsed /forfeited B K4,/ /% M i R - - - (372) 372 -
Equitysetiled share-based RS URT A
payments Ei 2 B3 - - - 2,403 - 2,403
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31H 2,204,701 54,450 289,836 21,875 (3,455,935 (885,073
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. ZREM B FNEE
COMPANY

Equity interest atiributable to the
Company at 31 December 2023

Place of R2023%12A31H
incorporation/ RAEELRE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
HERRL
WEARAE AMRERbE HRBRA =R HE IEXHB
Engen Investments Limited ("Engen’) BVI United States dollars 100% ~ Invesiment holding
('USD’) 10,225
BeREARAR(EL]) KERIES 10,225% 7t 100% - REER
(ESH))
True Excel Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["True Excel’)
REERERAR ((RE]) 5 1T - 100% HEER
Alpha Legend Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["Alpha legend”)
BEERARAR (TEE]) 5 1T - 100% HEER
Alpha Business Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
|"Alpha Business”)
FAREARAR (55 5 1T - 100% HEER
Alpha Universe Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["Alpha Universe')
BasEaRAR (BB B 1T - 100% HEER
Fanmay Limited ["Fanmay’) BVI HK$1 100% - Invesiment holding
EXBARRA(TEX]) RERIES & 100% - REER
China Recycling Aluminium Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["Recycling Aluminium’)
TEERBFERAR ([EREE]) &FE & - 100% H®EER
Cosmo Hope Limited ["Cosmo BVI USD1 100% ~  Invesiment holding
Cosmo Hope Limited ([Cosmo ) EBRLES 1% 100% - REER
China Metal Resources Corporation BV UsD! 100% - Investment holding
limited ["CMR’)
China Metal Resources Corporation  RBR LS 1% 100% - REER
Limited (TCMR])
Hong Kong Jin Xunhuan Group Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["HIJXH")
EEeBREEFRAR B & - 100% H®EER
([BESER])
China Meial Resources (Hong Kong] ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited ("CMR HK’)
TEEBER(FE)BRAF 5 1T - 100% HEER

((hEeBEREE)
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. QBB A RS @)
COMPANY [Continved)

Equity interest attributable to the
Company at 31 December 2023

Place of R2023%12A31 8
incorporation/ RAREMGRE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
ML
MELR AR AR EE LR HERE E# EiE TEER
China Zhaofeng Copper Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
["Zhaofeng’)
REKEREBROE ([HKE]) EE 1B - 100% #®REER
Value Link Developments Limited BVI usb100 100% - Investment holding
["Value Link")
WBERABRDA ([HE]) RERLHES 1007 100% - REER
Silver Eminent Group Limited BVI usb100 100% - Investment holding
|"Silver Eminent”)
RAFEEBR AR (TRF]) RERLHES 1007 100% - REER
Sky Harvest Global Limited BVI usb100 100% - Investment holding
["Sky Harvest’)
RERKBRAR(TRE]) RERLES 1007 100% - REER
China Sanmei Copper Limited Hong Kong usb100 - 100%  Investment holding
FRE=FMEBRAA 5 100% 7T - 100%  REER
China Rongsheng Metal Limited Hong Kong Usb100 - 100%  Investment holding
TEREEBERAA e 100% 7T - 100% HEER
Mianyang Jinxin Copper Co., Lid. The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Processing of scrap copper and
["Jinxin") Limited liability electrolytic copper for the
company (Hong Kong, manufacturing of copper
Macau and Taiwan related products
legal person sole
investment)
BHEEBREBERAF e AR - 100% MI4ERABE®RMEH
(&) BREMERE 100,000,0007T R R RN
(BREBEAEER)
Hunan Yinlian Xiangbei Copper Co.,  The PRC RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Processing of scrap copper and
Lid. {"Xiangbei"]* Limited liability electrolytic copper for the
company [Hong Kong, manufacturing of copper
Macau and Taiwan related products
legal person sole
investment)
MR EBR AR (L)) HE AR¥ - 100% MIAERBBERMBN
BREEAF 80,000,0007¢ FE S % B 5

(BREEANEE)
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. P EIMB A RS @)
COMPANY [Continved)

Equity interest attributable to the
Company at 31 December 2023

Place of R2023%12A31 8
incorporation/ RAREMGRE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
R
WEARAE AR EE LR HRBRA E# EiE TEER
Mianyang Tongxin Copper Co., Lid.  The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Processing of scrap copper and
["Tongxin")* Limited liability electrolytic copper for the
company (sole manufacturing of copper
proprieforship related products

invested or controlled
by natural person|

BhAEREERAR(HE]) HE AR - 100% MIAERBBERMBN
BREEAF 50,000,0007¢ FE S 1% B 5
(BARARESER
HEABE)
Sichuan Baohe Xinshiji Cable Co., Lid.  The PRC RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
["Bache Xinshiji")* Limited liability power fransmission and
company (Hong Kong, distribution cables

Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole

investment)
MR LR BB R AT hE AR - 100% AEMHEXERESR
(TRAFt 42 1) * BREMERE 150,000,0007¢
(BREEANBE)
Mianyang Bache Taiyue Co., lid. The PRC RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Manufaciuring Communicafions
["Baohe Taiyue'|* Limited liability Cable and sale of
company (Hong Kong, communication cables

Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole

investment)
BIERMEBER AR i ARE - 100% HESENHEREESR
(TRAZH]) * BREMERE 80,000,0007¢
(BREENEER)
Mianyang Jin Xunhuan Mefal Materials - The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
Co., ltd. {"Jin Xunhuan")* Limited liability anodic copper and frading
company (sole of electrolytic copper
proprieforship

invested or controlled
by natural person|

BEeEREBMHBERAF HE AR - 100% AENRBEGEREM
([2ER) BREERA 30,000,000 BE R
(BEAANREHEZER

HIEANEE)
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY [Continved)

Name of the subsidiary

WEARAE

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HMmEL
HMkEEHE

Paid up capital

HRBRA

42. DT B LTINS &)

Equity interest attributable to the
Company at 31 December 2023
H2023%12A31H
RAREMGRE

Direct Indirect

E# GiE:3

Principal activity

TEEH

Shanghai Epoch Keen Metal Trading
Co., lid. ["Shanghai Shijian"]*

LERNREBHERRLA

([ Lgesgl) >

Mianyang Xinhuan Aluminium Co., Lid.
[“Xinhuan Aluminium”)*

BEERREERDA
([BREBED*

Shanghai Bujiang Metal Material Co.,
lid. ["Bujiang’)*

EBFTIEBEMREBRAR
(B2

Sichuan Boxin copper Co., lid

["Boxin"]*

mlEEREERAR ([EE))

The PRC

Limited liability

company (Hong Kong,

Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole
investment)

HE

BREMERA
(BREZEANBE)

The PRC

Limited liability

company (Hong Kong,

Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole
investment)

HE

AREEAT
(BREENEE)

The PRC

Limited liability
company (sole
proprieforship

invested or controlled
by non-natural person)

HE

BREERA
CEERARER
EROEABE)

The PRC

Limited liability
company [sole
proprieforship

invested or controlled
by non-natural person|

HE

BREEAT
CEERARER
EROEABE)

RMB60,000,000

AR¥
60,000,000t

RMB30,000,000

AR
30,000,0007¢

RMB30,000,000

AR¥
30,000,0007¢

RMB10,500,000

AR
10,500,0007T

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Trading of copper related
products

BEEMAHEER

Trading of aluminium related
products

BEEmAWER

Inactive

LEZXH

Processing of scrap copper and
electrolytic copper for the
manufacturing of copper
related products

T EERERERFAY
BRERERS
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. P EIMB A RS @)
COMPANY [Continved)

Equity interest attributable to the
Company at 31 December 2023
Place of R2023512A31H
incorporation/ KRR EMERE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
ML
MELR AR AR EE LR HERE E# HE TEER

Mianyang Yuxin Recycling The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper related
Development Co., lid. ("Yuxin")* Limited liability products
company (sole
proprieforship
invested or controlled
by natural person|

REEZEELARMEARLR  FH AR - 100% ERFHBER
(2&)* BEREMERE 50,000,0007¢
(BAANRES
EREENEE)
Hunan Yinlian Xiangbei Nonferous  The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper related
Metal Co., lid. ("Xiangbei Youse")*  Limited liability products

company (foreign
investment company
as sole proprietor]

WEEREEIL B = AR - 100% EBEFRABER
BRAR(MELEE] BERETAR 50,000,0007T
(INEIREDE
EANBE)
Sichuan Zhixin Metal Materials The PRC RMB49,470,300 - 100%  Trading of copper related
Co., ltd. ["Zhixin")* Limited liability products

company (Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole

investment)
mBEEBMEBRAA i ARE - 100% EBEEFEHER
(&)~ BREEAF 49,470,3007T
(BREENEER)
Fuging Zhongjin Nonferrous Mefal The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper related
Co., lid. ["Fuging Zhongjin")* Limited liability products

company (Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole

BETLAEELBMHARAR HE AR - 100% EEHEBER
([fEEHmE))* BREEAT 100,000,0007T
(BREEANBE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. QBB A RS @)
COMPANY [Continved)

Equity interest attributable to the
Company at 31 December 2023

Place of R2023%12A31 8
incorporation/ RAREMGRE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
R
WEARAE AR EE LR HERE E# EiE TEER
Chengxin Copper Co., Lid The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Processing of scrap copper for
["Chengxin”)* Limited liability the manufacturing of copper
company sole related products
proprieforship

invested or controlled
by natural person|

REREBRAA(RE]D " & AR - 100% MI4EFABER
BREMTATF 10,000,0007¢ ikl 3
(BRAAEES
EREEABE)

Ganzhou Sanmei Copper Co., Lid. The PRC HK$12,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability

company (Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole

investment)
BN=XHAXBERAA HE 12,000,000 7T - 100% H®EER
BREEAF
(BREENEE)
Mianyang Zhaofeng Copper Co., lid.  The PRC RMB 10,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper related
["Zhaofeng’) Limited liability products

company (Taiwan,
Hong Kong or
Macau joint venture|

EBHEEEHEEERAT (KB +E ARE - 100% EBEEWEHER
BREMERE 10,000,000t
(BBREE)
Hubei Rongsheng Copper Co., Lid The PRC RMB7,602,000 - 100%  Processing of scrap copper for
["Rongsheng" Limited liability the manufacturing of copper
company [Hong Kong, related products

Macau and Taiwan
legal person sole

investment)
HltEReBHRERAF e AR - 100%  MTAEREHERMAN
(T&s))* BREMERE 7,602,0007T FE 3
(BREEANBE)
Ningbo Jinxuan Nonferrous Metal The PRC RMB60,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper related
Co., Lid* Limited liability products

company (foreign
investment company
as sole proprietor]

ERSERESBMRERRA  $H AR - 100% EEFNEHER
BREELA 60,000,000t
MR ERE

ENEE)
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. P EIMB A RS @)
COMPANY [Continved)

Equity interest attributable to the
Company at 31 December 2023

Place of R2023%12A31 8
incorporation/ RAREMGRE
Name of the subsidiary establishment Paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
R
WEARAE AR EE LR HRBRA E# EiE TEER
Ningbo Xiangbei Supply Chain The PRC RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper related
Management Co., ltd * Limited liability products

company (foreign
investment company
as sole proprietor)

BRI ERER AR AR hE AR
BREMERE 80,000,0007¢
OrERELE
EABE)

100% EEFHEBER

Fujian Zhongjin Aluminum Technology ~ The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper related
Co., lid * Limited liability products
company [sole
proprieforship
invested or conirolled
by non-natural person|

BRPERENBRERAF e ARE - 100% EEFEHER
BREMERE 100,000,0007T
(FREAAREX
EREENEER)

Huili Boxin Copper Manufaciuring The PRC RMB18,000,000 100%  Trading of copper related

Co., Lid* Limited liability products
company (foreign
investment company
as sole proprietor)

SEESHEMEEERAR I AR¥ - 100% E&FAHEER
BEREMLRE 18,000,000t
OMERERE
ENEE)

Chongging Yuming Steel Distribution ~ The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Trading of copper related

Co., Lid* Limited liability products

company {legal
person sole
investment)

BEERBEMEXERAA R AR - 100% E&FAHEER
BREELDA 100,000,000 7T

CEABE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z 20234 12 A 31 HIFF/E

42. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY [Continved)

Name of the subsidiary

WEARAE

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HMmEL
HMkEEHE

Paid up capital

HRBRA

42. DT B LTINS &)

Equity interest attributable to the
Company at 31 December 2023
H2023%12A31H
RAREMGRE

Direct Indirect

E# GiE:3

Principal activity

TEEH

Chongging Yuming Aluminum
Co., lid*

ERa#mEERAA

Chongging Yuming Recycling
Resources Development Co., Lid*

EENHBEERRERRAR

Chongging Yuming Metal materials
Co., Lid*

EFa#e B RERAR

Hubei Pangxin Nonferrous Metals

Co., lid*

HILEREFEEBERLA

The PRC
Limited liability
company (legal
person sole
investment)

o
BREMERE
CEABE)

The PRC
Limited liability
company (legal
person sole
investment)

o
BREEAF
CEABE)

The PRC
Limited liability
company {legal
person sole
investment)

H
BREMAH
(EABE)

The PRC
Limited liability

company (foreign

investment company

as sole proprietor]
i
ARAEAT
OrARERR
ENBE)

RMB50,000,000

AR

50,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AR

50,000,000t

RMB50,000,000

ARE

50,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000

AR
10,000,000 7T

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Trading of copper related
products

BERMAHEER

Trading of copper related
products

BEEMAHEER

Trading of copper related
products

EERERER

Trading of copper related
products

BEEMAWER

The English translation of the names is for reference only. The official names of *

ERORNEXEELH ZERFANES
these companies are in Chinese. ZIBAP -
FRRVNEBAEEBEXE EEXE
BEEEXENMBARFS -

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 27 September 2024, the Company entfered into a
subscription agreement with the invesfor, pursuant fo which the
investor agreed fo subscribe for and pay for the convertible notes
to be issued by the Company in a principal amount of
RMB400,000,000, subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions. The convertible notes are convertible in the
circumstances set out in the terms and conditions info ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each share of the Company at a conversion
price of HK$0.465 per ordinary share of the Company.

Except for those disclosed above and in the "PROSPECT" and
"RESUMPTION OF TRADING CONDITIONS" sections of this
report, the Group did not have any other material events after the
reporfing period.

44. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 2 October

2024.

43.

44,

BERRER

MR2024QR278 KRR KR
ERIURBWE B REERE
RELXNARBRHTAZER/A
£ # 400,000,000 7t ) AT #2 A% R 4% -
WA E TIRIFERR D AIER - 7
BRI A R MR E R B R
T MR ESRA QR EBK0.465
BITHBSARRRBRMDEREEO.10
B ITH)E AR o

R EXARKERIATR] RIKEER

BRI EHAEEEN  NEERK
THIRY BRI EMEKREE -

HESRSPHEHK

ZERAMBREIE N 2024510 A
PAREZSHERIRETE -

161



162

China Metal Resources Utilization Limited « Bl & B & R F A AR A 7

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A FHBHME

31 December 2023 20234 12 A 31 H

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total liabilities

BEE
BAaRE

Net (liabilities)/assets

% (BB EE

Results

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive
loss for the year

FRER
FREEERE

kS

2023

2023
RMB’000
ARBFT

1,382,319
(4,889,531)

(3,507,212)

(805,780)

(807,615)

EEREE

2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 2021 % 20205 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETRT ARE®TZE
2,398,071 6,733,999 6,257,670 5,200,642
(5,100,071) (5,024,602] [4,769,535) (3,390,555)
(2,702,000 1,709,397 1,488,135 1,810,087
(4,763,152) (95,477)  (387,249)  (217,3306)
(4,802,8606) (71,757)  (344,237)  (242,271)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATIEH

AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Li Wei
Fang Guanghua
Yu Rengzhong (Chairman)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Li Wei

Fang Guanghua (Chairman)

Yu Rengzhong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Li Wei (Chairman)
Fang Guanghua
Yu Rengzhong

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES PURSUANT TO
THE LISTING RULES

Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Cheung Ying Kwan

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

COMPANY WEBSITE
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STOCK CODE
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